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Fortresses of Kyonggi-do   
by Wilbur D. Bacon 
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Preface

This paper is presented with great trepidation as I do not feel that I have sufficient information as yet on the Kyŏnggi-do (京畿道) fortresses to be able to present a really authoritative work. It is only the fact that I must leave Korea shortly which has prompted me hastily to compile what follows. I beg forgiveness for any errors and hope that what is presented here may interest someone better qualified for this task to make a more detailed and accurate study of the fortresses concerned.
Information was gathered from two sources: the books presented in the bibliography and personal inspection of the fortresses. With a few exceptions, I have visited all of the fortresses described in Part III of the paper and have walked completely around 24 of them.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the many people who helped me to obtain the information on which this study is based, particulary Mr. Kim Kil-su of OCE, Mr. Pak Ha-yŏng of OEC, and Mr. Kim Tol-chung of Yŏnsei University, who translated sections of some of the Korean and Japanese books; Mr. Kim Chong-mu, Principal, Inch’ŏn Technical High School, who found books for me, helped me translate difficult passages and added the Chinese characters; Lt. Om Yŏng-bo, Republic of Korea Navy; and Mr. Erland Heginbotham, OEC, who spent many weekends hunting out and walking around fortresses with me. 
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I. Introduction

One of the great searches of mankind is for security. Different cultures have arrived at various answers as to how to attain it. Some seek individual security in bank accounts or in religious asceticism. Group security is attempted with the family system or goverment pensions. In examining one aspect of providing physical security for the group, protection from outside attack, both tribes and nations have basically arrived at two possibilities—the provision of a sufficient number of arms and men trained to use them to frighten off potential attackers, or the construction of fortifications behind which to flee in case of invasion with the hope that the invader will eventually run out of supplies, tire of the seige and withdraw. Some groups have, of course, combined the two.
As Korea has always been a small nation surrounded by large powers, it has eschewed any attempt to attain physical security by maintaining a large army trained to defeat invaders on the field of battle or carry the war to the enemy’s country, and has instead depended on numerous fortifications. As a result, Korea could be called a country of fortresses. This is particularly true of Kyŏnggi-do, where the capitals of three countries have been located.
Those in that part of the province south of the Imjin River (臨津江), of which there are probably more then 50, can be divided into three main types—walled cities, large fortresses to be used as places of refuge for the king in case of invasion, and smaller mountain fortresses. The latter were probably used for a variety of purposes: as dwelling places during the tribal and Three Kingdoms periods (三國時代), when attacks by neighbouring tribes and countries were frequent; for the stationing of frontier garrisons; and as bases for waging guerilla warfare during invasions. There are three walled cities—Seoul, Suwŏn (水原), and Kanghwa (江華)—and three places of refuge for the king—Kanghwa-do (江華島) Namhansan-  [page3] sŏng (南漢山城) and Pukhan-sansŏng (北漢山城). The remaining fortresses are of the third type. 
The weapons used to defend these fortresses were arrows and swords until the Yi Dynasty (1392). Attacking forces used the same weapons plus scaling ladders and fire arrows. The Mongols(蒙古) introduced catapults in the thirteenth century. At the time of the Japanese invasion in 1592, primitive cannon were used and Koreans soon copied the matchlock muskets which the Japanese had learned to make from the Portuguese. During the remainder of the Yi Dynasty, these and muzzleloading cannon were the main weapons. An excellent study of Korean weapons has been made by Mr. John L. Boots (see bibliography) and details need not be repeated here.
One paragraph of Mr. Boots’s article, in the short section concerning fortresses, is so pertinent, however, that I take the liberty of quoting it here:
“Since the Koreans were geographically and psychologically always on the defensive in warfare, the wall naturally came to be their most respected and efficient weapon. Several historians have made special mention of the remarkable bravery, bold courage and skilful daring which characterized the Korean soldier when he was fighting behind his wall, though attacked by superior forces bound to win. Griffis says ‘The Koreans are poor soldiers in the open field and exhibit slight proof of personal valour,...... but put the same men behind walls..... they are more than brave, their courage is sublime, they fight to the last man and fling themselves on the bare steel when the foe clears the parapet. The Japanese of 1592 looked upon the Korean in the field as a kitten, but in the castle as a tiger. The French in 1866 never found a force that could face rifles, but behind walls the same men were invincible’.”

II. History of the Fortresses

The history of the individual fortresses of Kyŏnggido [page 4] (京畿道) is not always easy to discover, particularly for those built before 900 A.D. All that can be done is to surmise from known history when and for what purpose the fortresses were built. In some cases this is not difficult, in others it is almost impossible, Due to the limited time available, I have not been able to study written records as much as I should have and I would be the first to admit that some of the conclusions reached, particularly for the Three Kingdoms period, may be wrong and therefore should be considered only possibilities until additional research has been done.

A. Tribal Period

The history of Kyonggi-do before the founding of Paekche is still rather vague and different authorities disagree as to the exact situation. It is possible that the Chinese colony of Chinbŏn (眞番), established by the Han Emperor Wu Ti (武帝), included all or part of the province, but as it only lasted for 25 years it was of no great importance. It is definite that the area was inhabited by various tribes, at least some of whom belonged to the Mahan (馬韓) group, and possibly the Chinhan (辰韓) group.
Undoubtedly these tribes built a number of fortresses and either lived inside them, if the surrounding tribes were particularly unfriendly, or used them as places of refuge in case of attack. It is impossible to state with certainty that any of the existing fortresses were built during this period, but some which may have been are the Hamwang-sŏng (咸王城) near Yangp’yŏng (楊平), the fortress on Pibong-san (飛鳳山) at Ansŏng (安城), the earthworks beyond Tongsŏng-sansŏng (童城山城) east of T’ongjin (通津), and the barely discernable remains of earthworks on a hill west of Kyoha (交河).

B. Three Kingdoms

One of the Mahan tribes in Kyŏnggi-do was called Paekche (百濟). There are three theories concerning the origin of this tribe. One is that two sons of the king of [page 5] Koguryŏ (高句麗), named Onjo (溫祚) and Piryu (沸流), came south with a group of followers. Onjo then settled north of the Han River somewhere east of Seoul, while Piryu settled at Inch’ŏn (仁川). The settlement at Inch’ŏn did not succeed, Piryu died, and the settlers there joined Onjo at his capital named Wirye-sŏng (慰禮城). This is supposed to have happened in 18 B.C.
Another possibility is that a small group of men came down from the north and either by force or other means managed to gain the leadership of a tribe already in existence named Paekche. The third theory is that the Paekche tribe had lived in the Seoul-Inch’ŏn area for a long time and that as the family name of the chief was Puyŏ (扶餘), which was the same as the family name of the king of Koguryŏ ( 高句麗), the legend later grew up that the Paekche kings were descended from the Koguryŏ Kings. Of one thing we are certain, ,relations between the two countries do not reveal any signs that they had a feeling of kinship.
Whichever story is true, the growth of Paekche during its early years was probably slow. The Chinese colony of Nangnang, (Lolang, 浪樂) and later the Chinese colony of Taebang (帶方), controlled the northern area of Kyŏnggi-do. To the south were the other fifty Mahan tribes over which Paekche gradually exercised control, sometimes through conquest, sometimes through diplomacy. It was well into the third century A.D., however, before Paekche showed signs of becoming a strong state.’
The location of the capital of Paekche has occasioned many arguments among historians. The older theory was that the capital was originally north of the Han River (漢江), was moved south of the river in 14 B.C., then was moved back north again in 371 A.D. The main fault with this theory is that no very satisfactory location for the capital north of the Han has ever been found. Most present-day authorities believe that the capital was either always or most of the time in the valley between the two [page 6] ridges stretching north from Namhan-san (南漢山). This is an ideal location, with mountains on three sides, the Han River to the north, and a stream flowing through the valley to provide water. Isŏng-sansŏng (二聖山城), therefore, was the fortress used for protection of the royal family in case of attack. Probably at one time there were fortifications at the entrance to the valley, either of earth or more probably a wooden palisade.
The old chronicles record that in 286 A.D. two fortresses were built to protect this capital from possible Koguryŏ attack, one on Ach’a-san(阿且山) and one called Sasŏng (蛇城) south of the river. These were probably the fortresses now known as Kwangjin-sŏng (廣津城) and P’ungnam-ni T’osŏng (風納里土城). The other fortresses to defend the capital, on Taemo-san (大母山) and Puram-san, (佛岩山) may date from the same period. There is also a fortress on the mountain north of T’oe-gyewŏn (退溪院)which may have served a similar purpose.
In 313 A.D. Koguryŏ finally attacked and conquered Nangnang (樂浪) and Taebang (帶方). Paekche evidently also invaded the territory held by Taebang and perhaps extended its boundaries up to the Imjin River. If so, the original fortresses south of the river may date from this time. These include Tongsŏng-sansŏng(童城山城) on the peninsula south of the Han; Sŏng-sansŏng (城山城), at P’aju(坡州); T’orang-song(吐含山) at Ch’oksong(積城) and two other fortresses at Ch’oksŏng(積城) and two at Yangsŏng(陽城) listed in the Tongguk Yoji Sungnam (東國與地勝覽).
Following the fall of Nangnang, the power of Paekche increased rapidly. By this time it had extended its control over the entire southeastern part of the penisuia. Hulbert records that in 360 A.D. Koguryŏ built a large fortress near the Paekche capital which was used as a base for plundering Paekche territory. He states that Paekche attacked and captured this fortress, then built fortresses along the south bank of the Han River. If this is correct, [page 7] the Koguryŏ fortress may have been Kyeyang-sansŏng (桂陽山城), while the Paekche fortresses from which the attack was launched were Munhak-sansŏng (文鶴山城 or Nam-sansŏng 南山城) at Inch’ŏn; Sŏng-sansŏng at Yangch’ŏn(陽川); and an earth fortress between the two. The fortresses built after Paekche captured Kyeyang-sansŏng might be the earth fortress across the Han River from Ttuksŏm (纛島) and the fortress on Puksŏng-san (北城山) at Kimp’o (金浦). As this explanation is so simple, however, it probably is not correct. It is not always possible to rely on Hulbert’s History of Korea for dates.
In 371 Koguryŏ attacked Paekche again. This time not only were the invading troops unsuccessful, but the Paekche army advanced to P’yŏngyang (平壤) and the Koguryŏ King was killed in battle. In 375 the Koguryŏ troops attacked a Paekche fortress in present Hwanghae-do (黃海道) and were again defeated.
This was the high point of the Paekche advance to the north. In 392 A.D. King Kwanggaet’o (廣開土王) of Koguryŏ attacked and captured a number of Paekche fortresses along the border. In 404 A.D. the Koguryo navy defeated a Japanese fleet sent to aid Paekche and seized temporary control of the Han basin.
The war continued on, but for awhile Silla (新羅) aided Paekche, and Koguryŏ was unable to inflict a crushing defeat. In 475, however, a large force was sent against Paekche. The fortresses north of the river were captured and finally the capital itself was put under seige. King Kaero (蓋鹵王) of Paekche finally despaired of victory and tried to flee (perhaps from Isŏng-sansŏng (ニ聖山城). He was captured, however, taken to Ach’a-sŏng (阿且城), and killed. His son managed to escape with some of the Paekche people and set up a new capital at Kongju (公州) in Ch’ungch’ŏng Namdo (忠淸南道). The Koguryŏ troops then invaded Ch’ungch’ong-do (忠淸道). They were not able to again a decisive victory, however, and Paekche survived. [page 8]
During the next 75 years Paekche evidently advanced again into Kyŏnggido and a line of fortresses was built extending from Yŏju (驢州 Puksŏngsan Kosŏng 北城山古城) through Ich’ŏn (利川 Sŏlbong-sansŏng 雪峰山城), Yongin (龍仁 Pogae-sansŏng 寶蓋山城 and Komo-sŏng 姑母城), Suwŏn (水原), Tok-sansŏng (德山城), and west of Namyang (南陽).
In 550 border trouble broke out and the next year the allied forces of Paekche and Silla attacked the north. The Silla troops attacked along the middle Han and from the Yŏju-Ich’on (驢州 利川) area, while the Paekche troops attacked in the west. Koguryŏ forces were then driven into the northern part of the province.
The Paekche-Silla alliance very soon broke down and in 553 Silla took control of those parts of the province which Paekche had recaptured. This gave Silla territory along the Yellow Sea, allowing better communications with China.
In 604, Koguryŏ attempted to recapture the Han basin and attacked the Silla Pukhan-sansŏng. Whether this was in the same location as the present fortress is unknown. The Silla king himself lead 10,000 troops against the invaders and they withdrew.
The last battles of the Three Kingdoms in Kyŏnggido were when Koguryŏ forces attacked Ch’ŏksŏng (積城) and even areas farther south, beginning in 661, but they were defeated by Silla, which had already helped the T’ang (唐) army to conquer Paekche. Seven years later the Koguryŏ capital at P’yŏngyang (平壤) surrendered to a T’ang army, bringing to an end the period of the Three kingdoms

C. Great Silla

In 660 A.D. a T’ang army attacked and captured Puyŏ, then the capital of Paekche. At the same time Silla troops attacked from the east. By 663 the two [page9]  countries together had defeated the last remnants of Paekche, Koguryŏ was also attacked and in 668 P’yŏng-yang surrendered. Silla then felt that the mission of the Chinese army was accomplished and that the T’ang forces should leave Korea. The Chinese had different ideas, however, and soon there were clashes between the two armies.	
In 671, therefore, Silla constructed a fortress called Chujang-sŏng (晝長城) on Namhan-san. Other fortresses in Kyŏnggi-do were repaired and garrisoned. In 673 the Chinese attacked Tongsŏng-sansŏng (童城山城), near the tip of the peninsula between the Han River and Kanghwa-do, and captured the fortress. Their army was not able to advance any farther to the south, however.
Within a few years the quarrel between the two allies was patched up and until the very last years of the kingdom there was no necessity for constructing or defending fortresses in Kyŏnggi-do.

D. Koryo(高麗)
During the last days of Silla the country again split into three parts: Hu Paekche (後百濟), which was founded in the southwest in 892 A.D.; T’aebong (泰封), which became an independent kingdom in the north (now centre) in 901 A.D. under Kung-ye (弓裔); with Silla maintaining control over the southeast. As Silla was too weak to be a real contender, the struggle for control of the peninsula was between T’aebong and Hu Paekche. Luckily for Kung’ye, his army was under the control of an able general named Wang Kŏn (王建).
The first fortress in Kyŏnggi-do that was built during this period was Panwŏl-sŏng (半月城) at P’och’ŏn(抱川), which protected the southern entrance to the capital at Ch’ŏrwŏn(鐵原), Another was Tang-sŏng (唐城), west of Namyang. The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam states that eight men came over from T’ang (which still ruled China at that time) and gave instructions on how to build the [page 10] fortress. The reason for its construction was probably to prevent troops from being brought from the south by ship and landing on this peninsula.
By 918 Kung’ye had became a mentally unbalanced tyrant and after considerable urging from the officials Wang Kŏn seized the throne. He changed the country’s name to Koryŏ and the next year moved the capital to Sŏngdo (松都), now called Kaesŏng (開城), and began construction of the walls and gates which make this the second largest fortress in Kyonggi-do. Unfortunately Kaesŏng is now north of the Demilitarized Zone and must be passed over here.
During the next years there were many battles with Hu Paekche. The line of old fortresses crossing the province from Namyang to Yŏju may have been put back into use at this time. Muran-sŏng (舞鸞城) at Yongsŏng (龍城), which bears little resemblance to the other fortresses, may also have been built then.
In 935 A.D. the last Silla King abdicated his throne and became Prime Minister of Koryŏ. His tomb is in Changdan-gun (長湍郡), north of the Imjin River. The next year the forces of Hu Paekche were finally defeated and the country was united under Koryŏ.
During the next three centuries there were many invasions from Manchuria, especially by the Khitan (契丹) and Nuchen (女眞) peoples, but the resultant fighting was mainly north of the capital. It was not until the rise of the Mongols that the fortresses of Kyŏnggi-do again played an important part in Korean history.
When Jenghiz Khan (成吉思汗) proclaimed himself emperor in 1206, Koryŏ maintained close relations with the Nuchen, who had established a kingdom named Kin (金) in Manchuria. The close relations which had been maintained with China for centuries had been broken off. Internally, a type of government similar to the [page 11] shogunate in Japan had been established by General Ch’oe Ch’ung-hŏn (崔忠獻), This is the only period in Korea’s history when generals ruled for any length of time (except for founders of dynasties). This resulted in part from the struggles between the Buddhist monks and the Confucian scholars, which weakened civil authority, and the necessity of maintaining a large army to defend the country from invasion from the north.
Soon after Kojong (高宗) became King in 1214 the troubles started. The ancient enemies of Koryŏ, the Khitan, were defeated by the Mongols and fled into the Korean peninsula. Soon most of northern Korea was under their control and at one time the capital itself was threatened. Their forces were defeated at the Imjin River, however, and did not advance farther south. A Mongol force soon entered the country and the combined Mongol- Koryo army brought about the final defeat of the Khitan.
The Koreans were horrified at what they considered the barbarism of the Mongols, however, and refused to make friends with them, but relations were correct though cool until 1225, when a Mongol envoy was murdered by robbers while on his way north from Sŏngdo (松都). After several years of border attacks and demands for explanations, the Mongol army in 1231 entered the peninsula in force, living off the land, plundering and murdering as they went. Thus began what was probably the most destructive period in Korea’s history.
The Mongol troops camped outside Sŏngdo, but did not try to capture the city. Their main purpose in coming was to secure allegiance from the king. Early the next year the king agreed and sent tribute and a letter of submission to the Mongol emperor. The Mongols then stationed governors throughout the country.
The member of the Ch’oe family who was then the [page 12] actual ruler, General Ch’oe U (崔瑀), was displeased with this surrender, and decided to move the capital to Kanghwa-do, where he would be safe from the Mongols, who had no boats. The king at first objected, but as in many localities people were murdering the Mongol governors, he decided that the Mongols would invade shortly anyway. The flight to Kanghwa-do was made during the rainy season and one can imagine the state the royal party was in when it arrived at the island. Once there, the King was forced to live in an ordinary house as the palace had not yet been completed.
The Mongols immediately demanded that the King return to Sŏngdo, but he refused. They then despatched an army under the command of General Saryet’ap (撒禮塔). He captured and burned many cities, but according to Korean historians he was killed with an arrow shot by a defender of Ch’ŏin-sŏng (處仁城), an earth fortress erected south of Yongin (龍仁). The Mongol troops then withdrew for awhile.
On Kanghwa-do, fortifications were being built as rapidly as possible. These included an earthern wall along the eastern shore facing the mainland and another wall around the palace built where the city of Kanghwa now stands. Probably the earth fortress on Koryŏ-san was built at the same time. By 1237 these walls had been completed.
The situation on the mainland remained critical. As the power of the central government waned there were many rebellions by local military officers. The country was degenerating into anarchy. In 1235 the Mongols entered Korea in force again and were uniformly successful except in southern Kyŏnggi-do, where Chukchu-sŏng (竹州城) had been constructed east of Ansŏng (安城) under the direction of General Song Mun-ju (宋文胄). He had taken part in the successful defence of Kuju (龜州) in P’yŏngan-do (平安北道) and was familiar with Mongol tactics. This local reverse was of little hindrance [page 13]  to the Mongols, however, and from camps set up throughout the country they systematically pillaged, burned, and seized people to be sent north as slaves. Many Koreans fled to the islands off the west and south coasts, where they were safe because the Mongols had no knowledge of boat-making.
For the next twenty-four years King Kojong remained on Kanghwa while the Mongols came and went on the mainland. Communications continued with the Mongol khan, who kept demanding that the king return to Sŏngdo. This the king refused to do. At last in 1259, the fourth ruler of the Ch’oe (崔) family having been killed, he sent the crown prince as a hostage to the Mongol court and destroyed the palace on Kanghwa in accordance with Mongol orders. Before he could leave the island, however, he died. For a time the son of the crown prince was acting king until his father returned in 1260. The new king, Wonjong (元宗), set up his capital in T’ongjin (通津) close to Kanghwa, but in 1263 returned to Sŏngdo.
For the next ninety years the Mongols controlled Koryŏ, then there was an extremely hectic period while the Ming (明) and Mongol forces struggled for control of China. Koryŏ was invaded by robber bands from Manchuria and by large groups of Japanese pirates who even attacked the capital itself and burned the city of Hanyang (漢陽) on the present location of Seoul
At last this period was brought to an end by the overthrow of the Wang Dynasty by General Yi Sŏng-gye(李成桂), who became king in 1392.

E. Yi Dynasty

T’aejo (太祖), the first king of the Yi Dynasty, moved the capital of Korea from Kaesŏng to Seoul in 1394. At first the city was called Hanyang (漢陽) but the name was soon changed to Hansŏng (漢城), meaning “Fortress on the Han.” In the second lunar month in [page 14] 1394, work was begun on the wall. In order not to interfere with farming, work was confined to 49 days in the early spring and 49 days in the late fall and was completed on the 24th day of the ninth moon. Construction was accomplished with conscript labour, each province being required to furnish workers to complete a designated portion of the wall. Records state that 118,000 people laboured in the spring, 79,400 in the autumn.
Following the construction of this wall, there was a long period during which no fortresses were built. Korea was at peace and had excellent relations with the Ming dynasty of China. As a result of victorious expeditions during the reign of Sejong (世宗 1419-1450), attacks from Manchuria and by roving bands of Japanse pirates almost ceased. In fact, it was exactly 200 years following the accesion of T’aejo to the throne that another invasion took place and fortresses again became important.
It started with the sending of an envoy from Japan to Korea. Hideyoshi (豊臣秀吉) had recently succeeded in bringing all Japan under his control and was looking for new worlds to conquer—namely China. In his way stood the small, and militarily weak, kingdom of Korea. In order to obtain permission for his armies to cross the peninsula peacefully on their way to China, he sent a man named Yasuhiro to Korea with a letter requesting the Korean king to send an envoy to Japan. This request was politely refused. The next year three Japanese appeared with another letter repeating the request. After several months, King Sŏnjo (宣祖) promised to send an envoy to Japan if the Japanese would return to Korea a number of Korean renegades who had fled to Japan. This was done in 1589 and the next year three Korean envoys were sent to Japan. They returned in 1591 with a letter from Hideyoshi to Sŏnjo stating that he intended to invade China, requesting the Korean king to allow his troops to march peacefully through his country, and suggesting that Korea join him in this enterprise. This the Korean king, with the full backing [page15] of his people, refused to do. Korea than belatedly began to make preparations for the war that was certain to come.
The Japanese gathered in Kyushu (九州) a force of about 150,000 troops with a large amount of arms, including firearms, which at that time were unknown in Korea. Command of this army was divided between Konishi Yukinage (小西行長), a young 23 year old Christian convert, and Kato Kiyomasa (加藤淸正), an older man who was a Buddhist. Some thought this division of command was a scheme to prevent anyone from gaining sufficient prestige during the invasion to be able to be able to challenge the authority of Hideyoshi.
The Japanese armada consisting of hundreds of ships landed Konishi’s troops at Pusan (釜山) on 25 May 1592. Kato’s troops disembarked the next day. Following the capture of the fortresses at Pusan and Tongnae (東來), the commanders divided, Konishi going by way of Miryang (密陽), Taegu (大邱) and Sangju (尙州) to the pass leading across the Sobaek Range (小白山脈), while Kato went by way of Ulsan (蔚山), Kyŏngju (慶州) and Andong (安東). They met again at the pass, attacked and captured the fortress at Ch’ungju (忠州), then separated again. Konishi then approached Seoul by way of Chuksan (竹山) and Yongin (龍仁), crossed the Han River south of Seoul and entered the city by the South Gate (南大門). None of the forts in Kyŏnggi-do along this route seem to have been used in an attempt to impede his advance. Kato in the meantime approached Seoul by way of Yŏju (驪州). A short distance down the Han, at the ferry point, a fortress named Pasa-sŏng(婆娑城) had been built under the command of a warrior monk named Uiam (義庵). The Japanese evidently captured the fortress easily and continued their onward rush.
Kato entered Seoul by the East Gate just a few hours after Konishi had entered by the South Gate. It was 12 June, just 18 days after their landing at Pusan. [page 16]
This remarkable feat was accomplished because the Koreans had no well-trained army, having cultivated for two centuries the arts of peace rather than the arts of war, and because the Japanese had firearms while the Koreans had only spears, arrows and a few primitive cannon.

When the Japanese arrived at Seoul the king and the court had already fled to the north. No attempt was made to hold the city and the work of the thousands who had toiled during the reigns of T’aejo (太祖) and Sejong (世宗) to build solid walls was wasted.
After a few days rest, the main Japanese forces marched north to the Imjin River. There the Koreans held them for ten days, as the Japanese had no boats to cross the river. On the eleventh day, however, the Japanese pretended to retreat. The Koreans fell into the trap, crossed the river, thereby disclosing the fords to the Japanese, then were suddenly attacked from ambush and defeated. The invaders immediately advanced toward P’yŏngyang (平壤).
While the main Japanese forces were fighting in the north, Koreans in the south began to form small bands and wage guerilla warfare. A larger force was led north by General Kwŏn Yul (權懐), military leader of Chŏlla-do (全羅道), the province in southwest Korea. He led his troops to Tŏk-san (德山), a mountain about six miles south of Suwŏn, where there was already a small Paekche fortress, and had a larger fortress constructed (Tŏksan-sŏng (德山城). From this point, which commands a magnificent view of the main route from Seoul to the southwest, his soldiers attacked Japanese stragglers in the area. One interesting story told about this fortress is that during a Japanese seige the defenders ran out of water. To fool the enemy, General Kwŏn had a horse washed with rice, which sparkled in the sunshine. Deciding that a garrison which had sufficient water to wash horses could hold out indefinitely, the Japanese withdrew. [page 17]
In the meantime, the Japanese adanced to Pyŏngyang and captured that city. The Chinese at last, after repeated appeals from the Korean king, awoke to the danger facing them and sent troops into the peninsula. At first they were defeated, but in February a large Sino-Korean force attacked P’yŏngyang. After a savage battle, they were victorious and the Japanese army retreated to Seoul.
At this point, General Kwŏn Yul (權懐) and several thousands of his soldiers advanced north to help in the coming attack on Seoul. Crossing the Han River at Yangch’ŏn (陽川), he fortified Tŏgyang-san just south of Haengju (幸州). The Japanese sent a force out from Seoul to attack the fortress, which was mainly constructed from logs, and they were almost successful, as the defenders ran out of arrows. A story has grown up that the women of the area used their aprons to gather stones which the defenders threw at the Japanese. At this point Admiral Yi Pin (李賓), who was sailing up the Han River, arrived with sufficient arrows to allow the Koreans to win the battle. The Chinese forces arrived soon afterward and the Japanese forces were pinned in the capital. A number of battles were fought outside the city walls, but a full-scale attack on the city was not launched. The Japanese during this period killed many of the people who had remained in Seoul and burned much of the city, including the Kyŏngbok Palace (景福宮), the Ch’angdŏk Palace (昌德宮), the Confucian Temple (城均 館) and the Chongmyo (宗廟 where the kings’ ancestral tablets were kept).
At last both sides tired of the fighting and talks were held between the commanders on arranging terms of peace. The Japanese agreed to retire to the south coast and they left Seoul on 22 May 1593. Although the war continued until 1598, Japanese troops did not again enter Kyonggi-do.
Shortly after the retreat of the Japanese from Korea, the Manchu armies began their conquests which even- [page18]  tually resulted in the placing of a Manchu emperor on the throne of China. The fact that Korea bordered Manchuria and was closely allied with the Ming dynasty in China soon attracted the attention of the Manchus to the peninsula. Kwanghae (光海) was king at that time and although his sentiments and those of his people were with the Chinese, he realized the gravity of Korea’s situation and tried not to antagonize either side too much. For example, he sent troops to help the Chinese in 1619, but ordered them to join the Manchus if the latter were victorious in the battle.
Forseeing a possible invasion, Kwanghae evidently had the fortifications on Kanghwa repaired and had some work done on a fortress on Namhan-san. In addition, the Munhŏn Pigo (文獻備者) states that he ordered the repair and stationing of troops at the fortress at P’ochŏn in 1618.
For a time Korea’s attention was diverted by internal disturbances, the overthrow of Kwanghae (光海) by King Injo (仁祖) and the subsequent revolt of Yi Kwal (李适) who captured Seoul in 1624 and forced the king to flee to Kongju (公州). Before Yi reached Seoul, however, construction of a fortress on Namhan-san was begun. Work was completed in 1626 under the direction of Yi Sŏ (李曙) with the help of soldier-monks.
In 1627 the Manchu ruler, despairing of ever getting the Korean king to shift his allegiance peacefully from the Chinese to himself, ordered his army to invade Korea. The Manchus advanced rapidly toward Seoul, defeating Korean armies several times on the way south. King Injo then fled to Kanghwa-do. There he was visited by a Manchu envoy and finally terms of peace were arranged, among which was the King’s promise to recognize the Manchu emperor rather than the Chinese emperor as his suzerain. The Manchu army then left Korea without entering Seoul. [page 19]
When the King returned to the capital, he still refused to accept the idea that the Manchus would defeat the Chinese and he began to make preparations for war. One measure was to begin training a large army. It is said that the soldiers were trained in four types of things: guarding gates and walls; musket practice; swordsmanship; and archery. It is interesting that first emphasis was placed on guarding gates and walls, showing the importance placed on defence. Another measure of the king was to establish garrisons on Kanghwa-do and in Namhan-sansŏng. Fortresses in the north were newly built or repaired. Because of this and a number of incidents which the Manchu emperor considered insulting, a new invasion was ordered.
The Manchu army, 100,000 strong, entered Korea in early January 1637, crossing the Yalu River on the ice. The Korean armies were easily defeated by the Manchu cavalry whose advance was so rapid that they entered Kaesŏng five days later. The king sent the queen, the crown princess, and two of the princes to Kanghwa, with the intention of going there himself shortly after. As he left the South Gate with the crown prince, however, he was informed that the Manchus had already cut the road to Kangwha. He therefore re-entered the city and fled by way of the East Gate to Namhan-sansŏng. After a hectic trip, the royal party arrived at the fortress about ten o’clock in the evening. Altogether the group consisted of 200 officials, 300 servants and 13,800 soldiers. There was only sufficient food to feed this number of people for about one month.
The Manchus occupied Seoul without a fight, learned that the King was in Namhan-sansŏng, and immediately set out for the mountain fortress.
The next 45 days were among the saddest in Korean history. The Manchus surrounded the fortress and it was impossible for the defenders to obtain more food. Armies sent from the south to rescue the King were defeated. [page 20]  The soldiers in the fortress fought bravely and several times made successful sallies from the gates. The food supply began to run out, however, and surrender seemed the only alternative to starvation. At last the King offered to surrender. The Manchus were determined to teach Korea a lesson, however, and at first did not accept the offer.
The lesson the Manchus decided upon was to capture Kanghwa, which Koreans had always believed to be invincible. In fact, this feeling was so strong that the commanders of the Kanghwa garrison wasted their time in drinking and eating rather than preparing for a Manchu attack. As a result, the Manchus were able to build boats and land on the island with only feeble resistance encountered. They immediately attached the city of Kanghwa, where many of the defenders fought heroically, but in vain. The city was overrun, its defenders killed, most of the buildings burned to the ground, and the fortifications destroyed. The members of the royal family on the island were captured and taken to the Manchu camp on the plain west of Namhan-san. At this point the Manchu Emperor, who had joined his troops, sent the following message to Injo: “The king’s island of Kanghwa has been taken, but his family has been subjected to no hardship. Let him at once, as previously directed, leave the citadel and come into our presence.”1)
There followed a few days delay while the Koreans tried to have the crown prince rather than the king take part in the ceremony of submission, but the Manchus were adamant and in February, 45 days after he had entered the fortress, the king rode out of the West Gate to a platform built on the bank of the Han River. Here the King bowed before the Manchu emperor and begged forgiveness for his transgressions. Late in the afternoon,

1) Rockhill, “China’s Intercourse with Korea from the XVth Century to 1895,” p.20  

[page 21]  
the king bid farewell to the crown prince and Prince Pongnim (鳳林大君), who were to be taken north as hostages, and returned to Seoul.
In addition to giving his sons as hostages, the King agreed to give the Manchu emperor the seal he had received from the Mings, offer his allegiance to the Manchu emperor, adopt the calendar used by the Manchus, send yearly tribute, and furnish mililtary forces in case of war. He was not to erect fortresses or give refuge to fugitives. The amount of yearly tribute was set at 100 ounces of gold, 1,000 ounces of silver, 200 pieces of grass cloth, 200 pieces of mixed silk and cotton cloth, 4,400 pieces of cotton cloth, 22 mats,100 deer skins, 400 other skins, 142 leopard skins, 300 black squirrel skins, 10 girdle knives, 5,000 rolls of paper and 100 piculs of rice.2)
In January 1640 a large stone tablet in the Manchu and Chinese languages was erected at the site of the surrender and is still standing.
Korea now entered a sad period in its history. The destruction suffered during two wars was not repaired quickly and the defeat of themselves and the Chinese by a people considered barbarians by the Koreans was a cruel blow to Korean morale.
Except for repair of the Seoul wall during the reign of King Hyojong (孝宗), no work was done on fortresses until Sukchong (肅宗) came to the throne in 1657. During his long reign of 45 years there was a frenzy of fortress building and repairing which bordered on the pathological In 1677 the Kanghwa city wall was rebuilt. In 1710 it was enlarged to a circumference of almost 4 miles. In 1693 while on a trip to visit Hunŭng (厚陵), the tomb of Chongjong (正宗) south of Kaesŏng, the king saw in the distance Munsu-san (文殊山) the mountain on the

2) Op. cit., p. 25.

[page 22]  
mainland opposite Kanghwa-do. He sent one of the party to the mountain to draw a map of the area and the next year he ordered the construction of a fortress leading from the strait between Kanghwa-do and the mainland up the mountain and down to the strait again. It is almost 4 miles long. The fortifications on Kanghwa-do were strengthened and many of the smaller forts on the island were built at the same time. In 1686, 1693 and 1705 additions were made to Namhan-sansŏng.
The crowning work during the reign of Sukchong,  (肅宗) however, was the construction of Pukhan-sansŏng (北漢山城) in 1711, and in 1715 T’angch’undae-sŏng (蕩春臺城), the wall connecting Pukhan-san with the Seoul wall (which he had repaired between 1704 and 1713). Pukhan-sansŏng, over five miles in circumference, is the most spectacular of all the fortresses in Kyŏnggi-do.
Examining the history of this period, it is difficult to determine why there was this rash of fortress building. The Manchu rulers of China did nothing to make Koreans fear another invasion. The Tokugawa (德川) Shogunate in Japan followed an isolationist policy. Although there were occasionally internal disturbances, no major rebellions caused concern. Probably it resulted merely from the memory of the Japanese and Manchu invasions and a determination to be better prepared the next time. One thing is certain the King felt that relationships with the Manchus had improved enough to allow him to ignore the promise of Korea at the time of Injo’s surrender to build no more fortresses.
During the even longer reign of Yŏngjo (英祖) (1725-1776), no new fortresses were built, but the existing repaired and strengthened, particularly the wall along the land side of Kanghwa-do, the fortress around Ch’ŏndung-sa (傳燈寺) on Kanghwa-do, Namhan-sansŏng and the Seoul wall. It was during his reign that bricks and a better grade of concrete began to be used extensively. Again there were no invasions and no [page 23] necessity for all the money and labour invested in fortresses.
The last major fortification to be built in Kyŏnggido was the city wall of Suwŏn, which is in many ways the crowning glory of Korean fortress building. The reason for its construction was a curious one. In July 1762 King Yŏngjo became angry at the crown prince, whom he evidently suspected of intriguing to seize the throne and of having an affair with one of his concubines. The crown prince was nailed into a wooden box and died there. His body was removed to Yangju-gun (楊州郡).
When Yŏngjo died in 1776 the son of this crown prince became king. In 1785 he had his father’s grave removed from Paebong-san, Yangju-gun, to Hwa-san (華山), south of Suwŏn (水原), and made frequent visits to the tomb. After several years he decided that he wanted to move the capital to some place near Hwa-san. Suwŏn was chosen as the most fitting location. Work on the wall was began in 1794 and was completed two years later. A palace was then built at the foot of P’altal-san (八達山), upon which is the eastern part of the wall. Before the capital could be moved, however, the King became ill and he died in 1800. His successor decided to remain in Seoul.
We now come to the last years of the Yi Dynasty, when once again the fortifications on Kanghwa-do played an important part in Korean history. In the late 18th century Christianity had entered Korea from China as a result of the conversion of members of the Korean embassy bearing tribute to the emperor in Peking. In 1835 a French priest was smuggled into the country and the new religion soon had several thousand converts. He was beheaded during a persecution of Christians in 1839. He was soon followed by others, however, and by 1866 there were 19 French priests in the country.
In that year the Taewŏn-gun (大院君), who hated Christians and foreigners, determined to wipe out the [page 24] new religion. In the persecution which followed, 16 of the French priests and thousands of Korean converts were killed. One of the French priests escaped to China and informed the French Admiral Roze, then at Tientsin, what had taken place.
After consultation with the French ambassador in Peking, Admiral Roze set sail for Korea with three ships in September. On 23 September two of the ships steamed up the Han River and they arrived at Map’o (麻浦), now in the western part of Seoul, on 25 September. The ships remained there for several days making maps of the area. Then they returned to China.
On 11 October under orders from Ambassador Bellonet, the French fleet returned to Korea with seven ships and a force of 1,000 men. On 15 October the troops landed on the eastern coast of Kanghwa-do and the next morning the city of Kanghwa was attacked. Within a short time the gate doors were smashed with axes and the city was captured.
The Korean government immediately sent large numbers of troops to T’ongjin (通津) and strengthened the garrison at Samnang-sŏng (三郞城), the fortress surrounding Ch’ŏndung-sa (傳燈寺) in the southeast corner of the island. On 27 October a group of 160 men was sent to capture this fortress. When they arrived at the walls at 11:30 a.m. they attacked, but were met with a deadly fire that put half of the men out of commission. As a result, it was decided to retreat to Kanghwa City. The next morning the French retreated to their ships, burning much of the city of Kanghwa before they left, and returned to China.
In 1871 another foreign fleet appeared, this time American. On 30 May five ships commanded by Admiral Rodgers anchored off Chagyak-to (芍藥島) in Inch’ŏn harbour. The purpose of their arrival was to investigate the burning of the ship General Sherman at P’yŏngyang in [page 25] 1866 and to attempt to sign a treaty of commerce with the Korean government. On 1 June four of the ships sailed up the strait between Kanghwa-do and the mainland to explore the area. These ships were fired upon by the Kanghwa forts and returned the fire. They returned to Chagyak-to.
Messages were then sent through local officials to the government demanding an apology for this action. When no answer was forthcoming, the ships set sail again on 10 June. Marines landed on the southeast corner of the island and captured one fort. The next day they advanced along the island and attacked one of the larger forts, which fell after almost the entire garrison was killed. Three Americans were killed in this battle. Two of them were buried on Chagyak-to. One, Lt. McKee, was returned to the United States and buried in Kentucky.
Five forts in all having been captured, the Americans embarked and returned to the anchorage near Chagyak-to on 12 June. There the ships remained until 3 July, when they set sail for China, their mission not accomplished.
As a result of the lack of success of these two expeditions, the Korean government obtained an exaggerated opinion of the military power of Korea and remained determined to maintain its policy of strict isolation. On 19 September 1875, however, a Japanese ship was fired on by a fort on the north side of the island. The Japanese then attacked the fort and killed most of the garrison. After discussions in Japan as to what to do, a fleet was dispatched to Korea and on 10 February a landing was made on Kanghwa-do. After two weeks of negotiations, a treaty was signed which rang the death knell to Korea’s isolationism.
During the remainder of the dynasty, in spite of the difficult situation in which Korea found itself in the struggle between China, Russia and Japan for supremacy in the Far East, fortresses were neglected and fell into [page 26] ruin.

F. Since 1910

Since the Yi Dynasty no fortresses in the old style have been built. It is interesting, however, that most of the fortresses in the province were evidently used during the Korean War, as the large number of foxholes and trenches dug along the walls testify. Pukhan-sansŏng played a particularly important role, as it was inside this fortress that the Communist spring offensive of 1952 was stopped and Seoul was saved from a third occupation.
At the present time, one might call the entire northern part of the province a fortress. Perhaps some day in the future these fortifications can serve as the subject matter for another R.A.S. paper.
As for the other fortresses, many are continuing to disintegrate, others are being repaired as tourist attractions. They serve the latter purpose well and along with the royal tombs are a distinctive feature of Korea that will be of interest to the foreign visitor.

III. Individual Fortresses

Before giving the location, history and description of the individual fortresses, I would like to say just a few words about style.
The Three Kingdoms fortresses were relatively simple. As they are all pretty much in ruins, it is not possible to be certain about height, what style of parapets were used or whether there were any embrasures (holes through which to fire weapons). In the fortresses made of stone, the facing was frequently of relatively small shaped stone which was backed with unshaped stone mixed with earth. With only a few exceptions, the inside of this wall was not elevated above ground level. As the fortresses were built on mountains this was accomplished by filling in the space behind the wall up to the point where [page27] the natural elevation was the same as the top of the wall. Outside the stone wall, there was frequently an outer wall of earth, at least in those places where attack was most likely.
There are no gates remaining in any of these fortresses, but a few have openings which may or may not have been covered. This raises several possibilities. One is that there were no gates and that the fortresses were entered by means of wooden ramps or ladders. Another is that there were openings in the walls which in time of attack were filled with stones or closed with a wooden gate. The third possibility is that the gates were similar to those in later fortresses, but were all so poorly constructed that they have fallen down and left no traces.
As is evident from the large amount of tile and broken pottery found inside these fortresses, they contained many buildings which were probably lived in for long periods of time. None of these are still in existence. Probably, as in later fortresses, a building on the highest ground was used as the command post when the fortress was under attack.
It is not possible to reach any general conclusions concerning Koryŏ fortresses from those in that portion of Kyŏnggi-do south of the Imjin River as several are of earth and the existing walls on Kanghwa-do were built during the Yi Dynasty. It is evident from the stone fortress at Chuksan (竹山), however that there was a vast improvement in fortress architecture. The outer face of the wall is made from larger stones, the wall is much thicker and more substantial, and the gates, which use the square arch, are still partially standing.
The Yi Dynasty fortresses are mostly in fairly good repair. Like the earlier fortresses, the walls are faced with shaped stone backed with unshaped stone mixed with earth. Many of these facing stories, which are relatively [page 28] large and were sometimes polished, are in the shape of elongated pyramids in order to allow them to be pushed into the backing stone and earth and thereby held in place more solidly. The gates are of two types: large structures topped with wooden pavilions, and small somewhat hidden openings probably used for sorties or to send out messangers. The former always use the round arch. The arch of the latter may be round or square.
The parapets consist of crenelated battlements, with the crenels, or open spaces between the merlons, quite narrow. The merlons, which are usually 3 to 4 feet in height, each have from 1 to 3 embrasures.
These merlons are called yŏch’ŏp (女堞) in Korean. They are made from stone or grey brick held m place with concrete. The tops consist of stone or tile, shaped somewhat like a roof. Behind them is the wall-walk which often consists of steps where the wall ascends a mountain steeply.
Like the earlier fortresses, with a few exceptions the wall-walk is almost level with the ground. Unlike fortresses of early periods, however, there are no smaller earth walls outside the stone walls.
Inside the fortresses were a number of buildings: barracks for the soldiers, all of which have fallen into complete ruin, warehouses, living quarters for the king, Buddhist temples, pavilions, etc. There are also the foundation stones of command posts, where the fortress commanders directed the battle in case of attack. As these buildings were usually on high ground on or near the walls, they must have been well protected or the generals could have been killed relatively easily.

A. Tribal Period

1. Hamwang-sŏng (咸王城)

Located on the western edge of Yongmun-san (龍門  [page29]  山) in Yongch’ŏn-ni, (龍川里) Okch’ŏnmyŏn, Yang-p’yŏng-gun(楊平郡). According to legend, about 3,000 years ago a man named Ham (咸) came forth from a pothole in the stream flowing south from the fortress. He became ruler of the people in the area and attempted to found a kingdom with its capital inside the fortress. He was eventually defeated by the Samhan, an event caused, in the legend, by the fact that he left the pothole, his mother, outside the fortress walls, thereby showing a lack of filial piety. At Sanha-sa (山下寺), a small temple in the valley, prayers are still recited for the spirit of King Ham. Probably this legend has some basis in fact in that a Chinhan or Mahan tribe might have at one time lived inside the fortress. The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnarn states that it was used as a place of refuge for people living in the surrounding area during the Mongol invasions of the 13th century.
The site of this fortress is quite spectacular—a ring of heavily wooded peaks as high as 1,031 metres surrounding a valley through which flows a stream filled with deep pools and beautiful waterfalls. About all that remains of the fortress itself, however, is a pile of stone at the entrance to the valley.

2. Pibong-sansong (飛鳳山城)
Located between the front and second peak of Pibong in Ansŏng-ŭp (安城邑). Its history is unknown, but its location and obvious antiquity suggest that it was a place of refuge for a Mahan tribe living in the fertile valley south of the mountain. It is relatively small and little of the stone wall remains.
There are a number of other fortresses which may have been built in tribal days. Indeed, many of those now in existence may originally have been used at that time.

B. Three Kingdoms

3. Isŏng-sansŏng (二聖山城)

Located on Isŏng-san (ht. 203 metres), north of [page 30] Namhan-san, in Ch’un’gung-ni, (春宮里) Sŏbu-myŏn, (西部面) Kwangju-gun (廣州郡). This was probably built in the first or second century as a place of refuge for the Paekche (百濟) kings in case the capital was attacked. Similar fortresses were built at the Paekche capitals of Kongju (公州) and Puyŏ (扶餘). Its location suggests that smoke signals from fortresses north of the Han may have been received here in time of invasion. It was perhaps from this fortress that King Kaero tried to flee when he was captured by Koguryŏ. There is no record of it having been used following that debacle, although as the Koryŏ provincial capital of Kwangju was located east of the mountain, it may have been used during the Mongol invasions.
There are no particularly distinctive features of the fortress, which is of medium size. Considering its age, it is fairly well preserved, but much of the eastern wall is completely gone.

4. Pungnam-ni T’osŏng (風納里土城)

Located in P’ungnam-ni, Kuch’ŏn-myŏn, Kwangju-gun, near the bank of the Han River south of the road leading to Ich’ŏn. There are many opposing points of view concerning this fortress. One is that it was the original Hanam Wirye-song (河南慰禮城) of Onjo. first king of Paekche. Another is that it was Sa-sŏng (蛇城, Snake Fortress) built in 286 A.D. to protect Paekche from a possible Koguryŏ invasion. Other authorities claim it was built during the reign of King Kaero (蓋鹵 455— 475 A.D.). Still others state that it was built by the Manchus in 1637.
None of these points of view satisfactorily explains this massive earth fortress, which is almost 2 miles in circumference. It is not a good location for a Three Kingdoms city as it has no natural protection except for the river and would be flooded during the rainy season (indeed, almost all the western part of the wall has been washed away by the river). It seems much too large for [page 31] a protective fortress unless it were the main camp for the army durng an invasion. One basis for the claim that it was built by the Manchus is the failure of the Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam to list it. There are other old fortresses which are not mentioned, however, and as the Manchus invaded in the winter when the ground was frozen it is doubtful that they built it, although they may very well have used it as a base camp during the seige of Namhan-sansŏng (南漢山城).The tablet erected by the Manchus to commemorate the surrender of King Injo is located near the southwest corner of the walls. If it is a Paekche fortress, as seems likely, it is the largest one left in the province. Whatever the reason for its construction, it represents a large undertaking for those days.

5. Ach’a-sŏng (阿且城)

Located on Ach’a-san (峨嵯山) beside the Han River on the eastern edge of Seoul. It was also called Ahan-sŏng, or Changhan-sŏng (長漢城) in Silla times, and is popularly known as Kwangjin-sansŏng (廣津山城) today.

The history of this fortress is better known than that of any other from the same period. It was probably built in 286 A.D. to protect the Paekche capital in case of attack. In 475 A.D. King Kaero of Paekche was taken there as a prisoner of Koguryŏ and was killed. Following the Silla occupation of the Han River plain in 533 A.D., the fortress was repaired and strengthened. This invited a Koguryŏ attack, and the fortress fell, but was recaptured by Silla a short time later. A large Silla garrison was then maintained there. It is recorded that one of the best known Silla songs was about the recapture of Changhan-sŏng (長漢城).
Ach’a-sŏng consists of two parts, a medium-sized fortress on the southern slope of Ach’a-san and a wall running along the top of the mountain for several miles. The former is quite well preserved but there are only remnants of the latter. One different feature is that the [page 32] wall rises above ground level on both sides. There is an opening in the northern wall which may have been a gate. At present the fortress is used to protect a small summer house belonging to President Rhee.

6. Taemo-sansŏng (大母山城)

Located on Taemo-san (大母山城 ht. 213 metres), one mile west of Yangju (楊州). It is in the centre of the pass which leads from the northwest to the Paekche capital and was therefore probably built in the 3rd or 4th century to protect the capital. It may also have been used at various time by Koguryŏ and Silla forces. Undoubtedly it was attacked and captured by Koguryŏ prior to the great defeat of Paekche in 475 A.D.
The walls are 906 ch’ŏk1) in circumference. In some places they are in good conditon, but mostly they have fallen down. The amount of broken pottery is the greatest for the area of any Three Kingdoms fortress I have visited. This may indicate either a long occupancy, a violent battle, or both.

7. Puram-sansŏng (佛岩山城)

Located on the southern and lower peak (ht, 420 metres) of Puram-san (佛岩山) in Nohae-myŏn, Yangju-gun (蘆海面 楊州郡). It is very small, heptagon shaped, and may have been a signal-fire place as well as a fortress. This view is strengthened by the fact that it is between Taemo-sansŏng (大母山城) and Isŏng-sansŏng (二聖山城) and would have been the logical spot to send smoke or fire messages warning the capital of invasion. It is not certain however, whether this signal system used during Koryŏ and the Yi dynasties was also used earlier.

8. Tongsŏng-sansŏng (童城山城)

Located on Tongsŏng-san (童城山 T’ae-san) in Chinsŏng-myŏn (震城面), Kimp’o-gun (金浦郡). It was also called Tongja-sŏng (童子城). This fortress was probably 

1) A Korean measurement slightly longer than a foot.

[page 33]
originally constructed by Paekche to protect its territory from Koguryŏ invasion, perhaps in the Fourth century. In 673 A.D., when Silla and T’ang were fighting over the division of spoils following the conquest of Paekche and Koguryŏ, T’ang forces attacked and captured this fortress.
The stone wall is 807 chŏk in circumference. Almost none of the facing is in place. West of the stone wall is a much longer earth wall which is not as high. It may be an ancient tribal fortress, or might have been built during the T’ang attack, or perhaps later during the Mongol invasion.

9. Sŏngsan Kosŏng (城山古城)

Located on Pongso-san (ht. 216 metres) in P’aju-ri, Chunae-myŏn, P’aju-gun (坡州里 州內面 坡州郡). Also called Pongni-sansŏng, it was probably originally built by Paekche in the fourth century and because of its strategic location just south of the Imjin River it was undoubtedly used many times during the wars that followed. One occasion when it was put into use was following the Japanese retreat from the north in 1593 when the Japanese were defeated there.
The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam says the fortress is 2,905 chŏk in circumference. This is obviously not correct. Possibly 905 chŏk is the correct figure. According to the Munhŏn Pigo, it was repaired twice during the reign of Sŏnjo (宣祖). It has 3 gates and a place for firing cannon. An army unit now occupies the fortress and it cannot be visited.

10. T’ot’an-sŏng (吐吞城)

Located on Sŏngsan (ht. 148 metres) Ch’ŏksŏng-ni, Ch’ŏksong-myŏn, P’aju-gun (積城面 坡州郡). It is also called Ch’ilch’ung-sŏng (七層城). It was undoubtedly built by Paekche in the fourth century to protect against Koguryŏ invasion. It was an important fortress as it is in front of a pass leading to the southeast. In 661 A.D. the Koguryŏ army attacked Silla forces in the fortress [page 34] and defeated them. This temporary success was of no permanent value, however, as within a few years Koguryo had suffered its final defeat.
The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam gives the circumference as 1, 937 chŏk, but this seems too much. The wall is now completely in ruins and the fortress is used as a lookout point by the ROK Army.

11. Kyeyang-sansŏng (桂陽山城)

Located on Annam-san (安南山 ht. 195 metres) southeast of Kyeyang-san (桂陽山), in Pup’yŏng-ni (富平里), Pup’yŏng-myŏn(富平面), Puch’ŏn-gun(富川郡). As this fortress was built in such a way that it is a protection against attack from the south rather than the north, it may have been built by Koguryŏ in the fourth or fifth century. If so, it must have been attacked and recaptured by Paekche at some time. This may be the fortress which Hulbert states was built by Koguryŏ at Ch’i-yang, near the Paekche capital, in 360 A.D. If so, it was used as a base for infantry ana cavalry to plunder Paekche territory, but was attacked by Paekche and captured after 5,000 Koguryŏ soldiers were killed. Hulbert states that after this incident Paekche built a series of forts along the southern bank of the Han River.
This is one of the most impressive of the Three Kingdoms fortresses in Kyŏnggi-do, in part because of the excellent view it commands of the Seoul-Inch’ŏn area. The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam gives its circumference as 1,937 chŏk, but it seems to be longer than this, perhaps over half a mile.

12. Sŏngsan-sŏng (城山城)

Located on Sŏng-san (城山 also Chin-san 鎭山, ht. 79 metres), on the south bank of the Han River at Yangch’ŏn-ni (陽川里), Yangch’ŏn-myŏn (陽川浦), Kimp’o-gun (金浦郡). It was probably built by Paekche in the fourth century. Cannon in this fortress may have fired on the French ships which sailed up the Han River in [page 35] October 1866.
The circumference is 726 ch’ŏk. It was built of mixed earth and stone. During the Korean War much of it was dug up arid very little remains.

13. Fortress near Kimp’o Airport
I have only seen this fortress from the road. It seems to be made of earth. If Kyeyang-sansŏng (桂陽山城) was a Koguryŏ fortress, this may have been built by Paekche for protection.

14. Namsan Kosŏng (南山古城)

Located on Munhak-san(文鶴山) (ht. 233 metres), southeast of Inch’ŏn (仁川) City, At one time the town of Inch’ŏn was in the valley north of the mountain and it was known as Inch’ŏn Nam-san (南山), According to legend, Piryu (沸流), the older brother of Onjo(溫祚), first king of Paekche, settled at Inch’ŏn and built this fortress, but after a year he died and his followers moved to Wirye-sŏng (慰禮城). There are other possibilities. It may have been a tribal fortress, it may have been built by Paekche in the fourth century, or it may have been built by Koguryŏ in the early fifth century when a sea invasion of Paekche was launched.
This is a small fortress, only 430 ch’ŏk in circumference, and it is in fairly good condition. There is a large pile of oyster shells and bones of some sea animal which indicates that the fortress was occupied for a considerable period of time.

15. Puksŏng-sansŏng (北城山城)

Located on Puksŏng-san (ht. 155 metres), west of the town of Kimp’o. According to the Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam it was 10 ch’ŏk high and 2,650 ch’ŏk in circumference. Now it is mostly in ruins. It may have been constructed by Paekche.

16. Fortress at Ttuksŏm (纛島)

On a hill (ht. 83 metres) across the Han River from [page 36] Ttuksŏm there is an earth fortress which I have seen from across the river that probably dates from Paekche.

17. Puksŏngsan Kosansŏng (北城山古山城)

Located on Puksŏng-san (北城山) (ht. 274 metres), near the city of Yŏju (廳州). It was probably built in 551 A.D. when the Silla-Paekche forces invaded Koguryŏ. I have only seen this fortress from a distance.

18. Sŏlbong-sansŏng (雪峰山城)

Located on Sŏlbong-san(雪峰山) (ht. 394 metres) in Ich’on. It has also been called Oe-sŏng (外城) and Munhak-sŏng (文鶴城). This was evidently one of the fortresses either built by Paekche as it recovered some of its former territory on the north after its defeat in 475, or in 551 A.D. when Silla and Paekche attacked Koguryŏ. During the Japanese invasion of 1592, there was a brief battle in which the Japanese were the victors.
Three peaks of the mountain have walls around them. Of these, the walls on the main peak and the north peak are almost gone, while the one on the eastern peak is in the best condition and the stone facing is still preserved in several places. This is the only fortress in the province that has three separate walls on the same mountain.

19. Pogae-sangsŏng(寶蓋山城)

Located on Pogae-san (寶蓋山) (ht. 472 metres) in Kusŏng-myŏn (舊城面), Yongin-gun (龍仁郡). This was another fortress built for the 551 Paekche-Silla invasion of Koguryŏ. No records state whether it was actually used. The circumference is 2,529 ch’ŏk. It has the appearance of having been built in haste as the stone is unshaped and in places is just piled up. There are openings where may have been gates at the southern and north-western corners of the wall. The northeastern part of the wall is gone.

20. Komo-sŏng (姑母城)

A smaller fortress on Paek-hyŏn (白峴) (ht. 350 metres) [page 37] directly north of Pogae-sansŏng (寶蓋山城). I have only seen it from a distance, but the wall appears very substantial. This may have been a Koguryŏ fortress built as defence against attacks from Pogae-sansŏng.

C. Koryŏ

21. Panwŏl-sŏng (半月城)

Located on Ch’ŏngsŏng-san (ht. 289 metres) in Kunnae-myŏn (郡內面), P’och’ŏn-gun (抱川郡). It was constructed during the reign of Kung-ye (弓裔 901-918), king of T’aebong (泰封), to protect the southern approach to his capital at Ch’ŏrwŏn (鐵原). In 1618, Kwanghae (海光) had the fortress repaired and stationed troops there from fear of a possible Manchu invasion. They were withdrawn in 1623 and the fortress was not used after that.
The walls are 1,937 ch’ŏk in circumference. Except for a few places, they are mostly in ruins. There are the remains of three command posts on the northeast, northwest and southwest corners. In the middle of the southern part of the fortress is a place where there evidently used to be a Buddhist temple. There are no ruins of a gate. In a field at the southwest corner of the mountain is a rather worn standing Buddhist statue with a stone hat which was probably made in late Silla or early Koryo.

22. Tang-sŏng (唐城)
Located on Kubong-san (ht. 158 metres), Sŏsin-myŏn (西新面), Hwasŏng-gun (華城郡). It was built under the direction of eight men from T’ang, probably to protect the new kingdom of kingdom of Koryŏ from sea attack. It was also undoubtedly used as protection from the Japanese pirates who were a constant scourge to the coast of Koryŏ. According to a policeman in the area, during the early days of the Yi Dynasty the No family lived in the fortress and used it as a storage place for rice being shipped from the southern provinces to Seoul.
The circumference is 2,415 ch’ŏk. The walls are made [page 38] from mixed earth and unshaped stone. The fortress commands an excellent view of the bay to the west. At one time, prior to the development of Inch’ŏn, this must have been one of the major port areas in the province.

23. Muran-sŏng (舞鸞城)

Located on Murang-san (also called Kosŏng-san 古城山 and Paegun-san 白雲山) (ht. 298 metres), in Yangsŏng-myŏn (陽城面), Ansŏng-gun 安城郡). No history of this fortress is known. In style it is different from any of the early fortresses in that the wall rises up to 6 feet above the inside ground level. It is constructed from earth mixed with unshaped stone. In the north and south are openings which served as gates. In the centre of the north on the highest point are the remains of the command post. There was an earthen extension of the wall on the northeast, below a small temple, Usu-am, which was founded about 1740.
This fortress may have been built during the early days of Koryŏ when Hu Paekche and Koryŏ were fighting for control of the peninsula. Its position indicates that it was built for defence against attack from the south.

24. Chukchu Kosŏng (竹州古城)

Located on a smaller peak (ht. 231 metres) east of Pibong-san (飛鳳山) just north of Chuksan (竹山) in Ansŏng-gun (安城郡). It was built in 1226 under the direction of General Song Mun-ju (宋文胃), who had had experience fighting Mongols along the northern frontier. When the Mongols invaded Korea for the second time in 1235 they surrounded this fortress and demanded that the garrison surrender. Instead, the Koreans attacked the invaders. The Mongols then constructed catapults and flung stone into the fortress. The defenders also built catapults and forced the Mongols to withdraw further from the walls. The Mongols then set fire to straw and flung it into the fortress, but the Korean soldiers rushed out of the gates and killed many [page 39] of them. General Song seemed to anticipate all the Mongols’ tactics and earned the reputation among his soldiers of having clairvoyance. At last the Mongols gave up the seige and withdrew. Of course, for them this was only a minor setback and it did not prevent them from plundering the rest of the country.
Chukchu Kosŏng(竹州古城) is 3,874 ch’ŏk in circumference. Its thick walls and intricate design make it one of the most interesting fortresses in the province. The walls in many places are faced with stone on both sides. There are no merlons and it is not possible to tell whether there was any arrangement for firing at the enemy from the top of the wall. One unusual feature is that the fortress is divided in two by a large thick wall. At the northeast corner there are foundation stones of a building surrounded with large rectangular stones on three sides with round holes in the bottom layer. There are also foundation stones of command posts at the southeast corner, southwest corner, and on the wall dividing the fortress into two parts. There are remains of three square-arch gates in the east, south and north. To complete the peculiarities of this fortress, the northern half is again subdivided by a smaller wall.

25. Kanghwa-do(江華島)

The island of Kanghwa is located just below the mouth of the Han River. It is separated from the mainland by a narrow strait through which the tides rush with the turbulence of a mountain stream. For this reason it is hard to attack arid since the Koryŏ period has served as a place of refuge for the royal family in case of invasion.
The first time it was used was in 1232. King Kojong had already decided to surrender to the Mongol khan, whose army had invaded Korea and done great damage, but General Ch’oe U, who held a position somewhat similar to that of shogun in Japan, decided to flee to Kanghwa-do where he felt he would be safe from the Mongols, [page 40]  who were ignorant of shipbuilding, and he forced the king to accompany him there. Between 1233 and 1237 earthern walls were built along the shore facing the mainland.
For the next 27 years the Koryŏ court remained on the island while the Mongols demanded that the king return to Sŏngdo (松都). They tried to enforce this demand by occasional invasions which resulted in widespread destruction and the abduction of thousands of Koreans into slavery, but they were never able to invade the island. It was during this period that the 81,000 plates for printing the Buddhist scriptures, now stored in Haein-sa (海印寺), were carved in hope that Buddha would reward Korea by expelling the Mongols. This did not happen, however, and finally, after the king’s death in 1259, the capital was moved back to Sŏngdo and for a hundred years. Korea was for all practical purposes a Mongol colony. Many of the walls on the island were destroyed under Mongol supervision.
*
In 1290 the king fled to Kanghwa again to escape from an invasion of the Haptan Tartars (哈丹) and remained there for two years. For the remainder of Koryŏ the fortress played no important role in history.
During the Japanese invasion of 1592-98 no attempt was made to use Kanghwa-do. This was probably because the Japanese were a seafaring people. When the Manchus invaded in 1627, however, King Injo fled to Kanghwa-do, but in a conference on the island with the Manchu envoys peace was made, the Manchus withdrew, and he returned to Seoul.
Presumably about this time there must have been some repairs on the Kanghwa-do wall, although records do not mention them. It seems likely that the earthen walls built 400 years before were not in good shape. It is possible, however, that the Koreans felt so certain that Kanghwa could not be successfully invaded that no [page 41] large-scale attempt was made to improve the fortifications.
In January 1637 the Manchus invaded again. The queen, the crown princess, her son and two of the King’s sons, along with many officials and their families, were sent to Kanghwa-do, along with the dynasty’s ancestral tablets. King In jo meant to follow them, but he delayed too long and was forced to flee to Namhan-sansŏng (南漢山城).
In order to show the King the hopelessness of his position, the Manchus decided to capture Kanghwa-do. They built boats on the mainland and had soon ferried sufficient troops to the island to begin the attack. This proved to be relatively easy because the Korean generals in charge had been so certain that Kanghwa was invincible that they had done nothing to organize the defending forces. As a result, the island was soon captured and its royal occupants were made prisoners. Shortly after this catastrophe, King in jo was forced to surrender.
The fortifications as they are at present were mainly built during the reigns of Sukchong (肅宗) and Yŏngjo (英祖), in particular under the direction of General Kim Ki-hwan in 1746. At that time the brick parts of the wall were added, along with 4,740 merlons. The square stone individual forts were also built. The army map shows 39 of these. Bishop Trollope in his article on Kang-wha says there were 60 or 70. Of these, 12 larger ones were garrisoned continually, while the smaller ones were used only in case of attack. They were made mainly to hold cannon. Most of these forts, which surround the entire island while the wall is confined to the eastern shore, are still in relatively good condition and are of interest because they are the only forts of this type in the province.
Kanghwa-do also played an important part in Korean history during the last days of the Yi Dynasty, mainly because it lay astride the sea route to the capital. [page 42]
In 1866 a French naval force landed men on the shore near Kanghwa City, which was quickly captured. (The final story of this expedition will be told under 26 and 27 below). In June 1871 one of the forts fired on American vessels sailing up the strait and as a result American troops attacked and captured 5 forts, inflicting over 80 casualties on the Korean defenders with the loss of only 3 men. In 1875, the firing on a Japanese ship from a fort on the northern side of the island resulted in a punitive expedition and the signing of a treaty the next year between Japan and Korea which brought an end to Korea’s isolation.
The important part it has played in Korean history, the magnitude of the fortifications, and the beauty of its natural scenery make Kanghwa-do one of the most interesting fortresses to visit.

26. Kanghwa City (江華邑)

Located on Kanghwa-do. From 1232 until 1260 Kanghwa, also called Kangdo (江都), was the capital of Korea. The earliest walls were built in 1233, but in 1637 the Manchus captured the city and destroyed them. They were rebuilt in 1677, and in 1710 the walls were enlarged to their present circumference of slightly under 4 miles. The city was captured again by the French in 1866 and there was considerable destruction, some of which was repaired shortly thereafter.
The wall is still in fairly good condition. Of the four gates which were originally topped with wooden pavilions, one, the West Gate, is still in excellent shape. The East Gate’s pavilion has been destroyed, and I have not visited the other two.

27. Samnang-song (三郞城)

Located on Ch’ŏndŭng-san (傳燈山 ht. 221 metres) in the southeastern corner of Kanghwa-do. It was also known as Chŏngjok-sangsŏng(鼎足山城). According to legend it was constructed by a son of Tan’gun (檀君) [page 43] named Samnang (三郞), but it was probably either built or repaired when the Koryŏ capital was at Kanghwa. The present walls, one and a quarter miles in circumference, the three arched gates and 705 merlons date from 1738. This was an important fortress at that time because one copy of the historical records of the Yi Dynasty were kept at Ch’ŏndung-sa, (傳燈寺) a Buddhist temple inside the walls. The fortress was defended by monk-soldiers who were stationed there until the 1890’s.
Samnang-sŏng’s glorious page in Korean history was written on 27 October 1866, when a detachment of French soldiers, who had been sent there from Kanghwa city, attacked the fortress and were driven away by the Korean defenders, who had been reinforced by a group of fierce tiger hunters. This defeat helped cause the French retreat from the island and gave the Korean Government an exaggerated opinion of its own military power.

D. Yi Dynasty

28. Seoul City Wall (서울市城壁)

The Seoul wall, somewhat over 10 miles in circumference, connects four mountains — Nam-san (南山 ht. 233 metres,) T’arak-san(駝駱山), Pugak-san(北岳山 ht. 342 metres) and Inwang-san (仁旺山 ht. 338 metres). The story is told that the course of the fortress follows a line of snow seen by the king one winter morning. It seems more likely that he took advantage of the fact that these mountains provided a good natural protection for the city, except in the east and southwest.
Like all cities built on Chinese models, the wall had eight gates, two for each of the cardinal directions. The names of these rates and the directions they faced were as follows: 
[page44]
]
	Original Name
	Popular Name
	Direction

	Sŭngnye-mun
崇禮門
	Nam-daemun 南大門 (South gate)
	South

	Kwanghui-mun
光熙門
	Nam-somun 南小門 (Little South Gate)
	Southeast
•

	Hŭngin-mun
(later Hunginji-mun)
興仁門, 興仁之門
	Tong-daemun 東大門(East Gate)
•
	East
•
•

	Honghwa-mun*
(later Hyehwa-mun)
弘化門, 惠化門
	Tong-somun 南小門 (Little East Gate)
	Northeast

	Sukch’ŏng-mun
肅淸門
	Sukch’ŏn-mun (Silent Gate)
	North

	Ch’angui-mun**
彰義門
	Pung-mun 北門
(North Gate)
	Northwest

	Tonui-mun*
敦義門
	Sŏ-daemun 西大門 (West Gate)
	West

	Sodong-mun*
(later Soui-mun)
照德門, 照義門
	So-sŏmun 西小門
(Little West Gate)
•
	Southwest



The main emphasis during the original construction of the wall was on speed, not on excellence of construction. As a result, unshaped stone and even clay were used and it has been necessary to rebuild much of the wall and all the gates during succeeding centuries, although some sections of the original wall remain on the ridge east of Sukch’ŏng-mun (蕭淸門) and south of Kwanghui-mun (光熙門).
The first extensive rebuilding took place in 1422, when 322,400 labourers were mobilized in the spring to replace badly-built portions of the wall, particularly those sections where clay had been used instead of stone. This time the stone was cut into rectangular or square blocks and the wall curved outward a little in the middle.
The next large-scale repairs were done during the

* Now destroyed.
** Later the Sukch’ong-mun was closed and this gate became known as the North Gate. 
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reigns of Hyojong (孝宗 1650-1659) and Sukchong (肅宗 during 9 years commencing in 1704). Both times square blocks were used and the wall was vertical. Less extensive repairs were also made during the reign of Yŏngjo (middle 18th century). The gates have also been rebuilt at various times. A short history of each, in the order listed above, follows.
1. Sŭngnye-mun (崇禮門 South Gate). The original gate was built in 1398. This structure was not satisfactory and it was torn down and replaced by the present gate during the reign of King Sejong (世宗) in 1447. The portions of the wall leading from the gate were destroyed in 1907-1908 in order to facilitate the flow of traffic, leaving it an isolated island which has almost become a symbol of the city.
The signboard on this gate is supposed to be the calligraphy of Prince Yangnyong(讓寧大君), the oldest brother of King Sejong. This prince preferred scholarly pursuits to politics and was happy to see his younger brother made king. The signboard disappeared following the Japanese invasion and was later found buried in a ditch during the reign of Kwanghae. According to legend, it was located by digging where strange light rays pointed at night.
2. Kwanghŭi-mun (光熙門 Little South Gate). Only the arch of the structure remains. According to ancient records, there was originally a gate at the southeast further to the south, but it was destroyed upon the advice of geomancers in 1469. Presumably the present gate dates from that time.
3. Hŭnginji-mun (興仁之門 East Gate). The present structure dates from 1869. It is distinguished from the other existing gates by having a protective half-moon wall on the outside of the gate. The West Gate, now destroyed, was similar in design. [page 46]
4. Hyehwa-mun (惠化門). The original name of Honghwa-mun (弘化門) was changed by King Sŏngjong in 1475 to distinguish it from the main gate of the newly-constructed Ch’anggyŏng Palace. One distinguishing feature was that phoenixes were painted on the ceiling of the pavilion instead of dragons. The pavilion was torn down in 1928. The stone arch was demolished in 1939.

5. Sukch’ŏng-mun (肅淸門 Silent Gate). The original gate was torn down in 1504 and the present structure was built a little to the east. Originally built as the North Gate, it was not used for several centuries and the Changŭi-mun became known as the North Gate. There was a story that the gate was closed because if it were opened the women of Seoul would become immoral (It might be noted that it is not closed at present.)
6. Ch’angŭi-mun (彰義門). The present stonework was repaired and the pavilion built in 1741. The wooden rooster in the top part of the gate was placed there, according to legend, in order to protect Seoul from the centipede-like terrain outside the gate. In history, it is known as the gate through which In jo entered with his followers to overthrow Kwanghae and became king.
7. Tonŭi-mun (敦義門 West Gate). This gate, destroyed in 1915, was located on Sinmun-no north of the Orthodox Church. The original gate was located farther north, but the location was changed by Sejong in 1422 when the wall was being repaired.
8. Soŭi-mun (昭義門 Little West Gate). Originally called Sodŏng-mun, it was renamed in 1472. During the Yi Dynasty, bodies of the dead had to be removed from the city through this gate or the Kwanghŭi-mun. It was destroyed, along with much of the wall leading from West Gate to South Gate, in 1914.
In spite of the vast amount of effort put into building and repairing the Seoul City Wall, it has  [page 47] provided little protection for the city. Each time invading troops have reached Seoul, it has fallen to the enemy: the Japanese in 1592, the troops of Yi Kwal (李适) in 1624, the Manchus in 1637, and the Communists in 1950. Today, with parts of it torn down to make room for the much-expanded city, and many other parts falling into ruin, it serves mainly as a reminder of ancient times and as a path for hikers.

29. P’asa-sŏng (婆婆城)

Located on Pasa-san (婆婆城 ht. 231 metres), in Ch’onso-ri(川西里), Taesin-myon (大新門), Yŏju-gun(驪州郡). It was built in 1592 under the direction of a monk-warrior named Uiam. The location was chosen because it commands an excellent view of the Han River at a ferry crossing where the Japanese would probably attempt to cross the river. The fortress was evidently not successful however, in stopping the Japanese advance on Seoul.
The circumference of the stone wall is stated to be 1,100 paces1) in the Munhŏn Pigo. It is still in quite good condition and is 18-20 feet tall where it has not fallen down. This makes the fortress one of the larger ones in the province. There were two gates, neither of which are now standing. One interesting feature of the fortress is the four stone platforms built outside the walls, one of them in front of the north gate. The purpose of these platforms is unknown.

30. Tŏksan-sŏng (德山城)

Located on the peak of Tŏk-san (德山) known as Sema-dae (洗馬臺) (height 208 metres) in Chigon-ni (紙串里), Sŏngho-myŏn (城湖面), Hwasŏng-gun (華城郡), near Osan (烏山). On top of the mountain are the remains of a small Paekche fortress which was built about or before 551 A.D. when the joint Paekche—Silla forces recaptured the southern part of Kyonggi-do from

1) A Korean measurement over 2 feet long.  
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Koguryŏ. In 1592, following the capture of Seoul by the Japanese, a much larger fortress was built by the troops commanded by General Kwŏn Yul and used as a base for guerilla operations against the Japanese invaders.
This fortress commands an excellent view of that part of the province south of Suwŏn (水原) and west of Yongin (龍仁). There is one small crate, a small Buddhist temple and a pavilion recently erected by the provincial government. The province has also built a road partway up the mountain for the convenience of visitors.

31. Haengju-sansŏng (幸州山城)

Located on Sŭngjŏn-bong (勝戰峰), Tŏgyang-san (ht. 125 metres), Chido-myŏn (知道面)，Koyang-gun The peak rises sharply from the Han River and from the top there is an excellent view of the river below Seoul. The fortress, which was mainly constructed of wood, was built in 1593 under the direction of General Kwŏn Yul following the retreat of the Japanese invaders from the north to Seoul. The Japanese attacked the fortress and were finally repelled.
As Haengju-sansŏng was built hastily and mainly from wood, the remains are scanty—mostly piled-up earth which provided foundations for the palisade. The provincial government has rebuilt a pavilion on the mountain top and has repaired the road leading part-way up the mountain. In 1957 the ROK marines put up a monument commemorating the victory to replace one originally erected in 1842. It is amusing that the plywood used to make the sign telling the history of the battle in both English and Korean has stamped on the back “Made in Nagoya, Japan”

32. Namhansan-sŏng (南漢山城)

Located on Namhan-san, Kwangju-myŏn (廣州面), Kwangju-gun (廣州郡). The highest peaks within the fortress are Ilchang-san (ht. 495 metres) on the west and Pong-am (ht. 620 metres) on the east. In addition, south [page 49] of the main fortress, on Kudan-san (ht. 542 metres) are two small forts.
The history of Namhan-san is a long one. The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam says, “In the thirteenth year of Onjo (6 B.C.) an old woman turned into a man, five tigers entered the fortress and the king’s mother died. Then the king told his attendants, east of our country is Nangnang (樂浪), north are the Malgal (靺鞨). They invade our borders and we have few peaceful days. Furthermore, many unlucky events have taken place. My mother has died. I am now very unhappy and will transfer the capital. Yesterday I went out and observed south of the Han River. The land there is very fertile. It would be very good to live in that region. Let us have peace for a long time. In the seventh moon he had a wood palisade built at Hansan and transferred the people there from Wirye-sŏng. In the ninth moon fortifications were built.” One interesting part of this quotation is the statment that Nangnang was on the east. One would think he would place Nangang on the north, the Malgal on the east.
The exact location referred to is not certain, but some historians claim it was either on the site of the present fortress or was north of it. It is fairly well established that eventually the valley north of Namhan-san became the Paekche capital and probably there was some kind of fortification on the top of the mountain.
In the 13th year of King Munmu (文武) of Silla (672 A.D.) a fortress named Chujang-sŏng(晝長城) was built on the western edge of Namhan-san. The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam states that it was 86,800 ch’ŏk in circumference. This was an error and was corrected in the Munhŏn Pigo, which puts the circumference at 4,360 paces, smaller than at present. The reason for building the fortress was that as Silla and T’ang were at odds over the division of spoils following the capture of Paekche and, Koguryŏ, Silla was preparing for a possible Chinese [page 50] invasion from the north.

Later the fortress became known as Ilchang-sŏng (日長城). During the Koryŏ period it was kept in repair, as Kwangju (廣州), then north of Namhan-san on the site of the old Paekche capital, was a provincial capital. In 1361, during an invasion by the Hongjŏk (紅賊) from Manchuria, King Kongmin (恭愍王) fled to this fortress until they left the country.
During the reign of Kwanghae some work was done on the fortress, but it was in 1624 that construction began in earnest as a result of the rebellion of Yi Kwal and fear of a Manchu invasion. The wall was completed in 1626.
An interesting story is told about Yi Hoe(李晦), who was in charge of constructing the southern part of the fortress. He was accused of being negligent of his duty, indulging in too much drinking and carousing with women. As a result, he was hung. His wife, who was travelling in the south collecting money for the construction, drowned herself when she learned what had happened to her husband. Later it was discovered that the charges were false and the king had a shrine built in their memory near the top of Ilchang-san (日長山).
In January King Injo fled to Namhan-sansŏng when the Manchu invaders approached Seoul. After holding out for 45 days, he was forced to surrender for lack or food, although the Manchus were unable to take the fortress by storm.
After this unhappy incident, the fortress remained untouched until the reign of King Sukchong. As part of his spree of fortress-building, he enlarged Namhan-sansŏng. The first addition, called Pongam-sŏng, was built in 1686 on the northeast corner of the fortress. It was enlarged in 1705. The second, Hanbong-sŏng (韓峰城), was constructed along a ridge east of the fortress in 1693. In [page 51] the north it is connected with Pongam-sŏng, but the southern end is not connected with the rest of the fortress.
During the reign of Yŏngjo (英祖) additional work was done. In 1793, Pongam-sŏng and Hanbong-sŏng were repaired and in 1744 the entire fortress was reconstructed. In 1778, during the reign of Chŏngjo (正祖), it was repaired again, the use of grey brick in the parapets dating from that time. In the same year the gates were renamed. One reason for the interest of these three kings in the fortress was that they stopped there on their way back to Seoul from visits to the tomb of Hyojong (孝宗) in Yŏju (驢州). From that time until very recently the fortress was neglected. In 1954 it was made a national park and since that date a considerable amount of work has been done to improve the east and south gates and repair and paint the buildings of historical importance.
The wall is at present about 5 miles in circumference. The shape of the wall is interesting in that it slopes outward at the bottom. This may account in part for its excellent preservation. The Munhŏn Pigo gives the following statistics:
Main fortress... circumference 6,297 paces; 1,897 merlons Pongam-sŏng... circumference 962 paces; 294 merlons Hanbong-sŏng... length 895 paces; 272 merlons
In addition, there are two small redoubts, Nam-p’o-chŏp (南砲堞), on the south, and Sŏp’o-chŏp (西砲堞) on the northwest. Along the walls were originally 115 barracks for the guards, but these have all fallen down. The foundations and roof tiles of many can still be seen, however.

There are four main gates as follows:
Original Name	Direction        Name Given by Chongjo
Nam-mun 南門	South             Chihwa-mun 地和門
Sŏ-mun 西門	West              Uing-mun 右翼門
Pung-mun 北門	North             Chŏnsŭng-mun 戰勝門
Tong-mun 東門	East               Chwaing-mun 左冀門 [page52]
 
Of these 4 gates, only two, the East and South Gates, still have wooden pavilions on top. The South Gate is one of the most picturesque gates remaining from the Yi Dynasty. In addition, there are 17 small gates, called “hidden gates”(暗門) in Korean. There was originally a water gate beside the East Gate, but it has been destroyed.
Inside the fortress are many buildings of historical importance. Among these are:

1. Mumang-nu (無忘樓) A two-story pavilion on top of Sŏjang-dae, the highest peak of Ilchang-san. This is supposedly the spot where King Injo lived during the Manchu seige. The present building was built about during the reign of Yŏngjo. The scenery from this pavilion is among the most magnificent in Kyŏnggi-do.

2. Chŏnggye-dang (淸溪堂) A little below Sŏjang-dae (西將臺) on the west, this shrine was built in memory of Yi Hoe, as previously stated.

3. Songsu-t’ap(頌壽塔) A tower topped with a phoenix built in 1955 in commemoration of President Rhee’s 80th birthday.

4. Sungnyŏl-jŏn (崇烈殿) A group of buildings at the right of the path leading to Sŏjang-dae built in memory of Onjo, supposedly the first king of Paekche. They were completed in 1638. Later the shrine was dedicated to Yi Sŏ (李曙), who was in charge. of building the fortress. The name was changed to Sungnyol-jon by King Chŏngjo in 1795. 

5. Ch’imgwa-jŏng(枕戈亭) A house located on the western edge of the town inside the fortress. The present name dates from 1751. This house was standing in 1624 when the fortress was built and at that time the inhabitants told Yi Sŏ that it was originally the home of King Onjo of Paekche. This was obviously untrue, but as it was an old house at that time, it must be one of the [page 53] oldest wooden buildings in the province.

6.  Chisu-dang (池水堂) A pavilion beside a pool in the centre of the fortress. It was built by the city mayor, Yi Se-hwa, in 1672.

7. Yŏnmu-gwan (練武館) A large pavilion used as a military training centre. The present building dates from the reign of Sukchong. It has also been called Yŏnbong- gwan and Suwi-yŏng.

8. Hyŏnjŏl-sa (顯節祠) A shrine to the east of the Yŏnmu-gwan (演武館) in memory of the spirits of three officials who were leaders of the anti-Manchu faction. Their names were Hong Ik-han(洪翼漢), Yun Chip (尹集)and O Tal-che (吳達濟). One of the conditions of the surrender was that these three men should be handed over as prisoners. They were eventually killed by their captors. Admiring their loyalty, Sukchong built this shrine to their memory.

9. Songam-jŏng (松岩亭). This is a large rock outside the East Gate. The description of this in a booklet entitled “A Historical Glance at Nam Han” prepared by the provincial government is so amusing that it is quoted in full:
“It is a giant rock sitting on the high hill to the left of the East Gate. It has an umbrella-like old pine tree covering itself, that irritates the visitors to call for ‘one for the road’ tantalizing the scenery in Spring and Fall.   
Another tale says that about a century ago, when the flowers all came into bloom kissing with the comfortable breeze and hugging with the milky clouds in the sky, a group of youngsters enjoyed themselves to the extreme, mixed up with kisaeng girls, one of whom, when was dancing, slipped straight to death from the rock.”

10. Changgyŏng-sa(長慶寺) At one time there were nine Buddhist temples inside the fortress. In them lived [page54]  the monk-priests who were the fortress guards. About 1895 these guards were disbanded and the temples fell into ruin, Ch’anggyŏng-sa is the only one remaining at present. It is reached by a path leading to the north from the East Gate.
Of all the fortresses in Kyŏnggi-do, Namhan-sansŏng is probably the best one to visit as it is easily accessible, is in good repair, has many historical remains and is situated among magnificent scenery.

33. Munsu-sansŏng (文殊山城)

Located on Munsu-san (ht. 376 metres), Wŏlgwan- myon, Kimp’o-gun. In 1693, King Sukchong, while on the way to visit Hu-nŭng, saw Munsu-san in the distance and sent someone there to draw a map of the mountain. The next spring he ordered that a fortress be built there, probably to protect the ferry crossing to Kanghwa. A battle was fought here with the French in October 1866.
According to the Munhŏn Pigo, the length of the fortress is 151 ri 129 paces (somewhat less than 4 miles), with 3 gates and 1, 272 merlons.

34. Pukhan-sansŏng (北漢山城)

Located on Pukhan-san, formerly in Sindo-myŏn (神 道面), Koyang-gun (高陽郡), but now inside the expanded boundaries of the Special City of Seoul. It is also called Samgak-san (三角山) and in Silla days was known as Pua-ak (負兒岳). The mountain is composed of a ring of peaks which form a natural fortress. Some of them are Uisangbong (義湘峰 499 metres), Yŏnghyŏl-bong (龍穴峰 573 metres), Munsu-bong (文殊峰 716 metres), Po-hyŏn-bong (普賢峰), Man-gyŏng-dae (萬鏡臺), Paegun-dae (白雲量 836 metres), Yongjae-bong and Wŏnhyo-bong (元曉峰 580 metres). North of this ring is Insu-bong (803 metres), with its sheer granite cliffs. South is a ridge leading to Pi-bong (碑峰 556 metres) where there is a memorial stone erected about 568 A.D. to commemorate the visit of King Chinhŭng of Silla and the incorporation [page 55] of the surrounding area into the Silla, kingdom.
The history of this fortress goes back to the time of the Three Kingdoms. Some authorities believe that Wirye-sŏng, the first capital of Paekche, was in the neighbourhood of Pukhan-san, perhaps northeast of the mountain in what is now Ui-dong (牛耳洞). It is also known that another fortress was built in the neighbourhood of the mountain about 200 A.D. and that later this was fought over by Koguryŏ and Paekche. Battles were also fought here between Koguryŏ and Silla in 604 and 663. There are no remains of this fortress.
The Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam mentions a fortress called Chunghîngdong-sŏksŏng, which was evidently inside Pukhan-san, as it included Nojŏk-pong (露積峰). It was much smaller than the present fortress, its circumference being only 8417 ch’ŏk. There were some ruins of this fortress still remaining when the present one was built.
Pukhan-sansŏng as presently constituted was built during the reign of Sukchong in 1711. It was intended as a place of refuge for the King in case of civil disturbance or foreign invasion. The construction, which must have been exceedingly difficult, took five months from late spring to early fall. It is recorded that the king inspected the fortress after it was completed and wrote 6 poems.
The circumference of the fortress is about 5l/4 miles, with 2,797 merlons. There is not a continuous wall as it is broken by cliffs and rocky peaks where a wall was not only impossible to build but also unnecessary. The height of the wall varies from about 18 ft on level stretches to only 3 ft on some of the ridges. There were originally 14 gates and a gate, which has been destroyed, to swing across the stream near West Gate during attack. Of the others, the best known is Taesŏ-mun (大西門, Great West Gate) at the southwestern corner of the [page 56] fortress. The pavilion on top of this gate was rebuilt and the road to it from the main road made passable by automobile in 1958. Other gates include Taesŏng-mun (大成門), between Munsu-bong (文殊峰) and Pohyŏn-bong (普賢峰), which is just north of a small Buddhist temple named Munsu-sa (文殊寺); Chungsŏng-mun (中成門), in the wall which separates the fortress into two parts,west and east; Pung-mun (北門), west of Sangun-sa (祥雲寺), which is beside a place where a large amount of stone has been used to fill a pass between two peaks; and Wi-mun(衛門),  just east of Paegun-dae (白雲臺).

Time has not dealt as kindly with the buildings in this fortress as with those inside Namhan-sansŏng. In the first place, interest in the fortress lagged and it was not maintained after it was built. In the second place, the forests were cut and erosion began. It is recorded that when the wall was built Pukhan-san (北漢山) was more densely forested than Namhan-san. This is certainly not true today. As a result of the rapid cutting of trees, there were landslides which caused damage, particularly one in 1915 which destroyed Chunghŭng-sa (重興寺) and the remains of the palace. In the third place, there was a great deal of fighting inside the fortress during the Korean War, with resultant destruction of both buildings and sections of the wall, the stones from which were used to reinforce soldiers’ foxholes.
There are still three small temples remaining inside the walls. These are Sangun-sa, south of Paegun-dae; Wŏnhyo-am (元曉庵) on the west side of Wŏnhyo-bong (元曉峰); and Puhwang-sa, north of Yonghyŏl-dae. These are all small small and contain little of interest. On the site of T’aegŏ-sa (太古寺), near Yongam-mun(龍岩門) in the northeast, is a priest’s memorial stone built during the last years of Koryŏ in 1385.
There were originally three command posts, Tongjang-dae, in the east; Namjang-dae, in the south; and Pukchang-dae, on a peak inside the fortress east of [page 57] Sangun-sa. These have all been destroyed and only the foundation stones of the pavilions remain. There were also 143 houses for the guards, of which only the ruins remain.
In April 1958 I walked around this fortress with Lt. Om Yong-bo. It was a magnificent experience, but one which I will never have the courage to repeat. The south wall, where there were many steep peaks and no path, was particularly difficult. It took us 5½ hours to walk from where the water gate used to be to Munsu-sa. Much of the northern part of the fortress is impossible to walk along without ropes and we had to skip the peaks east and west of Paegun-dae. Recently several students have died trying to climb them. The most beautiful view was from shortly beyond Taedong-mun (Great East Gate) looking toward Paegun-dae. The morning view of the spectacularly rugged peaks appearing and disappearing among the clouds was a sight I will never forget. For the foolhardy, this walk is an unbelievably exciting experience. For others, Pukhan- sansong is a place to look at from the West Gate.

35. T’angch’undae-sŏng (蕩春臺城)

Located outside Seoul’s Changŭi-mun, this wall was built in 1715 to connect Pi-bong, the ridge extending south of Pukhan-sansŏng with the Seoul wall on Inwang-san. Its length is about 2 miles. There were originally two gates, a water gate and Hanbung-mun (漢北門 originally called Hong ji-mun 弘智門), but only the stone arches of Hanbung-mun remain, the rest having been destroyed by a flood in 1914.

36. Suwŏn Wall (水原城)

Prior to the reign of King Chŏngjo (正祖), Suwŏn was a small town which at some period had been surrounded with an earth wall 4,053 ch’ŏk in circumference. With the removal of the tomb of Chŏngjo’s father to Hwasan (華山) in 1785, Suwŏn became an important city. The present wall was built between 1794 and 1796 with the [page58] idea in mind of moving the capital there. Before this could be done, however, the king died.
The wall is over three miles in circumference and the average height 24 feet. As it was constructed during a period when Korea was peaceful, prosperous and had tasteful art and architecture, many consider this wall and its gates the most beautiful in Korea — the height as well as the sudden end of Korean fortress building.
The remains of interest are as follows:
1. Changan-mun (長安門). The north gate. The wooden pavilion and part of the stone-work were destroyed during the Korean War. Of special interest is the half-moon wall guarding the door. On top is a walk for defending soldiers and chutes down which burning material could be poured in case of attack. As the road from this gate leads to the capital, it was named after the ancient capital of the T’ang Dynasty in China.

2. Hwahong-mun (華虹門). The water gate, built over a stream named Kwanggyo-ch’ŏn (光敎川). There are seven arches for water to flow through. This gate was damaged by a flood in 1922 and was repaired in 1931. It has recently been repainted and from the south, looking through the willow trees along the stream, it is one of the most charming gates in Korea.

3. Panghwasuryu-jŏng (訪花隨柳亭). A pavilion on the hill just north of Hwahong-mun. It is noted for its unusual, irregular shape and view of the Dragon Pool (龍池) and the mountains north of the city. It was recently repaired and repainted.

4. Tongjang-dae(東將臺). A military training ground located between the north and east gates. It is divided into three levels, for various ranks, with a pavilion for the commander on the upper level. This area was also used for athletic meets. [page 59]

5. Changnyong-mun (蒼龍門). The east gate. During the war the wooden pavilion on top of the gate was destroyed. Outside the gate doors there is a half-moon wall open at the northern end.

6. Pongsu-dae(烽燧臺). Located a little south of Ch’angnyong-mun, these brick cylinders were used to convey messages by fire signals during the Yi Dynasty. They were part of a system of such signal places which reached from the borders to Seoul.

7. P’altal-mun (八達門). The south gate. It has outer protecting walls open in front. Fortunately this gate escaped major damage during the Korean War.

8. Sŏjang-dae (西將臺). Another military training ground located on the top of P’altal-san. The pavilion which once stood here has been destroyed. From the mountain top, ht. 128 metres, one can get the best view of the whole fortress.

9. Hwasŏ-mun (華西門). The west gate. There is a half-moon defensive wall open at the south beyond the doors and a barbican, a two-storey guard tower (空心墩), on the north. This latter structure is the only one of its kind in Kyonggi-do.

10. Hwaryŏng-gung (華寧宮). At the foot of P’altal-san are some buildings still remaining from the palace built for King Chŏngjo in 1799. In one of the buildings, named Punghwa-dang, the king used to give parties for elderly people in memory of his father.

11. Sŏho (西湖). The west lake. The dam for this lake was built before construction was started on the walls, to provide water for the city and irrigation for the rice paddies. Near the lake is a pavilion, Hangmi-jŏng (杭眉亭), which originally stood in the grounds of a Buddhist temple outside Changan-mun. The lake is now part of the grounds of the Institute of Agriculture.  [page60]

APPENDIX
Fortresses Not Visited1)
Probably Before Koryŏ

a. Ami-sŏng (阿彌城)—at Ch’ŏksŏng, 18 ri west. Stone, circumference 1,937 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.)
b. Such’ŏl-sŏng (水鐵城)ᅳat Ch’ŏksŏng, 10 ri east. (T.Y.)
c. Kosŏk-sŏng (古石城)—Two fortresses at Yŏngp’yŏng, East 12 ri, circumference, 1 ri. West 15 ri, circumference 2 ri. (T.Y.)                                                
d. Odosŏng-sansŏng(烏島城山城)—at Kyoha, 7 ri west, near the Han below the Imjin, stone, circumference 2,071 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.) Built during Three Kingdoms. (M.P.)
e. Hoamsan-sŏng (虎巖山城)—at Kumch’ŏn, 5 ri east, made of stone, circumference 1,681 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.)     
f. Yŏngnang-sŏng (永良城)—at Kumch’ŏn on Samsŏng-san, 10 ri east, stone, circumference 3,750 ch’ŏk.  (T.Y.) 
g. Kosŏng (古城)—at Ansan, 25 ri west, earth, circumference 9,565 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.)                                   
h. Hyŏn-sŏng (縣城)—in Hyŏn-ni. Now in ruins. (M.P.)    
i. Um juksŏl-sŏng (陰竹雪城)—at Umjuk, west 3 ri, circumference 5 ri. (M.P.)                                      
j. Such’ŏl-sŏng (水鐵城)—at Yangju, 51 ri north stone, circumference 357 ch’ ŏk, height 14 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.)    
k. Kosansŏng (古山城)—Yŏju-gun, north 33 ri, stone, circumference 38,825 ch’ŏk (T.Y.) I tried much of one day to find this without success.                        
l. Yukkye-sŏng (六溪城)—Ch’ ŏksŏng(積城) 7 ri west, made of earth, circumference 7,692 ch’ŏk. (M.P.)            
m. Sŏun-san T’osŏng (瑞雲山土城)—Ansŏng, 20 ri south, earth, circumference 3 ri. (M.P.)                             
n. Kŭmgang-sansŏng (金剛山城)—Ansŏng, circumference 2 ŏ. (M.P.)

1) These are listed in the following books.    
T.Y.—Tongguk Yŏji Sŭngnam                            
M.P.—Munhŏn Pigo                                              
T.G.—Taisho Gonendo Koseki Chosha Hokoku 

[page 61]
o. Honggyenam T’osŏng (洪季男土城)—Ansŏng, 15 ri south, circumference 1,800 ch’ŏk. Built by Hong Kye-nam in 1592 at the time of the Japanese invasion. (M.P.)
p. Kobong-sŏng (古峰城)—in Koyang-gun. (M.P.) 
q. Hwaryang-sŏng(花梁城)—Namyang, 30 ri west, circumference 3,777 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.)                                      r. Sŏksan-sŏng (石山城)—Namyang, west 33 ri stone, circumference 2,905 ch’ŏk. (T.Y.) 
s. Kosan-sŏng (古山城)—Inch’ ŏn. (M.P.)
t. Chemul-sŏng (濟物城)—Inch’ ŏn. (M.P.)                            
u. Ch’oyŏndae-sŏng (超然臺城)—Kap’yŏng, south, on a hill 100 metres high. (T.G.)
v. At Chip’yŏng (磁平)—a small earth fortress on a hill northeast of the town. (Seen).                                             w. North of Karhyŏn-ni (葛峴里)—a stone fortress. (Seen). 

Koryŏ

x. Kyodong Town Wall (喬桐邑城)—on Kyodong-do. Stone, circumference 1,006 ch’ŏk. (M.P.)               
y. Hwagae-sansŏng (華蓋山城)—on Kyodong-do.Stone, circumference 3,534 ch’ŏk, height 18 ch’ŏk. Repaired in 1737. (M.P.)
z. Kohyŏn-sŏng (古縣城)—on Kyodong-do, 10 ri north of Kyodong. (M.P.)                                                       aa. Kosŏng (古城)—Ich’on, 20 ri north, stone, circumference 2,400 paces, built in the reign of King
Kongmin (1352-1374). (M.P.)
bb. Ch’ŏin-sansŏng(處仁山城)—Yongin, south 25 ri, earth, built in 1232 during Mongol invasion. (M.P.) When Mongols attacked, the Korean forces led by a Buddhist General Kim Yun-ho killed the Mongol General Saryetap and won the battle. (Kyŏnggi-do Chi)
cc. Koryŏ-sansŏng (高麗山城)—on Koryŏ-san, Kanghwado. Earth, circumference 1,370 ch’ŏk. (M.P.) [page62]
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Some notes on Parhae
by William E. Henthorn 

[page 65]
SOME NOTES ON PARHAE  (Chinese: P’OHAI 渤海)

These few notes are offered in the hope of raising a forgotten nation somewhat from its current status as a question-mark in western language works. Prior to plunging into the pace of events immediately concerned with Parhae, it would not, I believe, be amiss were we summarily to review a few preceding events.
The last half of the seventh century was a period of the shattering of kingdoms on the Korean peninsula and in eastern Manchuria and the subsequent reconsolidation of the pieces into a unified Silla and the new nation of Parhae. On the peninsula the joint forces of T’ang China and Silla successfully overcame the Paekche- Japanese alliance in the wars of 660-662. Some five years later in 668, Silla-T’ang forccs took the last stronghold of Koguryŏ at P’yŏngyang, During the next few years the successful advance of Silla northward and defeats at the hands of the Ch’itan forces in Manchuria forced T’ang China to relinquish her attempts to reinstitute Chinese power on the peninsula. In 676 T’ang moved her frontier garrison from P’yŏngyang back into Liaotung and Silla set her north-eastern frontier along the P’ae River (浿江 See map). Thus, the northern portion of the peninsula and adjacent eastern Manchuria reverted to the various tribal peoples, while north of the Yalu eleven walled cities (城) of the former Koguryŏ never capitulated to the Silla-T’ang forces. This was the general situation in 696 when a series of events began in the city of Ying-chou, which were to lead to the founding of the nation of Parhae in eastern Manchuria.

1. The Founding of Parhae1)

In the 5th moon of 696, a revolt broke out in Ying-

1) For a fuller discussion of the information contained in this section as well as source citations, Chinese characters, etc., see Appendix 1.  
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chou led by the descendant of a Ch’itan chieftain, Li Chin-ch’ung, and the Malgal chieftain Wanjung. They killed the Governor of Ying-chou, Chao Hui, and used the city as the base of their revolt. Then Li Chin-ch’ung died, probably in the fighting which ensued with the T’ang forces raised against them, sometime before the 10th moon. Following Li’s death, Wan-jung led the rebels to capture Chi-chou where they killed the Prefect of that city. In the 6th moon of the following year (697), Wan- jung died, probably bringing the rebellion to an end in that area.
Tse-t’ien, or, as she is more commonly called, the Empress Wu, who then held the throne of T’ang China, ordered the rebellion crushed and also issued an edict changing the names of the two rebel leaders. Chin-ch’ung which means ‘absolute loyalty’ was changed to Chin-mieh (盡滅) which means ‘utter destruction’, while Wan-jung suffered the indignity of seeing his name, wnich means ‘ten thousand honours’, changed to Wan-chan (萬斬) which means ‘ten thousand cuts’.
Seizing the opportunity presented by the rebellion, Kolsa Piu and one other person whose identity is contested and whom I shall call the ‘other leader’, fled from Ying-chou with their people. Going eastward they led their people across the Liao River. As the rebellion within T’ang had probably been crushed at this time, and possibly with the same motivation that impelled T’ang to appoint the former king of Koguryo as Prince of the Principality of Chosŏn in Liaotung-chou in 677, T’ang invested Kolsa Piu as Duke of Hoguk and the ‘other leader’ as Duke of Chin’guk, probably in 698.

However, angered at the Duke of Hoguk’s refusal to follow the orders of T’ang, the Empress Wu ordered General Li K’ai-ku to subjugate them. It is quite possible that they were identified as being elements of Li Chin- ch’ung’s rebels since they left Ying-chou at the time of the rebellion and since Kolsa Piu’s action seemed to be a 
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continuance of the revolution. General Li K’ai-ku defeated and killed Kolsa Piu and then, following this battle, he crossed the T’ien-men-ling in pursuit of Choyŏng, who we find had become the leader of the peoples of Kŏlsa Piu, and the ‘other leader’. Choyŏng, uniting the Malgal and Koguryŏ peoples, defeated General Li K’ai-ku and then, using Turkish, Ch’itan, and Hsi forces, completely blocked a return by General Li. Having effected a strong alliance between his own force of Koguryŏ and Malgal people with the Ch’itan, Hsi and Turkish tribes, Choyŏng led his own force deeper into north-eastern Manchuria where he erected a walled city near Mt. Tung-mou, and proclaimed himself the King of Chin’guk.
General Li returned to T’ang and in the 6th moon of 700, Empress Wu specially bestowed the surname of Wu, ‘martial’, on him for subjugating the Ch’itan elements and for taking captives. Although General Li suffered a defeat at T’ien-men-ling, nevertheless, the rebellion in the Ying-chou area had been crushed, he had killed Kŏlsa Piu who had refused T’ang suzerainty, and the result of the battle of T’ien-men-ling was that Choyŏng went deeper into eastern Manchuria. The captives mentioned could have come from the battle with Kolsa Piu, from elements in the Ying-chou area, or from unfortunates rounded up as ‘captives’ to present a picture of victory, for which examples are not lacking in the T’ang period.
In the 2nd moon of the 2nd year of the reign of T’ang Hsuan-tsung(玄宗 reigned 712-756), T’ang invested Choyŏng, who had taken Tae (大) as a surname, with the title of ‘Prince of the Principality of Parhae’ (傲海君王)2). The king of Parhae, Tae Choyŏng, died in the 7th year of K’ai-yuan (開元), 719, and was given the posthumous title of Ko Wa’ng (高王). (See Appendix 2). The nation was called Chin’guk during the period 699 to 713, and from 713 to 926 it was called Parhae. Choyong is generally regarded as the founder of the nation and

2) Cf. T’se-fu-yüan-kuei chüan 96, cited Ikeuchi, p. 37. (See bibliography for full information on all works cited). 

[page 68]
it appears that he was a Malgal who had formerly been under the Koguryŏ. For a further discussion of various aspects of the founding of Parhae see Appendix 1.

2. The Reign of Mu Wang and the Raid on Teng-chou

Tae Muye, or Mu Wang as he was canonized, ascended the throne in 719 following the death of his father. The remnants of the Koguryŏ peoples not only provided a cultural foundation for the alliance welded together by his father, but also furnished a strong stabilizing factor to the centrifugal tendencies of the non-sedentary tribal peoples in the alliance. At an early date Parhae’s territory extended south to the borders of Silla on the Ni River (泥河), east to the Sea of Japan, west to the lands of the Ch’itan and northeast into the lands of the Black water Malgal (黑水靺鞨)3). Their households are said to have numbered in excess of 100,000 (i.e., a population of over 500,000 if we convert at the usual rate of 5 to 1), and their troops at 10,000 men; and they were reported to have the same customs as the Koguryŏ and Ch’itan; they possessed letters and wrote records.4)
In the 10th year of Mu Wang they described themselves in a ‘state letter, (國書) they sent to Japan as having recovered the former lands of Koguryŏ and as possessing the surviving customs of the Puyŏ (夫餘).5) Tributary relations were established with T’ang China and with Japan; only with Silla do no relations appear to have been established. Silla, possibly alarmed by the rapid expansion of Parhae and her advance into the peninsula, built the Changsŏng (長城) on the P’ae River in 721, and it is recorded that it was some 300 li (里) in length and that a corvee of 10,000 men was levied for its construction.6)

3) Cf. Chiu-t’ang shu, chuan 199 P’o-hai-Moyeh-ch’uan; also cf. Hsin-t’ang- shu, chuan 219, P’o-hai-ch’uan.
4) Cf. Ts’e fu yüan kuei chüan 96, cited Ikeuchi, p. 36
5 ) Cf. Shoku Nihongi (續日本紀) chüan 10 cited Hanguk-sa (韓國史)
6) Cf. Chosen-shi (朝鮮吏), Vol. 2, p. 258   
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In 722, during the 4th year of the reign of Mu Wang, the Blackwater Malgal chieftain Yesok Igye (倪屬利稽) arrived at the T’ang court to present tribute and Hsuan-tsung bestowed upon him the position of Prefect (剌史) of Po-li-chou (勃利州). And in 725, Hsueh T’ai(薛泰), the Andong-dowi (安東都護), invited them to attach themselves to T’ang and established a Black-water Army (黑水軍) and a Blackwater Command Headquarters (黑水府); a Prefectural Official (長史) was appointed by T’ang to act as ‘Inspector’(監領) of the area. In the following year (726), the Blackwater Malgal dispatched their own tributary mission to T’ang. Two years later, in 728, the Blackwater Malgal chieftain was bestowed the name of Li Hsien-ch’eng (李獻誠) and made Governor of Yu-chou (幽州).7)
In leaving the alliance, the Blackwater Malgal created a problem for Mu Wang, Not only was this an open declaration of the severance of the alliance which might encourage the breaking away of other tribes, especially other Malgal tribes, but also the Blackwater Malgal now effectively blocked Parhae’s south-eastern flank — an effective buffer between T’ang and Parhae.
In 726, Mu Wang ordered his younger brother Munye (門藝) to attack the Blackwater Malgal, but Munye refused. Angered, Mu Wang instructed his cousin Tae Irha (大壹夏) to kill Munye and lead the troops. Munye however, escaped and fled to T’ang. Mu Wang then requested T’ang Hsuan-tsung to kill Munye, but Hsüan-tsung refused and offered protection to Munye.8)
In the fall, in the 9th moon of 732, Mu Wang, angered at T’ang and probably encouraged by the wane of T’ang power attested by numerous defeats during the past decade, dispatched a naval force under General Chang Munhyu (張文休) to raid Teng-chou, a prominent

7) Cf. Chiu-t’ang shu, Mo-yeh-ch’uan.
8) Cf. T’ang-hui-yao, chüan 96, cited Ikeuchi, pp 59-61; also cf. Chiu-fang shu, chüan 199, P’o-hai-ch’uan, and Tongsa Kangmok, p. 440. 
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point of entry for the tributary missions from both Parhae and Silla, which was located on the northern Shantung coast. In the raid, the Prefect of Tengchou was killed.9) T’ang Hsuan-tsung dispatched Kim Saran (金思蘭) an Auxiliary Secretary of the Bureau of Sacrifices (員外卿) and a member of the Silla royal family, back to Silla with orders to raise a punitive force.10) A force of troops was quickly raised in Silla. General Kim Yunjung (金允仲) was bestowed the ‘golden cloth11) and he and three other generals were ordered to lead the troops, meet the T’ang forces and subjugate Parhae. The army, however, encountered deep snow drifts and the mountain roads were impassable. More than half of the men died and they returned without a victory. At that time, the T’ang Emperor dispatched Tae Munye to raise troops in Yu-chou to subjugate Mu Wang and an ‘official’(刺客) was secretly dispatched to kill Mu Wang, but without results.12)
T’ang, possibly because of trouble with the Tibetan and Turkish tribes at this time, evidently gave the matter up, for no more is heard of it, but Silla’s participation brought her formal recognition of the territory she held south of the P’ae River13) which she had seized after expelling the T’ang army at the time of the unification of the peninsula.

3. Culture, Trade, and Government

Following the Teng-chou incident, Parhae re-established relations with T’ang and also carried on frequent

9) Cf. Samguk Sagi, Vol. 2, p. 232; Tongsa Kangmok, p. 441; Tang shu Pei-ti-ch’uan; Chiu-t’ang-shu, chüan 199, P’o-hai ch’uan.
10) Cf. Samguk Sagi Vol. 11. p. 232; Tongsa Kangmok, p. 441
11) General Kim Yunjung was evidently bestowed ‘the golden cloth’ by the Silla king upon the suggestion of the T’ang emperor due to his relationship to the famous Silla General Kim Yusin (金庚信) (he was his grandson). Cf. Tongsa Kangmok p. 441. The bestowal of the ‘golden cloth’ was probably similar to T’ang’s ‘bestowal of the purple.’ and indicated a high honorary court rank.
12) Cf. Samguk Sagi and Tongsa Kangmok, op. cit.
13) Cf. Samguk Sagi, Silla Pon’gi Sŏngdŏk Wang 34th yr., 2nd moon. 
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tributary trade with Japan; relations with Silla were apparently never begun. T’ang built a Parhae Inn in Teng-chou to house the Parhae tribute missions who often passed through there on their way to the T’ang capital, Ch’ang-an. The Japanese monk Ennin, in his records of his travels in 9th century T’ang, mentions seeing the Parhae and Silla Inns which were “east of the south street of the city.” Also recorded by Ennin was an inscription in a monastery written by the Parhae monk Chongso (Chen-su 貞素), which narrates how he met the Japanese monk Reisen in a monastery near Mt. Wu T’ai in the fall of 813, and tells of Reisen’s death; a poem was included in the inscription.14)
The frequent tributary mission to T’ang took products such as hides, furs, horses, pigs, iron, and ginseng while bringing back various textiles, grains, and books. The trade with Japan followed a similar pattern. Buddhism, nurtured by repeated contacts with T’ang, flourished, and Parhae monks went to T’ang to study. Parhae also sent many students to T’ang to study and many of these subsequently passed the higher civil examinations.
T’ang influence is seen in the governmental structure (See Appendix 3), and the capital city of Sanggyŏng (上京) was modelled after the T’ang capital. The Parhae capital, originally near Mt. Tung-mou, was moved to Sanggyŏng, Yongsŏnbu (龍泉府), in 756 during the reign of Mun Wang (文王) the 3rd monarch, then moved to Tonggyŏng, Yongwŏnbu (東京龍原府), in 786, and then again transferred back to Sanggyŏng, Yongsŏnbu, where it remained until the capitulation to the Ch’itan some two centuries later.
In order to govern her vast territonties, Parhae set up a system of five capitals (京), 15 pu (府), and then instituted a system of five to (道) which radiated outward

14) Cfr. Edwin Reischauer (translator), Ennin’s Diary, pp. 177, l41, 193, 197, 215, and 261-3 for some very interesting passages dealing with Parhae. 
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from the capital.
The fusing of feldspathic materials into the body of stoneware to make true porcelain15) had been known for some time, and these techniques were brought back to Parhae where artisans soon produced a purple porcelaneous ware which became famous in T’ang, while the examples of Parhae stone carving and decorative tiles which have been unearthed all attest to the high degree of skill of the Parhae artisans.

4. The Fall of Parhae

The fall of T’ang in 906 had been preceded by some thirty years of internal rebellions while minor states arose on the periphery of the Middle Kingdom. T’ang was followed by the period generally known at the Five Dynasties, a period in which five minor states arose in rapid succession from the pieces of the shattered T’ang Empire.
On the peninsula, Silla was battling a small rebel kingdom in the southwest and stronger forces in the north; the latter gaining strength and uniting the peninsula under the Koryŏ Dynasty (918-1392).
To the north of China the situation was no better. For five generations Parhae had gradually lost control as the peripheral tribes drew away and as internal rebellions became frequent. In the reign of Parhae’s Ae Wang (哀王) there arose the powerful Ch’itan chief tain Yeh-lu A-pao-chi (耶律阿保機)16) who united the tribes to the north and west, and, in 916, proclaimed himself emperor at his capital of Lin-han (臨漢) on the upper reaches of the Liao River.17)

15) Cf. Joseph Needham, Science and Civilization in China, Vol I, p. 129. Needham says that by 400 AD a bluish-green porcelaneous ware was produced at Wenchow in Chekiang.
16) Yeh-lu A-pao-chi was born in 872, ascended the throne on 27 February 907, died on 6 September 926, and was canonized T’ai Tsu (太祖) (of the Liao Dynasty) cf. Moule, p. 94.
17) Cf. Hanguk-sa. pp. 726-728  
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Ch’itan raiding had evidently been going on for some time and probably began again late in 925, for in the 9th moon of that year, the Parhae General Sin Tok (申德) with 500 men sought refuge in Koryŏ; and in the 12th moon of that year, 1,000 households (ie. some 5,000 people) fled to Koryŏ. On the 29th day of the intercalary 12th moon of that year, Yeh-lu A-pao-chi launched his attack on Puyŏ. On the 3rd day of the 1st moon of 926 (the following year) Puyŏ fell and the Ch’itan army advanced south, laying seige to Horhansŏng (忽汗城 the king’s fortress at Sang-gyŏng, the capital), and on the 9th day of the 1st moon the Parhae troops meeting him were defeated. That night Horhansŏng was surrounded. On the 12th day, requesting the Parhae king to capitulate, Yeh-lu moved the army in to camp south of Horhansŏng. On the 14th day of the 1st moon of 926, Parhae’s Ae Wang the fourteenth and final monarch, capitulated.18)
And, on the 9th day of the 2nd moon of 926, the Ch’itan named their new nation Tongdan’guk (東丹國) (Nation of the Eastern Ch’itan). Then, moving southward again, the Ch’itan army took Changyŏngbu (長嶺府) on the 5th day of the 8th moon of 926.19)
Although the capital had fallen and the king had capitulated, resistance continued, probably centred around the Parhae crown prince, Tae Kwanghyon (大光顯), and Parhae tributary missions continued to appear at the court of the Later T’aner (後唐) until 935.
Only a relatively few persons are recorded as having fled during the years 926, 927, 928. However, the arrival of Hong Kyŏn (洪見) in Koryo with 20 ships of men in the 6th moon of 929, marked the beginning of a steady stream of refugees to Koryŏ. While there is a record of one group of some 94 men going to Japan in the 12th

18) According to the Liao shih (遼史) c2, 3a, Parhae capitulated on 6 March 926. Cited Moule, p. 94.
19) Cf. Ikeuchi, pp. 86-88. 
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moon of 929, and of a group of 30 men going over to the Later Chou (後周), the vast majority sought refuge in Koryŏ. In 934, the crown prince of Parhae sought refuge in Koryŏ leading several tens of thousands of people. Following his submission to Koryŏ, the crown prince was bestowed the name of Wang Kye (王繼), given a court rank and enfeoffed with fields and houses by Koryŏ’s monarch. The name Wang Kye has the literal meaning of ‘the king continues’ while the surname Wang was the surname of the King of Koryŏ, Wang Kŏn (王建), and its bestowal on the Prince of Parhae implied that he was being given the protection of the Koryo reigning house.
In 938, Pak Sung(朴昇),who is described merely as a Parhae man, sought refuse in Koryŏ with more than 3,000 households, i.e., over 15,000 people, and in 981 we see tens of thousands of Parhae refuerees had crossed the borders of Koryŏ. Refugees from the Manchurian cauldron continued to flee into Koryŏ for the next decade.20)
In fleeing to Koryŏ, the refugees could not have made a better choice, for excluding the islands of Japan, Koryŏ was the only kingdom in north Asia which remained stable during this period. 
From the beginning, the inception of the nation of Parhae had depended upon the ability of its leaders to consolidate and maintain tribal alliances; when they were no longer able to do so the nation began to disintegrate until a push from the Ch’itan forces toppled them. The effect of the thousands of Parhae refugees upon Koryŏ is not known, but it must have been extensive, especially when we consider that this was the period of the consonaation of Koryŏ’s newly won territorities in the south of the peninsula.

20) For records of refugees arriving in Koryo, cf Koryosa, Taejo Sega (高麗史太祖世家) for these years. 
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Appendix 1
On the Founding of Parhae

Some points in the origins of Parhae are obscured in that the texts differ, contradict each other and themselves. The following is presented in an attempt to point out some of these differences. In the following account read [page76] Koguryŏ for Koryŏ.

In the Chiu-t’ang-shu, chüan 199, P’o-hai-ch’uan, we have what is considered the most reliable of all accounts of the founding of Parhae:

“The Parhae Malgal Tae Choyŏng was originally a special type of the Koryŏ. Koryŏ had already fallen (when) Choyŏng led the families subordinate to him and they followed him to live in Ying-chou. In the year Man-sui T’ung-t’ien (萬歲通天) [696] the Ch’itan Li Chin-ch’ung (李盡忠) revolted. Choyŏng together with the Malgal Kŏlsa Piu (乞四比羽) each fled the jurisdiction (of T’ang) and moving to the east, defended (themselves) with tenacity. Chin-ch’ung had already died (when) Tse-t’ien (則天) ordered the Yu-yu-ling-wei (右玉 鈴衛) General Li K’ai-ku (李楷固) to lead troops and subjugate his [the rebel Li’s] various elements. First he destroyed and killed Kŏlsa Piu, and then crossed the T’ien-men-ling (天門嶺) in order to pursue Choyŏng. uniting the multitudes of Koryŏ and Malgal, and used this (combined force) to check K’ai-ku. The Imperial Commander (王師) suffering a great defeat, escaped. Returning (he found) the Ch’itan as well as the Hsi (奚) had all submitted to the Tŏlgwŏl [Tarks] and blocked the road completely, ana Tse-t’ien was unable to subjugate (them), and Choyŏng went leading his multitudes to the east to the former lands of the Kuei-lou (桂婁). They based themselves at Mt. Tung-mou (東牟山) and erected a walled city in order to remain there.”
First, as to the origins of Choyŏng, we find in the Hsin-t’ang-shu, chüan 219, P’o-hai-ch’uan that “the founder of Parhae was originally a Songmal Malgal (粟未靺鞨) attached to Koryŏ whose surname was Tae (大)”. The Tongsa Kangmok, Vol. I, p. 333, reads: “This year the T’ang forces subdued the Ch’itan elements. The Malgal Tae Choyŏng escaped.” He is later mentioned in the same work as “...the Malgal chieftain Choyŏng.” Here there is little disagreement, and Choyŏng appears to have [page77] been a Songmal Malgal whose people were formerly under the suzerainty of Koguryŏ.
Next, the origins of Li Chin-ch’ung. That he was a Ch’itan is corroborated by the Chiu-t’ang-shu, chüan 119, Ch’itan-ch’uan which says that he was the descendant of a Ch’itan chieftain.
The beginnings of the revolt are elaborated a bit more in the Hsin-t’ang-shu, chüan 219, P’o-hai-ch’uan, which says that: “During the Wan-sui T’ung-t’ien year, the Ch’itan Chin-chung killed Chao Hui(趙翻), the Governor (都督) of Ying-chou and revolted.” The story is continued in the Chiu-t’ang-shu, chüan 119, Ch’itan-ch’uan, which says that Li Chin-ch’ung together with the Ch’itan Wan-jung (萬榮) revolted in 696. After Li’s death, Wan-jung led the rebels to capture Chi-chou where he killed the Prefect (刺史) of that city.
With regard to the death of Li Chin-ch’ung, we find that both the Hsin-t’ang-shu and the Chiu-t’ang-shu place the fall of Chi-chou in the 10th moon of 696, while the fall of Ying-chou is placed in the 5th moon of 696 by both texts. Thus, since Li Chin-ch’ung had already died prior to the seizure of Chi-chou, his death falls in the period between the 5th and 10th moons of 696, a point already made by Dr. Ikeuchi.
In the Chiu-t’ang-shu, Ch’itan-ch’uan, we read of Wan- jung’s death in the 6th moon of the following year. This would remove both Wan-jung and Chin-chung from the picture.
Next, we see that Choyŏng and Kŏlsa Piu fled during the rebellion. In the Hsin-t’ang-shu, chüan 219, P’o-hai-ch’uan, however, the story is given a bit differently, and we read “… seizing this advantage, [the rebellion] Kŏlgŏl Chungsang (乞乞仲象) together with the Malgal chieftain Kŏlsa Piu as well as various Koryo (people) [page78] went east…..” Here a new figure appears on the stage: Kŏlgŏl Chungsang, who was not mentioned in the previous account. We find further that the new account does not mention Choyŏng. However, at this point we also find that the older account in the Chiu-t’ang-shu appears to have a lacuna which is carried in the Hsin-t’ang-shu, chüan 219, P’o-hai-ch’uan, and which I have summarized freely as follows: Kŏlgŏl Chungsang, Kŏlsa Piu, and various Koryŏ peoples fled east, crossing the Liao River, established themselves to the north-east of Mt. T’aebaek (太伯山), stopping at the O-lou River (奧婁江). Then Empress Wu invested Kŏlsa Piu as the Duke of Hoguk (許國公) and Kŏlgŏl Chungsang as the Duke of Chin’guk (震國公). When Kŏlsa Piu did not follow orders, Empress Wu dispatched General Li K’ai-ku who attacked and killed him. At this time Chungsang died and his son Choyŏng was selected to lead the people. Later following his defeat of General Li, Choyŏng established a nation and proclaimed himself the King of Chin’guk.
Here we have several differences. First, in the original account given we see mention of ‘the former lands of the Keui-lou (桂婁),’ and now we see the entry of the O-lou River (奧婁江). The first account appears to be a minor gloss for I-lou (挹婁), the name of the general area concerned around the Amur River, and the name by which this area and its peoples were known at the time of the Han colonies in Korea (108 BC-313AD). The rendering of it as the O-lou River appears to be a copy error on the part of the compilers of the Hsin-t’ang-shu.
A more important difference is seen in that here again Kŏlgŏl Chungsang is mentioned and he is given as Choyŏng’s father, while the Chiu-t’ang-shu not only does not mention such a relationship, it further gives Choyŏng as the one who fled with Kŏlsa Piu and does not mention Kŏlgŏl Chungsang.
There are several possibilities, (a) Since the compilers [page79] of the Hsin-t’ang-shu were working with materials unavailable to the compilers of the Chiu-t’ang-shu, they may have filled in several lacunae and the Hsin-t’ang-shu account may be correct in saying that Chung-sang was Choyŏng’s father. Yet, (b) the Chiu-t’ang-shu version is generally preferred since it is the original account, i.e., it was compiled earlier and it would seem that such an important item would not be left out; while it is also possible that (c) both accounts are correct, and we are dealing with the same man, that is, Kŏlgŏl Chungsang is a tribal name, and he changed it to Choyŏng, and later took the surname Tae—although in the latter case, the surname Tae appears to have been a sinicized version of “khan” or “chieftain.”

Various scholars may be found to favour any of these possibilities; I do not know which is correct.

Appendix 2
Rulers of Parhae

The surname in each case is Tae (大). The nation was known as Chin’guk from 699 to 713，when the designation was changed to Parhae. The source for this information was the Haedong Yoksa, kwon 11.
	Name
	
	Canonized
	Relationship
	Year Title
	Remarks

	1. Choyong
	
	Ko Wang
	
	

	祥榮
	
	高王
	
	

	2. Muye
	
	Mu Wang
	son of 1
	Inan
	

	武藝
	
	武王
	
	仁安
	

	3. Hummu
	
	Mun Wang
	son of 2
	Taehung
	•

	欽茂
	
	文王
	
	大興
	

	4. Wonui
	
	P’ye Wang 廢王
	grandson of brother of 1
	reigned 1 year&was killed

	元義
	
	
	
	

	5. Hwayo 華與
	
	Song Wang
	son of 5a
	Chunghung 
中興
	

	
	
	成王
	
	
	

	5a. Imgoeng did not reign
	
	father of 5 brother of 6 son of 3
	

	         臨宏[page80]
	
	
	



	6. Sungnin
	　
	Kang Wang
	；son of 3 father of 7,8, and 9
	Chongyok 正歴

	           崇壤
	
	康王
	
	•

	7. Wonyu
	　
	Chong Wang
	 son of 6
	Yongdok

	           元豫
	
	定王
	
	永德

	8. On-ui
	　
	Hui Wang
	son of 6
	Chujak
	　

	           言義
	
	僖王
	
	朱雀
	

	 9. Myong
	Kan Wang
	son of 6
	T’aesi
	reigned I year & died

	ch’ung 明忠
	簡王
	
	太始
	

	   10. Insu
	　
	Son Wang
	4th lineal grandson of 11
	Konhung 建興
	　

	           仁秀
	
	宣王
	
	
	

	10a. Sindok did not reign
	　
	son of 10 father of 11
	　

	           新德
	
	
	

	11. Ijin
	　
	Wang
	son of 10a
	Hamhwa
	　

	          释震
	
	王
	
	咸和
	

	12. Konhwang 虔晃
	　
	Wang
	brother of 11
	　
	　

	
	
	王
	
	
	

	13. Hyonsok
	　
	Kyong Wang
	son of 12
	　
	　

	           玄錫
	
	景王
	
	
	

	14. Inson
	　
	Ae Wang
	son of 13
	　
	　

	            諲讓
	
	哀王
	
	
	

	14a. Kwanghyon  
	Crown Prince. Did not reign. Adopted into Koryo Dynasty ruling family as Wang Kye 王繼.

	            光顯
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Appendix 3
Parhae’s Governmental Structure

The following is after Yi Pyŏngdo’s chart in Hanguk-sa, p. 658，to which I have appended tentative English titles. T’ang China’s counterparts are in parentheses.

I . Dept of State
[image: ]

Each Bureau contained the following official posts : Secretary 卿; Senior Secretary 郞中; and Auxiliary Secretary 員外
*A lower rank than the Grand Overseer

II. The Chancellery
       宣詔省(門下省).
     Grand Minister of the Left
左相 (侍中)            Grand Overseer of the Left
左平章事                   Councillor of the Chancellery  
侍      中
     [?]
左 常 侍
     [?]
諫      議

III. The Secretariat
中臺省
Grand Minister of the Right
右相(令)                      Grand Overseer of the Right
右平章事                        Palace Secretary
       內        史                              
Secretary of Edicts
           詔       誥
 



The Transmission of Neo-Conf ucianism to Japan by Kang Hang a Prisoner of War
by  Kim Ha-Tai 
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THE TRANSMISSION OF NEO-CONFUCIANISM TO JAPAN BY KANG HANG, A PRISONER OF WAR

(This article has previously appeared in the presentational volume for Dr. L. George Paik on the occasion of his 60th birthday, Kukhak Nonch’ong (國學論叢) Seoul: Sasanggye, 1955)

If we remember that Confucianism and Buddhism were disseminated to Japan by Koreans and that Korea has been in the past the main channel through which the current of Asiatic culture from China flowed into Japan, it is not surprising to learn that the Neo-Confucianism of the Sung School was also transmitted to Japan through Korean hands. All that was needed were the historic occasion, the body of doctrine, and the person who delivered it. But what makes this transmission of Neo-Confucianism to Japan interesting is the peculiar character of these conditions, namely: (1) the Hideyoshi Invasion of 1592; (2) the newly dressed body of Neo-Confucianism which was elaborately worked out by Yi T’oegye (李退溪), perhaps the greatest Confucian scholar that Korea has produced; and (3) the deliverer being a prisoner of war, not a cultural ambassador. This historical instance is not only unusual, but it has the ironic character of the much repeated proposition that the conquered conquers the conqueror.

I. Its Historic Occasion

Its occasion was a war, a war which lasted for seven years with two waves of Japanese invaders sent by Hideyoshi Shogun (秀吉將軍) toward the end of the 16th century. Throughout history, one of the by-products of war which has a positive and enduring value, is the interchange of cultures between belligerent nations. Whether the process is the result of a deliberate attempt to implant one culture into another or a wholly unex-[page 84] pected outcome, the direct contact of diverse cultures tends to create the synthetic reconstruction of a culture. This synthetic sublimation is undoubtedly a step forward to cultural progress in the history of nations. Yet, we are not forgetful of the price that a nation or nations have to pay while the process is going on in the disturbances that the war causes. War drastically uproots the ordinary equilibrium of peace, order and the set pattern of living, thus forcing cultural specialists to proceed with their work in a most unusual situation. They at once become propagandists, hermits, prisoners of war, and refugees. But the undeniable fact is that they continue to achieve cultural products even in such circumstances, for to create is the essence of their life. The warmongers have not the slightest intention of cultural migration in war, but wartime disturbances make culture mobile, and from the standpoint of human history as a whole there is a process of cultural growth, as though there were an objective historical force which determines the course of history. In recent history we found a most eloquent example of this sort when the Nazi fanatics drove their scientists and thinkers out of their country. These men found a haven in America for their continued activities which have contributed not only to the cultural advance of American civilization but also of world culture in general.
Often it is the case that the conquered nation, ironically enough, conquers the conquerors culturally, especially if the conquered nation is advanced in cultural level. This phenomenon is not uncommon in past history. The Roman rulers persecuted the meagre and pacifist Christians only to be conquered eventually by the Christian religion. It was not an exaggeration when Tertullian said that “the blood of the Christians is the seed of the Church.” It is also a well known fact that although the Crusaders never achieved their initial objectives in the Mediaeval period, Europe has undergone social and intellectual changes due to the impact of Moslem culture. [page 85]
In the Hideyoshi invasion of Korea, 1592-1599, we find this situation in Far Eastern history. The Hideyoshi Invasion was militarily and politically a complete failure with regard to Hideyoshi’s fantastic dreams and objectives. To be sure, it brought a miserable devastation of Korean cities and villages; it cost the sacrifice of thousands of human lives; it resulted in the persistent enmity of the Koreans toward the Japanese for centuries to come. Hideyoshi’s mad ambition to overrun the peninsula, and his dream of conquering the Asiatic continent proved a futile illusion. However, viewed from the general context of Far Eastern cultural history, the invasion was indeed a reverse invasion, for it occasioned the cultural assets of Korea to flow into the islands of the invaders. The ironic fact is that the invaders shot bullets with new rifles which startled the residents of the peninsula, but Koreans returned shots of cultural bullets. Of course, this fact never entered the head of Hideyoshi, the master mind of the invasion. It is not entirely without reason that a Korean historian has remarked, “During the Imjin (壬辰) Japanese war, the Japanese studied in Korea by means of military aggression.”1)
This invasion in reverse is recognized by Japanese historians and we may glean the following facts established by them. During the Hideyoshi invasion, according to Shidehara Taira (弊原坦), Japanese generals and soldiers got hold of Korean copper movable type and blocks and brought them to Japan, dedicating them to Hideyoshi. The copper movable type was new to the Japanese at this time, although Korean type had been in use since 1403. The first publication in this migrated Korean copper movable type is known to be Daijo Ichiran (大藏一覽) published in 1614. At this time, it is recorded that the Korean copper type on hand in Japan numbered

1) Quoted in Ch’oe Nam-sŏn (崔南善), Kungmin Chosŏn Yŏksa (國民朝鲜歷史 People’s History of Korea), Seoul: Tongmyong-sa, 1947, p. 140. 
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200,000 pieces.2)
Again, the Japanese commanders were so fascinated by the excellence of Korean pottery that they were eager to seek Korean artisans ana as soon as they spotted them, they took them to Japan, making them the founders of the famous Japanese pottery which has been exquisitely developed since that time. Of this peculiar sort of hunting, Professor Sansom makes a pertinent remark: “Hideyoshi’s commanders took back to Japan with them Korean artisans and set up kilns in their domains. It is to these beginnings that we owe such celebrated wares as Satsuma, Nabeshima, Yatsushiro, Imari.”3)
One of the essential factors which enabled the Japanese Confucianists to take up Neo-Conf ucianism in the Tokugawa period was the shipment of classical books from Korea to Japan during this invasion. For example, it is reported that Shima ju Tadatsune (嵑津忠恒) brought with him 48 volumes to Japan in 1597. It is especially noteworthy that the list includes Chujasŏ Chŏryo (朱子書節要 Elements of Master Chu’s Writings), written by the Korean scholar Yi T’oegye, the representative of Korean Neo-Confucianism, a great systematizer and loyal successor of Ch’eng-Chu (程朱) philosophy.4) T’oegye’s philosophy was officially introduced to the Japanese Confucian circle

2) Shidehara Taira, Chosen Shiwa (朝鮮史話) (Essays on Korean History), Tokyo: Fusam-bo, 1924, p. 247.
3) Sansom, G.B., Japan, a Short Cultural History, Revised ed., New York： D. Appleton Century Co., 1943, pp. 439-440. See also Ch’oe Nam-sŏn, Kungmin Chosŏn Yŏksa, p. 145. The eminent Korean historian gives more specific information on this matter by furnishing the names of Korean artisans who were taken away to Japan.
4) See Oe Fumiki (大江文城), Hompo Jugaku-shi Ronko (本邦儒學史論放) (Studies on the History of Japanese Confucianism), Osaka Zenkoku Shobo, 1944. Another Japanese author, Tokutomi Joichiro (德富猪一郞), in his book Shushi Yoka (修史餘課 Notes on Historical studies) Tokyo Minyu-sha, 1931, shows that the total number of books looted by the Japanese from Korea is 2590 volumes, which became the library of Tokugawa Ieyasu (德川家康), but after his death they were distributed to various lords. 
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by Yamasaki Ansai (山崎闇齋 1618-1682) in a later time and it won the deserved admiration of many Japanese Confucianists, but it is evident that most of his works were brought to Japan during the Hideyoshi invasion. It is to be noted that the Japanese Neo-Confucianists esteem T’oegye as one of the greatest scholars in the Far East since Chu Hsi (朱熹), and regard him as the sole connecting link between Chu Hsi philosophy and Japanese Neo-Confucianism. Inoue Tetsujiro (井上哲次郞) says of him: “T’oegye is the most outstanding scholar of Korea and his influence upon the Shushi school in Japan can by no means be minimized.”5) It is no accident that T’oegye’s educational philosophy became the basis for the famous Meiji imperial edict of five articles proclaimed in 1868.

II. Its Body of Doctrines

The reigns of Injong (仁宗 1545), Myŏngjong (明宗 1546-1567) and Sŏnjo (宣祖 1568-1608) of the Yi Dynasty were the golden age of Confucian studies in the history of Korea. It was during these reigns that the philosophers Sŏ Hwadam (徐花潭 1489-1546), Yi T’oegye (1501-1570) and Yi Yulgok (李栗谷 1536-1584) were most brilliantly engaged in the interpretation and exposition of Neo-Confucianism of the Sung period (960- 1279), which is known as Sŏngnihak (性理學) (Philosophy of Nature and Reason). It is true that the Korean Neo-Confucianists were, on the whole, loyal to the Chinese Neo-Confucianists and that Chu Hsi philosophy was considered as the orthodox philosophy among Korean Confucian scholars. However, the unique contribution of the Korean Neo-Confucianists lies in their systematic exposition and their further development of the specific problems with which the Sung masters wrestled. Therefore, it must be remembered that the Chu Hsi philosophy which was transmitted to Japan was not in its original

6) Inoue Tetsujiro, Nihon Shusht Gakuha no Tetsugaku (日本朱子學彼之哲學 Philosophy of the Japanese Chu Hsi School), Tokyo: Fusambo, 1933, Preface p. 7. 
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form, but in the newly dressed form, elaborated by the Korean philosophers, particularly by Yi T’oegye.
Compared with Greek philosophy, it seems that the main emphases in Chinese philosophy came in reverse order. While Greek philosophy was first interested in cosmology and then followed with the ethical emphasis of Socrates, Plato, Aristotle and Hellenistic philosophers; in the history of Chinese philosophy the cosmological interest of the Sung period follows the ethical studies of the earlier periods. The Neo-Confucian interest in cosmology is, however, an exploration of the Taoist religion in which the cosmological views of the Yin-Yang School formed an important part, being influenced by the speculative philosophy of Ch’anism (禪學). Thus Professor Fung Yu-lan writes, “Neo-Confucianism may be said to be the logical development of Ch’anism.”6)
The speculative discussion of Neo-Confucianism centres around two basic concepts: ch’i (氣) (the vital force or matter) and li (理) (reason or principle).7) These concepts are introduced to account for the generation and changes of the universe. In an attempt to explain the process of cosmic evolution, the Neo-Confucianists find their clue in the “appendices” of the Book of Changes. In the “Appendix III” of the Book of Changes, it is said: “In li there is the Supreme Ultimate, which produces the two forms.” Chang Tsai (張載 1020-1077) identifies ch’i with the Supreme Ultimate. Ch’i (ki in Korean pronunciation) may be interpreted something like “matter” in Aristotle’s philosophy insofar as it is the principle of concretion and individuation. According to Chang Tsai’s view, the generation and changes of the universe are explained in terms of the condensation and dispersion of

6) Fung Yu-lan, A Short History of Chinese Philosophy, New York: The Macmillan Co., 1948, p. 268.
7) Professor Chan Wing-tsit of Dartmouth College translates ch’i as “the vital force” and li as “reason” (see Philosophy East and West, edited by Charles A. Moore, Princeton University Press, 1944, p. 56). Professor Fung Yu-lan translates them “matter” and “principle” respectively. 
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the ch’i in much the same way that the world is the condensation and rarefaction of the air in the philosophy of Anaximenes, one of the Milesian philosophers. However, the condensation of the ch’i fails to explain the reason for producing things under different categories. Thus the subsequent Neo-Confucanists were led to introduce eternal forms which they thought would mould individual things as they are, and the eternal forms are called li (reason or principle). Ch’eng Yi (程頣 1033- 1106) and Chu Hsi (1130-1200) thought that the universe as we see it was a result not only of the ch’i but also of the li. They seem to recognize Aristotelian “form” as the principle of individuation. In as much as Aristotle’s “form” is derived from Plato’s “idea”, Professor Fung is right in saying that the philosophical system of Chu Hsi is to be regarded as a school of Platonic Ideas.8) In interpreting Chu Hsi philosophy, Professor Fung writes: “Different categories of things exist, because the condensation of the ch’i takes place in different ways in accordance with different li.”9) In the words of Chu Hsi, “For the bricks of these steps (walking on the steps) there is the li of bricks. For the bamboo chair (sitting down), there is the li of the bamboo chair. You say that dried and withered things have no life or vitality, yet among them, too, there are none that do not have li”10) Li, in the Chu Hsi philosophy, is the particular nature of a thing, in the same way that Aristotle defines soul, which is the form of a body, as the function of a particular body. Li again, is not only prior to its manifestation in things but is also eternal. In this sense, Chu Hsi regards li as the Supreme Ultimate, as Plato’s Idea of the Good and Aristotle’s idea of God are the supreme concepts. From this point of view, Chu Hsi’s philosophy seemes to be akin to the metaphysical dualism of Plato.
However, Chu Hsi’s metaphysical position is not altogether clear. That he may be also classified as a

8) Fung Yu-lan, Ibid., p. 294.
9) Ibid., p. 285.
10) Quoted by Fung Yu-lan. Ibid., p. 296. 
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monist can be easily detected from the following passage: “There is but one Supreme Ultimate, which is received by the individuals of all things. This one Supreme Ultimate is received by each individual in its entirety and undivided.”11) It is difficult to classify Chu Hsi conclusively as either a dualist or a monist. Perhaps, he swings between these two metaphysical standpoints and comes out somewhere close to Hegel’s Objective Idealism. At any rate, Chu Hsi believes that ch’i and li are inseparable principles of the universe. He writes: “In the universe, there are li and ch’i. The li is the tao that pertains to ‘what is above shapes,’ and is the source from which all things are produced. The ch’i is the material (instrument) that pertains to ‘what is within shapes’ and is the means whereby things are produced. Hence men or things, at the moment of their production, must receive this li in order that they may have a nature of their own. They must receive this ch’i in order that they may have their bodily form.”12) Irrespective of the question of whether he is a monist or a dualist, it is clear that Chu Hsi recognizes the dual aspect of the creation of the universe. Still there are many questions that arise from his philosophical position. First of all, there is the question of whether these two principles are absolutely heterogeneous, or homogeneous elements of the universe. And if we admit the operation of these two principles, we are forced to ask the question as to the relative priority of li and ch’i. To this latter question, Chu Hsi’s opinion is not uniform. He seems to think, at one moment, that li is prior to its manifestations in the physical world, but at other moment, he insits that li is never separable from ch’i.
This ambiguity of Chu Hsi philosophy is precisely the point of departure for the Korean Neo-Confucianists. Korean Neo-Confucianists attempted to solve the problems of li and ch’i as logically as possible. So Hwadam, for example, was a monist who held that li and ch’i are

11) Ibid., p. 298.
12) Ibid., p. 299. 
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not separable at all. On the other hand, T’oegye and Yulgok adhered to the dualism of li and ch’i.13)
There is another aspect of Chu Hsi philosophy which kindled a serious discussion of the Korean Neo-Confucianists. It is Chu Hsi’s application of li and ch’i to the study of human nature and mind. In discussing this problem, Korean scholars carried the logical development of Chu Hsi philosophy further and showed a great advance over the discussion in Chu Hsi’s own philosophy. According to Chu Hsi, the li of humanity is universally present in human nature and li for all men is the same, but it is the ch’i that makes them different. Ch’i, endowed with the physical nature of man, is the principle of constituting an individual mind. Since there is li in man, human nature is, as Mencius thought, ultimately good. Therefore, the sadan (四端 Four Beginnings, that is, human-heartedness, righteousness, propriety and wisdom), which Mencius spoke of, belong to li. But the origin of evil can, according to Chu Hsi, be traced back to the physical endowment for which the ch’i is responsible.
T’oegye takes up this problem of good and evil in man and expounds it on strictly dualistic lines. According to T’oegye, the sadan stem out of the li, and the ch’iljŏng (七情 Seven Feelings, that is, joy, anger, sorrow, fear, love, evil, avarice), stem out of the ch’i. This dualistic exposition started off the famous controversy of Yi T’oegye and Ki Kobong (奇高峰) through correspondence, which remains one of the classic discussions in the history of Korean philosophy. In the course of this debate through correspondence, T’oegye seems to have modified his view to the effect that “the Four Beginnings stem out of li but accompanied by ch’i, and the Seven Feelings stem out of ch’i but are superimposed by li (四端 理發而氣隨之, 七情氣發而理乘之.).” Toegye seems to have

13) Hyŏn Sang-yun (玄相允), in his Choson Yuhak-sa (朝鲜儒學史 History of Korean Confucianism) gives the six greatest Neo-Confucianists. classifying Yi Toegye, Yi Yulgok, and Yi Hanju (李寒洲). as dualists, and Sŏ Hwadam, Ki Nosa (奇通沙), and Im Nongmun (任鹿門) as monists.  
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arrived at this conclusion independently of preceding philosophers,14) but he was essentially in agreement with Chu Hsi’s dualistic thinking in that he persistently regarded human nature as genuinely good because it is derived from the li. Although Yi Yulgok’s philosophy remained within the scope of Chu Hsi philosophy, he developed the theory of mind further beyond the dualistic views of Chu Hsi and T’oegye by pointing out logical contradictions involved in their systems. Over against the emphasis on the priority of li, Yulgok denied the existence of li that is divorced from ch’i. Yul-gok’s monistic view is rigorously defended in his classic correspondence with Song Ugye (成牛溪) who followed the dualistic position of Chu Hsi and T’oegye. In Yulgok’s philosophy, it may be said that the Platonic dualism of Chu Hsi and T’oegye was modified in the form of Hegelian Objective Idealism.
Thus, Neo-Confucianism was transmitted to Japan by way of the Korean peninsula and it was actually Chu Hsi philosophy in the garb of T’oegye and Yulgok, in whose philosophies songnihak (philosophy of nature and reason) reached its highest logical development.

III. Its Emissary

In all cultural interchanges between two nations, there must be a cultural emissary who plays the noble role of transmitting an idea or thought. In the transmission of Neo-Confucianism to Japan, there was a historical point of contact made under curious circumstances between Kang Hang (姜沆 1567-1618), a prisoner of war, and Fujiwara Seika(藤原惶窩 1561-1619), the founder of the Kyo Gaku (京學), the first of the Shushi (朱子) philosophical schools in Japan of the Tokugawa

14) See Takahashi Toru (高摘亨) Richo Jugaku-shi ni okeru Shuriha Shugiha no Hattatsu (李朝儒學史に於 のる 主理派主氣派の發達 Development of the school of Li and Ch’i in the History of Confucianism in the Yi Dynasty) in Chosen Shim Bunka no Kenkyu (朝鲜支那文化の研究 Studies of Korean and Chinese Culture), Tokyo: Toko Shoin, 1929. 
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period. It is ironic that Kang Hang was not a cultural ambassador sent to Japan with pomp and splendour, but was a victim of his nation’s destiny, being taken to Japan as a prisoner of war during the second invasion of the Imjin War. In spite of this unusual circumstance, it is interesting to learn that there existed an intellectual rapport between Kang Hang, a scholar of no mean ability, and Fujiwara Seika, a serious student of Neo-Conf ucianism.
Historians do not seem to realize the importance of this contact between Kang Hang and Fujiwara Seika, other than the acknowledgement that they met by chance in Kyoto. However, it was more than a fortuitous encounter of kindred minds. The significance of this contact lies in that Japanese Confucian scholars became better acquainted with Chu Hsi philosophy through the T’oegye philosophy which was introduced by this prisoner of war. H. B. Hulbert, in his Korean History, gives a brief mention of Kang Hang as a Korean teacher in Japan during the war. Hulbert writes: “He became a teacher of Chinese and had a large following of students who treated him very well and supported him in comfortable style. At the end of the war they clubbed together and bought a boat into which they put this man with all his goods and sent him back to Korea.”15) Hulbert adds that Kang Hang, upon his return, wrote his experiences in the book known as Kan Yang Nok (看羊錄 Relating of Adventures among Sheep, a sarcastic pleasantry), and that Kang Hang was familiar with the Japanese language. Hulbert however, does not give the details of Kang Hang’s experiences in Japan which we find in Kan Yang Nok.16)

15) Hulbert, H.B., The Korean Review, vol. 3, no. 4, April, 1903, p. 190.
16) Kang Hang’s literary works are known as Suŭn Jip (睡隠集 Collected Works of Suŭn—his pen name), which comprises four volumes, of which the third is Kan Yang Nok. The original title of the book was Kŏn Ch’a Rok (巾車鈴 Relating of Prisoner’s Chariot), but his disciples later named it Kan Yang Nok, recalling the story of Somu of the former Han Dynasty, more than two thousand years ago, who went to the northern countries as an envoy, but was imprisoned. Later, he was sent again to the Northern Sea to tend sheep. After 19 years of labour and hardship, he came home without betraying his king, 
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In this book, Kang Hang writes of his acquaintance with Fujiwara Seika who had helped him escape from his imprisonment and return to Korea .The book also describes Japanese climate and myths, and presents Kang Hang’s understanding of Japanese history, language, geography and the background of the Japanese commanders who fought in Korea. It also contains his observations on Japanese castles, fortresses, the strength and weakness of the Japanese army samurai, feudal lords, and farmers. Kang Hang reports that Japan suffered a great deal because of wars and that the Japanese would not dare to build their houses solidly because of fire caused by wars, and that four out of ten of the male population were Buddhist monks for the obvious reason that they did not want to be involved in wars. One interesting passage is his description of Hideyoshi. He reports that Hideyoshi was a dwarf with monkey face (his pen name was Saru Ko—monkey’s son). He had six fingers on his right hand, so he cut one of them off. He won the confidence of Nobunaga, and secured prominence in Japanese politics. He was apparently a shrewd man, for he bought merchandise at a reasonable price for Nobunage, but what actually happened was that he partially paid for the merchandise with his own money. Kan Yang Nok also includes a memorial to the Korean king, presenting Kang’s conviction that the Japanese war lords were not in a position to re-invade Korea in the immediate future.
Here we have a typical Korean gentleman and scholar, even if he was a prisoner of war. Kang Hang was a man of honour with a sense of pride and a feeling of patriotism. Although he was a scholar and poet, he fought the war as passionately as any warrior. His sense of honour as a Confucian scholar prompted him to attempt suicide when he was caught by the enemy. That he resigned his government post upon his return from Japan after having been a prisoner of war indicates the sense of shame which emerged from his Confucian conscience. Kan Yang Nok reveals his sincerity and integrity as a Korean, his enthusiasm for learning, his keen [page 95] observation and sound judgment in understanding Japa--nese culture.
Kang Hang was born at Chinju (晋州) in South Kyŏngsang Province in the year 1567, of a family of nobility and scholars. He studied under Sŏng Hun (成渾), Master Ugye (牛溪), who was a contemporary and follower of T’oegye. Philosophically speaking, Kang Hang was indirectly a disciple of T’oegye. Passing the national examination at the age of twenty one, he made his name known as a gifted poet. During the Hideyoshi invasion, he obtained a government post as an officer in the Board of Justice, the title of which was Chwarang (佐郞). In the spring of 1597, he came home from the capital on vacation and when Hideyoshi sent his second invasion in the summer of the same year, he became an assistant commander to Yi Kwang-jŏng (李光庭) for the defence of Namwŏn (南原). When Namwŏn fell into the hands of the Japanese, he escaped to Yŏnggwang (靈光) where, with Kim Sang-jun (金尙儁), he recruited several hundred volunteers. But knowing that he could not possibly resist the swarming invaders, he got on board a ship with his family and relatives with the intention of joining Admiral Yi Sun-sin’s (李舜臣) fleet. He set out first with two boats: one was occupied by his father and uncles, and the other by Kang Hang with his brothers and the immediate members of his family. In the course of this voyage, he lost sight of his father’s boat, and while he was trying to find his father, he met enemy ships. In an attempt to commit suicide, he took off his clothes and plunged into the water, but the water being shallow, he was finally caught by the enemy. The captor was Sado Nobushichiro (佐渡信士郞), lord of Iyo (伊豫), who spared his life, for Kang Hang was an official of the Korean government. He was kept at Sunch’ŏn (順川) as a prisoner for about nine days, during which time, it is reported, he refused to take water and soybean sauce. Then, Kang Hang and his family were sent to Japan. After leaving Sunch’ŏn, they arrived at Ozu (大津) castle in the province of Iyo, where they stayed for eight days. [page 96]
It was perhaps due to his patriotic sense that he secretly copied Japanese official titles and Japanese maps with the help of a monk at Iyo. In June 1598 he was sent to Osaka (大坂) and in July to Fushimi Jo (伏見城) which was Hideyoshi’s new capital, Kang Hang stayed there until the spring of 1600 when he managed to return to Korea.17) It was during this period that Kang Hang made the acquaintance of a monk in Sogokuji (相國寺), by the name of Jun (蕣), who was none other than Fujiwara Seika. Upon his return to Korea, with a feeling of humiliation for the fact that he had been captured by the enemy, he resigned his government post and confined himself to a country house and spent the rest of his life in teaching youth until his death in 1618.
As in the economic law of supply and demand, in a philosophical exchange between one person or nation and another, we must recognize the reciprocity between the transmitter and the receiver. In the transmisson of Neo-Confucianism to Japan, Fujiwara Seika’s sincere and enthusiastic desire for mastering Chu Hsi philosophy must not be ignored. What was the intellectual climate of Fujiwara Seika’s time in Japan? After several centuries of the Dark Age of war and confusion, what was needed most in Japan to bring about peace and order was a new principle of politics, economics and education, which Buddhism had not been able to supply before the Tokugawa period.18) Japanese scholars found this new principle in the Neo-Confucianism of Sung and Ming, for it appealed

17) As for the duration of his stay in Japan as the prisoner of war, I have followed Kang Hang’s own account revealed in his Kan Yang Nok. However, Inoue Tetsujiro, in his Nihon Shushi Gakuha no Tetsugaku, reports that he was naturalized and lived in Tatsuno (龍野). Chosenshi (朝鲜史) reports that he was in Japan more than ten years (Chosenshi, the fifth part, 4th volume, p. 345). In view of the general situation of his time, the memorial he presented to the Korean king, and his travelogue handed down to us, his own account of the duration of his stay in Japan can reasonably be accepted.
18) See Fukushima Kashizo (ed), Kinsei Nihon no Jugaku ( 近世曰 本の儒學Japanese Confucianism in the Modern Period), Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, 1939, Introduction. 
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to the Japanese temperament because it was equally as speculative as Buddhism and furthermore, it offered much needed principles. It is not surprising to discover that Japanese Confucian scholars in the early Tokugawa period received their instruction from Buddhist monks. But the Neo-Confucian scholars lacked real teachers who could properly interpret this new philosophy to their satisfaction. It was precisely because of this situation that Fujiwara Seika, a Buddhist monk, was converted to Neo-Confucianism and attempted to go to China for instruction.
Fujiwara Seika, whose Buddhist name was Jun and who was styled Myojuin (妙壽院), entered the temple of Sogoku at the age of 18. At the age of 21 he became a friend and teacher of Akamatsu Hiromichi (赤松廣通) the lord of Tatsuno and a lover of Chinese classics. One of the chief motives for his conversion to Neo-Confucianism may be attributed to his meeting the three Korean envoys who went to Japan at the request of Hideyoshi two years before the outbreak of war, and who remained at Daitokuji (大德寺) for five months bef ore they were finally received by Hideyoshi. Seika visited them frequently there and communicated with them by writing and exchanged poems with them.19) From the fact that one of the three Korean envoys was Kim Sŏng-il (金誠一)20) who was a student of T’oegye, it may be inferred that Seika first heard about Neo-Confucianism and T’oegye philosophy from them. This casual taste of Neo-Confucianism stimulated Seika’s appetite for the mastery of this philosophy. Seika, eager to learn Chu Hsi philosophy at first hand, set out for Ming China by ship, but unfortunately he met a storm at sea ana gave up his voyage. Coming back to Kyoto (京都) he locked himself in a room and engaged himself in adding

19) See Nagata Gonjiro (長田權次郞), Tokugawa Sambyakunen-shi (德川三百年史 Three Hundred Year History of the Tokugawa Period), Vol, 2. Tokyo: Shoka-bo, 1905.
20) The other two Korean envoys were Hwang Yun-gil (黃允吉) and Hŏ Cham-ji (許成之). 
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Japanese readings to the Four Books and Five Classics. The failure of his attempt to go to China enabled him to meet Kang Hang, with whose help he was finally able to quench his thirst for Neo-Confucianism. It was the second year of the Keicho (慶長) era, 1597, when Seika first met Hang at Akamatsu’s home. Kang Hang was greatly impressed by Seika when he first knew him, for Hang is said to have remarked, “I have not heard of a man like Seika in three hundred years of Korean history”.21) But the admiration must have been mutual, because Seika asked Akamatsu to take Kang Hang in as his house guest in spite of the fact that he was a prisoner of war. Furthermore, Seika asked Hang to write a preface to his, new compilation of the Four Books and Five Classics in the light of Sung Neo-Confucianism, an honour generally reserved for a competent scholar if not one’s own teacher. It seems apparent that they enjoyed most fruitful hours together during which time Kang Hang expounded and discussed Neo-Confucianism and T’oegye philosophy.
Seika’s interest in and enthusiasm for Neo-Con- fucianism are clearly manifested in his written statement to Kang Hang when he sought a preface by Kang. He wrote: “Japanese Confucian scholars, from ancient times to this day, are familiar with the Han and T’ang schools of Confucianism but are ignorant of the philosophy of the Sung scholars. Since I had no teacher from my childhood, I read the Chinese Classics all alone. I said to myself: Confucian scholars of Han and T’ang do not pass beyond the stage of writing and memorizing the Books without truly understanding the Holy Learning, and if it were not for the Sung Masters, the continuity of the Holy Learning would have been extremely doubtful. Lord Akamatsu in now freshly compiling the Four Books and Five Classics, asked me to add the Japanese readings at the side of the characters in the light of Sung philosophy, hoping that posterity may be benefitted by it. This is the original book, interpreted by Sung philosophy”.22)

21) Nagata Gonjiro, Ibid., p. 3 
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Kang Hang was not only asked to write a preface to this book, but also was actually engaged in copying the book for Seika.23) Kang Hang also edited the following of Seika’s works: Shi Sho Ka Ki (是尙嵩記) Seisai Ki (惶齋記) and Gokyo Batsu (五經跃). In Kang Hang’s preface to Seika’s Bunsho Tatsudoku Koryo (門章達德綱領), Kang Hang’s estimate of Seika’s personality and scholarly attitude is eloquently given. He said: “Because the King’s power did not prevail and bandits acted with impunity, Kenbu (儉夫 Seika’s other name) enjoyed himself in solitude from his childhood. During my three years of stay in Japan, I have known the man and his learning since I first associated with him in the capital. His greatness is hidden, for he wishes not to be heard........ He welcomes the good with wonder, but he dodges evil like the wind. He pays no attention to what is not in conformity with the Way, even though it be a man of power and of nobility.........	His learning is not confined to shallowness; he learned from no teacher. He understands the eternal truth by reading the Eternal Classics...... The fundamental method of his learning is to subject everything to the Heavenly Reason by checking one’s whimsical thoughts.”24)
Kang Hang’s own account of his relationship with Seika in Kan Yang Nok is vivid and charming. The following passages tell of Kang Hang’s acquaintance with Seika and Akamatsu, and relate his account of his return to Korea.
“Again, there was a Buddhist monk by the name of Jun, who is a descendant of the House of Kyogoku Komon

22) Nishimura Tenshu (西村天囚), Nihon Sogaku shi (日本宋學史 History of Japanese Neo-Confucianism), Osaka: Sugimoto Ryoko-do, 1909, p. 282, Seika’s claim to originality in interpreting the classics in the light of the Sung masters is questioned by Japanese scholars. Inoue comments that it was not Seika, but Giyo (岐陽) Keian (桂庵) and Nambo (南浦) who first gave Sung interpretations to the Four Books.
23) The Four Books that Kang Hang originally copied are still preserved in Naigaku Bunko (內閣文庫) See Oe Fumiki’s Honpo Jugakushi Ronko, p. 43.
26) Inoue Tetsujiro, Nihon Shusht Gakuha no Tetsugaku, p. 17-8. 
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(京極黃門定家), and a teacher of Akamatsu Hiromichi, the lord of Tajima (但馬) Being a brilliant student, he understood the classics well and excelled in writing. His nature being upright, he was not easily swayed. Ieyasu, hearing of his talent and wisdom, offered him a house in the Japanese capital and granted him two thousand koku of rice annually. But Jun, refusing to accept this grant, remained with Hiromichi.

Hiromichi is a descendant of the emperor Kanmu (桓武) in the 9th generation. He was so ardently devoted to the study of the Chinese Classics that he never went about without carrying books in his hands. But he was slow to understand and without the help of a Japanese translation he was not able to read a single line.25)

“Jun once said: ‘Never before were the Japanese people more miserable than they are today. If the Koreans with Ming soldiers were to console our people and punish the war criminals, and if you were to march on the Japanese islands, announcing through the captured Japanese and interpreters that you were waging the war in order to free the sufferings of the Japanese people, then even Shirakawa Seki, the Eastern edge of the island, would not be too far to take. However, if your soldiers were to repeat the Japanese method of killing and looting, you would not even be able to cross the sea to Tsushima”.

Again, he enquired of me about the civil service examinations, books and authors of our country. Hereupon, I gave him information concerning the civil service examinations and scholars of our country. The monk said with a sigh: It is regrettable that I was born in Japan at this time, instead of being born in either China or Korea. Toward the end of March in the year 1591, I was on board a snip at Satsuma, desiring to go to China. Unfortunately, I was taken ill and returned to the capital. When I recovered, I wanted to go to Korea to continue my studies, but then war broke out between Japan

25) In Kan Yang Nok this passage is given in smaller type. It is probably meant to be a note or an explanation of the preceding passage 
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and your country. So I was not able to go across the sea to see your great country. And I take it also to be my fate.’
“Again, he said: ‘Japanese generals are all bandits and Hiromichi alone possesses a human heart. While there were originally no rituals in regard to mourning in Japan, Hiromichi alone observed the ritual of three-year mourning. He admired the rites of T’ang and of Korea, and he wanted to imitate their ways of dressing and eating and other details of life. Therefore, although he lives in Japan, he is not a Japanese.’
“Finally, I was led to serve and talk to Hiromichi. Hiromichi told us that he was not on good terms with Kiyomasa (淸正) and Sado (佐渡) and that he would not let Sado know that he had known Korean aristocratic prisoners of war. He hired us to write the Classics in order to help us prepare a fund for our return trip to Korea.26)

He also obtained the book of the Five Ceremonies from our country and he erected a Conf ucian temple. Again, he had Korean mourning costumes and hats made, and ordered his inferiors to learn sacrificial ceremonials.

“On the 9th day of the second moon of this year (1600) Sado, in compliance with the order given by Ieyasu, came to Fushimi. Kim Kyŏng-hang (圣景抗), a Taegu prisoner, knew how to write the Japanese language. So we asked him to write a letter to Sado in Japanese, which read as follows: ‘Ten months of our lives are no benefit to you. Our four years of stay in prison is not equal to death. Perchance, if you do not wish to kill us, we beg that we might be permitted to go out of the gate, otherwise, living is not what we desire.’ Hereupon a Japanese monk, Keian (慶安), strongly advised Sado to let us go free: he said, ‘There is no difference between them and us in a man’s longing for parents and home. Perhaps it would be better for you

26) It is recorded that Kang Hang earned 50 (or 80) silver pieces with which he bought a ship. 
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to allow them to go home.’ Hence, Sado immediately set us free. I gathered Koreans together and promised them to take them home if we could collect enough moneys to buy a ship and food supplies. However, they were afraid that some unexpected misfortune might befall us in our attempt to travel a thousand ri alone as foreigners in a tiger’s cave. Therefore, I went to Monk Jun and Lord Hiromichi for their help. Hiromichi secured a man who would look after us and show us the sea route to Tsushima.
“Finally, along with ten members of my family and thirty eight others, I got on board a ship on the second day of the fourth moon, and left the Japanese capital. However, the ship was poorly built and the wind was disadvantageous, so we arrived at Pusan on the 9th day of the fifth moon.”27)	‘
It was in the year 1600 that Kang Hang returned home from his unusual experiences to Japan. It has already been stated that upon his return, he resigned his government post ana confined himself to his home in southern Korea, devoting himself to the education of youth. It was due to his genuine patriotic duty to inform his countrymen about the Japanese situation that he wrote his travelogue, Kan Yang Nok, which includes a memorial to the Korean king to the effect that the Japanese were not in a position to re-attack Korea. It may be added that his prediction was a correct one for at least another three centuries.
All in all, our main interest lies in the fact that Kang Hang made a great impression upon Fujiwara Seika in the process of establishing himself as the founder of the Kyo Gaku, in spite of his uncomfortable status. In doing so, Kang Hang introduced T’oegye philosophy to the Japanese, which played an important role in the history of Japanese Confucianism. Thus, the transmission of Neo-confucianism to Japan was carried out as a by-

27) Kan Yang Nok, pp. 62-64. 
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product of the unprovoked Hideyoshi Invasion. It may be concluded that the power of ideas and philosophies finds mysterious and unpredictable ways to spread its life beyond national boundaries.
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CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS OF THE KOREA BRANCH OF THE ROYAL ASIATIC SOCIETY CONSTITUTION
(As approved at a General Meeting of the Society on 8 June 1960)

NAME AND OBJECT

Art. I The Name of the Society shall be THE KOREA BRANCH OF THE ROYAL ASIATIC SOCIETY.
Art. II The Object of the Society shall be to investigate the Arts, History, Literature and Customs of Korea and the neighbouring countries.
 
MEMBERSHIP

Art. III The Society shall consist of Honorary, Life and OrdinaryMembers.
Art. IV Honorary Members shall be admitted on special grounds to be determined in each case by the Council. They shall not be required to pay either Entrance Fee or Annual Subscription.
Art. V (a) Ordinary Members shall pay on their election an Entrance Fee of Five Dollars and the Subscription for the current year. Those resident in Korea shall pay an Annual Subscription of Five Dollars. Those not resident in Korea shall pay an Annual Subscription of Three Dollars.
(b) Ordinary members may become Life Members by making a single payment of Ninety-five dollars in addition to the Entrance Fee or after having paid annual dues for Twenty years.
Art. VI The Annual Subscription shall be payable in advance on the first day of January. The first Annual Subscription of Members elected in the last quarter of any year shall cover the Subscription for the following year.
Art. VII Every Member shall, subject to the provisions of subheading (g) of Article XIII of the By-laws, be entitled to receive the Publications of the Society during the period of his Membership.

OFFICERS
Art. VIII The Officers of the Society shall be :  [page106]
A President;
A Vice-President;
A Corresponding Secretary;
A Recording Secretary;
A Treasurer;
A Librarian.

COUNCIL
Art. IX The affairs of the Society shall be managed by a Council composed of the Officers for the current year, together with three Ordinary Members.

MEETINGS
Art. X General Meetings of the Society and Meetings of the Council shall be held as the Council shall appoint and announce.
Art. XI The Annual Meeting of the Society shall be held in December. At this Meeting the Council shall present its Annual Report, which shall include the Treasurer’s Statement of Accounts.
Art. XII Twenty-five Members shall form a quorum at an Annual Meeting and four Members at a Council Meeting. The Chairman shall have a casting vote. At all Meetings of the Society or Council, in the absence of the President and Vice-President, a Chairman shall be elected by the Meeting.
Art. XIII The General Meetings of the Society shall be open to the public.

ELECTIONS
Art. XIV Applicants for membership who pay the required fees shall become members of the society unless a majority of the Council or a quorum thereof shall determine otherwise in any instance.
Art. XV The Officers and other Members of the Council shall be elected by ballot at the Annual Meeting and shall hold office for one year.
Art. XVI The Council shall fill all vacancies in its Membership that may occur between Annual Meetings
.
PUBLICATIONS
Art. XVII The Publications of the Society shall contain:—(1) Such papers and notes read before the Society as the Council shall select, and an abstract of the discussion thereon. (2) The Minutes of the General Meetings, with a list of Officers and of Honorary, Life and Ordinary Members. (3) The Reports and  [page107] Accounts presented at the last Annual Meeting. The Council shall have power to accept for publication papers or other contributions of scientific value, the technical or voluminous nature of which does not admit of their being read at a Meeting of the Society.
Art. XVIII Authors of published papers shall be supplied with twenty extra copies gratis by the Society or with more at the discretion of the Council.
Art. XIX The Council shall have power to publish in separate form papers, documents, or books which it considers of sufficient interest or importance.
Art. XX Papers accepted by the Council shall become the property of the Society and shall not be published without the consent of the Council.
Art. XXI Acceptance of a paper by the Council for reading at a General Meeting of the Society does not bind the Society to its publication afterwards, but when the Council decides not to publish any paper accepted for reading, that paper shall be restored to the author without any restriction as to its subsequent use, but a copy of it shall be kept on file.

MAKING OF BY-LAWS
Art. XXII The Council shall have power to make and amend Bylaws for its own use and the Society’s guidance, provided that these are not inconsistent with the Constitution; and a General Meeting, by a majority vote, may suspend the operation of any By-law.

AMENDMENTS
Art. XXIII None of the foregoing articles of the Constitution can be amended except at a General Meeting by a vote of two-thirds of the Members present, and then only if due notice of the proposed amendment has been given at a previous General Meeting.

BY-LAWS
GENERAL MEETINGS
Art. I The Session of the Society shall coincide with the Calendar Year, the Annual Meeting taking place in December.
Art. II Ordinarily the Session of the Society shall consist of nine monthly General Meetings, of which the Annual [page108] Meeting shall be considered one, but it may include a  greater or less number whenever the Council finds reason for such a change.                                                                                                      Art. III The place and time of meeting shall be fixed by the Council.
Art. IV Timely notice of each General Meeting shall be sent to every Member resident in Seoul or its vicinity.

ORDER OF BUSINESS AT GENERAL MEETINGS
Art. V The Order of Business at General Meetings shall be: —
(1) The reading and discussion of Papers.
(2) Communications from the Council (Reports, etc.)
(3) Miscellaneous Business.
The above order shall be observed except when the Chairman shall rule otherwise.
At Annual Meetings the Order of Business shall include, in addition to the foregoing matters:—
(1) The reading of the Council’s Annual Report and Treasurer’s Account and submission of these for the action of the Meeting upon them.
(2) The Election of Officers and Council as directed by the Constitution.

MEETINGS OF COUNCIL
Art. VI The Council shall appoint its own Meetings,
Art. VII Timely notice of each Council Meeting shall be sent by post to the address of every Member of the Council. A statement of any extraordinary business to be transacted shall, whenever possible, be attached to the notice.

ORDER OF BUSINESS AT COUNCIL MEETINGS
Art. VIII The Order of Business at Council Meetings shall be:
(1) Action upon the Minutes of the last Meeting.
(2) Reports (a) of the Corresponding Secretary.
(b) of the Publication Committee.
(c) of the Treasurer.
(d)of the Librarian.
(e) of Special Committees.
(3) Business concerning Membership or expanding the membership list.
(4) Miscellaneous Business.
(5) Acceptance of papers to be read bef ore the Society.
(6) Arrangement of Business for the next General Meeting. 
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PUBLICATION COMMITTEE
Art. IX There shall be a Standing Committee called the Publication Committee, composed of the Secretaries, the Librarian and any Members appointed by the Council. It shall ordinarily be presided over by the Corresponding Secretary. It shall superintend the publication of the Transactions of the Society and the re-issue of parts out of print. It shall report periodically to the Council and act under its authority. It shall audit the accounts for printing the Transactions. It shall not allow authors’ manuscripts or printers’ proofs to go out of its custody for other than the Society’s purposes.

AUDIT
Art. X  Before the Annual Meeting of each year the Treasurer’s Statement of Account shall be audited by two Members appointed by the President.

DUTIES OF CORRESPONDING SECRETARY
Art. XI The Corresponding Secretary shall—
(a) Conduct the correspondence of the Society.
(b) Arrange for and issue notices of Council Meetings and see that all business is brought duly and in order before each Meeting.
(c) Attend every Council Meeting or give notice to the Recording Secretary that he will be absent.
(d) Notify new Officers and Members of the Council of their appointment and send them each a copy of the By-laws.
(e) Unite with the Recording Secretary, Treasurer and Librarian in drafting the Annual Report of the Council and with the other Members of the Publication Committee in preparing for publication all matters as defined in article XVII of the Constitution.
(f) Act as Chairman of the Publication Committee and take first charge of authors’ manuscripts and proofs struck off for use at Meetings.

DUTIES OF RECORDING SECRETARY
Art. XII The Recording Secretary shall—
(a) Keep Minutes of General Meetings and Meet- [page110]
ings of the Council.
(b) Make arrangements for General Meetings as instructed by the Council and notify Members thereof.
(c) Attend every General Meeting and every Meeting of the Council, or, in case of absence, depute the Corresponding Secretary or some other Member of the Council to perform his duties and shall forward to him the Minute- Book.
(d) Act for the Corresponding Secretary in the latter’s absence.
(e) Assist in drafting the Annual Report of the Council and in preparing for publication the Reports of the General Meetings and the Constitution and By-laws.
(f) Act on the Publication Committee.
(g) Furnish to the Press abstracts of Proceedings at General Meetings as directed by the Council.

DUTIES OF TREASURER
Art. XIII The Treasurer shall—
(a) Take charge of the Society’s funds and stock of publications in accordance with the instructions of the Council.
(b) Pay out all moneys for the Society under the direction of the Council, making no single payment in excess of Fifty Dollars without special vote of the Council.
(c) Attend every Council Meeting and report when requested upon the money affairs of the Society, or, in case of absence, depute some Member of the Council to act for him, furnishing him with such information and documents as may be necessary.
(d) Apply to the President to appoint auditors and present to the Council the Annual Balance Sheet duly audited before the date of the Annual Meeting.
(e) Present to the Council at its November Meeting a statement of the stock of publications possessed by the Society.
(f) Maintain an uptodate list of Members, collect subscriptions, and notify Ordinary Members of their unpaid dues in January and June.
(g) Send copies of publications to all Honorary and [page111]
Life Members and to all Ordinary Members     	not in arrears for dues, and to all Societies
and Journals whose names appear on the list of Exchanges.
(h) Arrange with booksellers and others for the sale of publications as directed by the Council, send the required number of each issue to the appointed agents, and collect from them the money received for the sale of the Society’s publications.

DUTIES OF LIBRARIAN
Art. XIV The Librarian shall—
(a) Supervise and periodically inspect the Society’s library now in the custody of the Korean Research Centre and shall ascertain that it is constantly available to members and that any new additions to it are catalogued.
(b) Carry out the regulations of the Council for the use and lending of the Society’s books.
(c) Arrange for exchange of Publications with other Societies and Journals as directed by the Council.
(d) Draw up a list of the exchanges and of additions to the Library for insertion in the Council’s Annual Report.
(e) Make additions to the Library as instructed by the Council.
(f) Act on the Publication Committee.
(g) Attend every Council Meeting and report on Library matters, or, if absent, send to the Corresponding Secretary a statement of any matter of immediate importance.

LIBRARY AND MEETING ROOM
Art. XV The Society’s Rooms and Library shall be in Seoul, to which may be addressed all letters and parcels not sent to the private address of the Corresponding Secretary, Treasurer or Librarian.
Art. XVI The Library shall be open to Members for consultation during the day at the Korean Research Centre and books may be borrowed on application to the staff of the Centre. The library and facilities of the Korean Research Centre shall be available to Members of the Society.  
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SALE OF PUBLICATIONS
Art. XVII A member may obtain at half-price, for his own use, copies of any part of the Publications.
Art. XVIII The Publications shall be on sale by Agents approved by the Council and shall be supplied to them at a discount price fixed by the Council. 
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ROYAL ASIATIC SOCIETY KOREA BRANCH GENERAL REPORT OF THE COUNCIL FOR 1960

During 1960 the membership of the Royal Asiatic Society grew from 355 to 562. Due to the interest of the members in things Korean and the battery of talent available, the long established usage of “no meetings during July and August” was discarded. Twelve regular meetings were held. Dates, speakers, and subjects on which they spoke follow.
January 6th     Dr Glenn Paiere, of USOM, Minnesota Group; “Oriental Studies in the Soviet Union”
February 3rd    Professor George Rainer, of Seoul National University: “The Chinese Book of Songs”
March 2nd     Mr Chester Fennell, of Civilian Personnel, 8th Army: “Korean Birds”
April 6th       Associate Professor Kim Chin-man, Chairman of
the English Depertment of the Songgyun-gwan University: “History of the Songgyungwan”
May 4th	Dr Kim Che-won，Director of the National Museum: “Excavation on the Site of Kamunsa.” (感恩寺) This lecture was illustrated with coloured slides,
June 8th       Mr Alan C. Hey man, an authority on Korean
folk music, assisted by Professor Chi Yong-hi, Prof essor of the Korean Folk Music Arts School: “An Introduction to Korean Folk Music.” The lecture was followed by an excellent programme.
July 13th       Dr John King Fairbanks Henry Lee Higginson
Professor of History, Harvard: “An Historian Looks at Modern China.” A reception and dinner for Dr Fairbank preceded the lecture.
August 3rd     Dr Edward Wagner, of the Harvard-Yenching
Institute: “The Political Structure of the Early Yi Dynasty”
September 7th   Dr David Chung, member of the Faculty of
Kon-guk University: “The Three Religions Are One Principle”
October 6th     Dr Edwin Reischauer, Director of the Harvard
Yenching Institute: “Korean History as Part of World History.” A reception and dinner preceded the lecture.
November 2nd   Mr Han Kap-su, one of the Directors of the
Han’gul Society: “The History of Han’gul and its [page114]
Movement”
December 7th   The Revd Edward Poitras, of the Methodist
Mission: “Japanese Agricultural Policy in Korea During the Period of Annexation.” This was also the annual meeting at which the election of officers for the coming year took place and the General Report of the Council for the year 1960 was read.
With the exception of the September meeting which, through the courtesy of the Cheil Bank, was held in its handsome auditorium, all meetings were held at Korea House. Our continued thanks go to its management for their constant and courteous co-operation in making this most suitable place available to the Society, as well as to the management and staff of the Diplomats Club for the tea and coffee they provide for our refreshment.
In addition to the 12 regular meetings held during 1960 there were 10 special meetings. They were:

January 20th    An evening of Korean games conducted by Mr Yo Un-hong, now a member of the House of  Councillors. Members of the Society were taught  how to play a variety of Korean games, both traditional and new.
February 24th   A showing of films on Korea. Shown were Ted
Conant’s “Korean Fantasy”, “Calligraphy”, “Mail Boat” , “Cheju-do” , “Winter Comes to the Mountain” , “Sports Festival” , “The Dike”, and “Korea—Pattern for Progress”, The showing was held in OPI Studio B and was a benefit for the Choe Byung Woo Memorial Fund project initiated by the Society during 1959. No admission was charged but contributions amounted to hwan 131,000 and dollars 106.00. Thanks for the success of the evening are due to the Office of Public Information for the studio, Mr Ted Conant for its organization and Mr Lee Chung-hak, of the Diplomats Club, for the delicious cakes served.
July 5th	      A repeat performance of Mr Alan Heyman’s
introduction to Korean folk mustic was given so that those members desirous of making tape recordings and taking movies might have the opportunity to do so.
July 19th       Mr Robert Garfias, a Rockefeller grantee doing  [page115]
graduate work in Japan on kagaku (Japanese classical music) spoke on “The Korean Musical Element in Japanese Court Music.”
November 4th   Tea at the National Museum and a private viewing of the collection of National Treasures which is to tour Europe.
November 9th    Mrs Pearl Buck spoke to the Society on the important role incumbent on its members to make Korea sympathetically known to the rest of the world. A reception and dinner in her honour which, because of an indisposition, she was unable to attend, preceded her address.
December 3rd    Kimchi making was held at the home of Mr. Carl Miller, that members of the Society might learn to make their own.
December 9th    A tea and showing of watercolour paintings of Mr Yi Hi-se at the Korea Information Center.
December 21st    A slide show and black and white photograph competition held at St Bede’s House. Special
Christmas refreshments were served. Koryo and Yi vases were given as prizes to the winners as adjudged by the group.
To Korean folklore and plays the members of the Society were introduced on 13th April through a puppet Show given at the Wongak-sa Theatre under the direction of Professor Choe Sang-su, President of the Korean Folklore Society; a mudang performance in the garden of the residence of Mr Carl Miller on 15th September; and an excellently presented Pongsan Mask Drama, conducted by Professor Choe Sang-su at the Wongak-sa Theatre on 19th October.
On Saturday afternoon, 21st May, a Garden Party was held at the hitherto closed Chilgung Ancestral Shrine, a shrine honouring seven concubine mothers of kings of the Yi dynasty. Folk music and farmers’ dances, the beautiful surroundings and the beautiful weather made the event a tremendous success.
On 1st July Queen Yun, on the occasion of receiving Honorary Membership in the Royal Asiatic Society, received its members at tea in the Ch’angdŏk Palace. Thanks are due Mr Oh Chae-kyong for his part in making the arrangements.
On 16th September a reception was held at Kyongmudae at which the President and Mrs Yun Po-sun welcomed the members of the Society. This was followed by a banquet in the candle-lit [page 116]
Kyonghoe-ru, the pavilion in the Lotus Pond of the Kyongbok Palace. The regal repast was followed by an excellent programme of Korean classical music, again under the able direction of Mr. Alan Heyman; and a talk by Dr Kim Che-won on his recent excavations. The affair was a fund-raising one for an archaeological project sponsored by the RAS to open a Paekche tomb in the area of Naju, Cholla Namdo. Hwan 1,220,000 was realized. Thanks for the delightful occasion go to the Tomb Committee: Mrs Hubert J, Evans, Honorary Chairman, and Mesdames Fred Annis, Wilson Beveridge, Kurt R. Mattusch, Eugene Sullivan, John Caspersen, Daniel B. Curll, Miss Angela Ahn and Mr Carl Miller.
On 29th September Mrs Evans gave an English Tea and Card Party in her residence at the British Embassy for RAS wives and their friends, as a further fund raising event. 125 dollars were realized.
On 16tn December a farewell reception was held at Korea House in honour of His Excellency the British Ambassador and Mrs Hubert Evans, who are due to depart from Korea early in the new year.

TOURS

In spite of the cancellation, for lack of snow, of the proposed ski trip to Taegwallyong; and the cancellation, because of unsettled conditions, of the late April and early May trips, a total of 19 trips was made during the year, 17 in Korea, 1 to Hong Kong and 1 to Taiwan. With a few exceptions the trips in Korea were to places of beauty not previously visited by the Society. The dates of the trips, the places visited, and the number of people availing themselves of the opportunity offered, follow.
February 11-18        Hong Kong by plane(100,000 Hwan, realized from this trip was put into the Choe Byung-woo Memorial Fund)	73
February 27-28        Kyongju and Pulguk-sa (by train)	25
April 7,8,9          Chinhae and Chinju (Naval Academy 152
Graduation, Cherry Blossom Festival, Farmers 
Bands, Archery Contest, Bull Fighting) (by train) April 16-17                Sudok-sa, via Onyang Hot Springs (by bus) 41 May 22	Yoju (by bus) Sillŏk-sa Temple, Tomb of 153
King Sejong
May 27-31                  Honam and Puyo, visiting the temples of 70 
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Togap-sa, Mui-sa, Taehung-sa, Kwanch’ok- sa (by  train, boat, and bus)                                                                                           June 25-26                 Pohang Area, Yonil Peninsula, Kamun-sa              86
Temple, Kyongju, Pyonghae Hot Springs (by train and bus)                                                                               July 16,17,18            Malli’po Beach (by boat from Inch’on)          50          
July 24	Chongp’yong Dam (by train)	  150
July 30-31	Cholla Pukto, visiting the temples of                  30
Kumsan-sa; Sonun-sa; Naesosa; and Wolmyong-am and Pyonsan Beach (Train
& bus)
August 13-16             Cheju-do (by plane and bus)	21
September 1-5          Mallip’o (by boat from Inchon). This trip              45
was in the nature of a farewell to our President, 
Dr Richard Hertz.                                               
September 24-25      Sonun-sa, where each took his own food.              21
(by train and bus)                                                      October 1-5               Climbing Mudung-san and Chiri-san                        5 October 8-10             Maritime excursion from Inchon, exploring         19
the little known islands of the Yellow Sea： Och’ong-do, Oey ondo, Pung-do and Tokchok-do.
October 15-16           Haein-sa (train and bus)	50
October 22-24           Naju for the opening of the Paekche                       50
tomb; visiting the temples of Paegyang-sa,
Kwanch’oksa, Kap-sa, lunching at the villa of Pak 
Chung-sik， and bathing at Yusong Hot Springs. November 5-8           Cheju-do (by plane)	22
November 19-27       Taiwan(by plane)	70

To coordinate tour activities a Tour Committee has been established with the following members: Mr. Daniel B. Curll, Miss Grace Stone, Mrs Lurabelle Annis, Mrs Hope Sullivan, Mrs Margaret Barrett, Mrs Kurt Mattusch, Mr Carl Miller and Mr Donald Herring. A comprehensive tour schedule for 1961 has been drawn up and approved and will be distributed in the near future.

OTHER ACTIVITIES

The Constitution and By-Laws of the Society, unpublished since 1948, were amended by affirmative vote of the Society on 8th June.
150 copies of Transaction XXXV were mailed to various interested institutions. Transaction XXXVI was received and [page118] distributed to members. All material for the printing of Transaction XXXVII is assembled.
89 books have been added to the Society’s library. The present total of 321 volumes is, through the courtesy of Dr Dong Chon, given shelf room at the Korean Research Centre, and is available to members of the Society for reference.
A brochure, designed by Mrs Maya Henderson, has been published. It contains a brief resume of RAS activities with an attached application blank. A supply of these brochures has been sent to various foreign missions for inclusion in the envelopes prepared for newcomers desirous of discovering Korea.
A Post Office Box has been acquired by the Society: PO Box 255, Central Post Office, Seoul.
The Society now boasts a full-time paid secretary, the agreeable and efficient Mr Pak Tae-yong. He can be reached at all times for any information regarding RAS activities at Mr Miller’s office, Bank of Korea, Tel. 2-9141,Extension 223.
A Project Committee has been established and is busily engaged in planning activities for 1961.
In conclusion, the council wishes to greet the Society’s overseas members and assure them of its appreciation of their continued interest and to salute our President of 1959 and 1960, Dr. Richard Hertz, who left in mid-September for his post as German Ambassador to Mexico. [page119]

REPORT OF THE EXCAVATION OF TWO PAEKCHE TOMBS
by Kim Wŏn-yong (金元龍)
Curator of the Research Department, National Museum of Korea

The reporter and Mr. Kim Chŏng-gi (金正基), Associate Curator of the Educational Department of the National Museum, excavated two Paekche tombs in Naedongni, Sijong-myŏn, Yŏng-am-gun, Chŏlla Namdo (全羅南道靈岩郡始終面內洞里) from 12th to 26th October 1960 with the aid of funds donated by the Royal Asiatic Society. This is a brief account of the excavation.

Tong-San Ch’ong (洞山塚)

The tomb is so named because it is located on Tong-san.
The Yong-am area, which is bounded on the east by Naju-gun, is noted for numerous Paekche tombs containing jar coffins. Most of them have already been robbed and destroyed by illegal diggers since the late 19th century. However, there are tombs of considerable size that seem to be undamaged. Although these tombs are burials of local chiefs and lesser ranking officers, they may be the only Paekche tombs to reveal the original conditions of Paekche burial, since all the larger, more elaborate tombs around Paekche’s various capitals, such as Puyŏ and Kongiu, have been completely robbed of their contents.
We expected the Tong-san Ch’ong to be one of those virgin tombs far away from Paekche’s central area, but our excavation proved that the tomb had been robbed twice.
The tomb was constructed on a low hill which overlooks the entire village. The mound is roughly circular in plan, and has a diametre of about 24 metres at the base. [page120] Its upper part at a height of about 3 metres from the bottom seemed to have been cut away and levelled by villagers long ago in order to use the place as a kind of summer garden. Several big acacias and a pine tree surround the flat terrace-like top. The mound is made of sand and clay beaten so hard that even picks found difficulty in breaking it. However, the western part of the mound was of softer clay and the difference was easily recognized. Considerable amounts of Paekche potsherds were discovered daring our excavation of crosswise trenches, particularly from the softer section, showing traces of previous robberies.
The main structure of the tomb was found in the southwestern part of the mound at the depth of 0.7 m. from the surface. It was a coffin-like chamber made of a mixture of clay and plaster. Its measurements are: length, 2.14 metres; width, 1.6. metres; height, ca. 0.7 metres; thickness of wall, 0.25 to 0.37 metres. Its long axis runs in a northeasterly direction. The chamber has a longitudinal central wall that divides it into two elongated rooms. The entire chamber is constructed on a hardened bed made of a mixture of clay and charcoal which in turn overlies the virgin soil below. The front side of the chamber had been cut open and a semicircular hole large enough for the removal of funerary gifts had also been made at the eastern side of the ceiling. Not a single object was found inside the chamber this time.
Judging from the potsherds, which must once have been inside the chamber, but were found in the softer section of the mound, the tomb may belong to the sixth century. This type of burial chamber is a new discovery among Paekche tombs. The small clay chamber may be linked with the idea of the jar-coffin. Or, it may be a clay version of the stone chamber or a burial cist necessitated by the fact that the Naju-Yongam area does not produce proper stone slabs for burial use. In any case, it was a new addition to our knowledge of Paekche [page121] burial practices.

Naedongni Tomb No. 7

About three hundred yards to the east of the Tong-san Chong there are seven tombs with low flat mounds. They are constructed along the slope of a small hill, and No. 7 tomb occupies the lowest spot. The mound is square in general plan with the two sides measuring 13 metres (N-S) and 9 metres (E-W). The height at the south is ca. 1 metre and at the northern side ca. 1.5 metres. The tomb had been partially destroyed and we could see the exposed edge of a jar coffin already broken by robbers. The purpose of our excavation was to discover the original plan of the tomb, since the broken coffins seemed to be in their original positions.
The mound was made of soft reddish clay and the coffins were buried shallow. Two jar coffins whose upper halves had been broken and lost were found side by side in the southern part of the mound. They both face north and the distance between them was about one metre. A third coffin was discoverd in the western part of the mound some 40 cm below the surface. The coffin was undamaged and consisted of one large jar and two smaller jars. The three jars were put together end to end, and the jar in the middle had its bottom cut out in order to make a tube connecting the other two jars. The total length of the three jars was 1.48 metres. The jars were filled with fine dried mud apparently carried in by water and accumulated. Several glass beads and traces of human bones were discovered from the largest jar, which faces east. A small long-necked jar with a round bottom was found inside the second jar, and nothing was found in the third jar. However, several jars with covers were placed around the coffin as funerary gifts. They are of an early type and may date from the late fifth or early sixth century A.D.
Away from the jar coffin complex, in the northwestern section of the tomb was a simple earth-bed burial [page122] aligned N-S. The depth of the bed from the surface was about 0.5 m. No traces of human remains could be found. However, several small jars were placed at both ends of the bed. These jars are of a later type, probably around the 7th century. Thus the jar coffins section and the earth-bed burial are separated from each other chronologically by at least a century or more. This difference in date was also noticed by the variation in the soil that covers the two sections. Apparently the original jar-coffin tomb was dug up at the time of the second burial in the northwestern section and the size of the mound was enlarged somewhat toward that direction.
Mounded tombs containing several jar coffins under one mound are common in the Naju-Yongam area. However, the combination of jar coffins and a later earth-bed burial under one mound was very interesting.
November 1960 [page123]



ROYAL ASIATIC SOCIETY KOREA BRANCH

LIST OF OFFICERS FOR 1961
Elected at the annual general meeting held on 7th December 1960

PRESIDENT	       His Excellency M Roger Chambard, Ambassador of the French Republic
VICEPRESIDENT	Dr Lee Sun-keun
TREASURER	        Mr Carl Miller
CORRESPONDING
SECRETARY	Mr Peter Smart
RECORDING	
SECRETARY	Miss Grace Haskell
LIBRARIAN	        Fr Richard Rutt
COUNCILLORS	        Mr Daniel Curll
Mr Gregory Henderson  Dr Lee Sang-un [page124]

Treasurer’s Report
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 1960

Income:
Dues and Initiation Fees	$ 3,608.65
Sales of Transactions	          247.00
Trips	                 351.00
Miscellaneous	           99.00	
$4,305.65
Expenditure:
Postage and Transportation	  170.15
Office Supplies	         170.15
Printing	               1,199.41
Refreshments	         224.00
Entertainments	       783.80
Salary	              655.00
Books	               70000
Miscellaneous	                59.50 	
                                                                     $3,897.36
Balance:	                     $ 408.29
Balance carried over from 1959  $ 2,306.96
Balance in hand at end of I960	$2,715.25
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LIST OF MEMBERS ROYAL ASIATIC SOCIETY KOREA BRANCH
(as of November 1960)
	Name
	Korean Address
	Overseas Address

	HONORARY MEMBERS
	　
	　

	EVANS, Hubert J.
	　
	c/o Foreign Office London S.W.I

	Esq. CMG
	
	    England

	YUN, Queen
	Naksonjae, Changdok Palace, Seoul
	　

	LIFE MEMBERS
	　
	　

	CARROLL, The Rt
	Catholic Relief
	Maryknoll, PO New

	Revd Msgr George M., M.M.
	Services
	York

	CURLL, Mr Daniel B., Ill
	USOM, SH & G
	20 Maher Ave Greenwich, Conn.

	DANIELS, Miss M. Mildred
	Sp. Svcs th Log Comd APO 612
	Commodore Hotel

	
	
	N.Y., N.Y.

	HALL, Mrs R.S.
	•
	Liberty, N.Y.

	HERTZ, Dr Richard
	3450 Wilshire Blvd Rm. 707 Los Angeles, Cal.
	German Embassy Mexico

	LUDLOW, Dr A.I.
	　
	10906 Hull Ave S.E. Cleveland Ohio

	MILLER, Mr Carl Ferris
	46-1728 Hyonjo Dong, Sodaemun Ku, Seoul
	30 Washington Terrace, Pittston Pa.

	PETTUS, The Revd W.B.
	　
	1700 Spruce St Berkeley, Cal.

	ROSE, Miss A.M.
	Canadian Mission
	Box 461 Midleton N.S., Canada

	
	1
	

	RUCKER, Mr Robert D.
	USA Sig Spt Det APO 301
	　

	ORDINARYMEMBERS
	　
	　

	ADAMS, The Revd & Mrs Edward
	Presbyterian Mission,1 Namsan Dong, Taegu
	Pres. Bd, 157 5th

	
	
	Ave, N.Y., N.Y.

	
	
	•

	ADAMS, Mrs Lucy W
	USOM, TC-CD
	3634 Happy Valley Rd, Lafayette, Cal.

	
	
	

	ADAMS, Miss Mildred P.
	USOM, TC-HS N
	924 So. Hawthorne Dr.

	
	
	Bloomington Ind.
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	Name
	Korean Address
	Overseas Address

	AHLMEYER, Miss
	German Embassy
	Agnesstr. 58, Beuel b/Bonn, Germany

	Margarete
	
	

	AHN, Miss Angela
	66-1 Hannam Dong, Seoul
	　

	AHN, Mr Ho-sam
	Hwimun High School
	　

	ALBRECHT, Mr Fred
	  USOM, EO
	　

	ALBRO, Mr Wayne
	USOM, FO-C-RD
	801 Palmetto, New Smyrna Beach, Fla.

	ALLEN, Miss Eleanor L.
	  USOM, TC-HS-N 
	7 West Ottawa St. Longansport, Ind.

	ANDERSON, Mrs William
	USOM, Office of Deputy Directors
	119 Bay Shore Ave Long Beach, Cal.

	ANDRESS, Mr Louis
	I Corps APO 358
	PO Box 726 Vicksburg, Miss.

	ANNIS, Mr & Mrs Fred
	USOM, RD
	Mr George H. Annis RT 8 Chillicothe Ohio

	APPENZELLER, Mrs 
	Methodist Mission
	1088 Caloro Rd, La Mesa, Cal.

	Ruth 
	
	

	APPLEGATE, Miss Jeann M.
	Sp. Svcs 1st Cav Div APO 24
	545 E. Main St Lancaster, Ohio

	BABBITT, Mr Harold E.
	USOM, Minn
	Civ. Eng. Dept, Univ. of Illinois, Urbana, 111.

	BAKER, Dr & Mrs John M
	  USOM, REP 
	3116 Woodley Rd, NW Wash., D.C.

	BAKER. Mr & Mrs R.H.
	  Y.M.C.A. 
	2323 N. 3rd St Harrisburg, Pa.

	BAKER, Mr Russel C.
	Civ. Pers. Off. 7th Log Comd APO 612
	Box 1693 Hawthorne,

	
	
	Nev.

	BALCHEN, Miss Cecilie
	National Medical Center
	Sorkedalsveien 1, Oslo, Norway

	BARRETT, Mrs Margaret
	1
	129 NE 45th St Miami, Fla.

	
	American embassy
	

	BARTLING, The
	Korea Lutheran Mission
	6538 Wash. Cr. Milwaukee, Wis.

	Revd & Mrs L. Paul
	
	

	BAUMAN, Mr Roy
	PO Box 5, Taegu
	　

	BEECH AM, The Revd Walter M.
	V
	United Church of Canada, 85 St. Clair Ave, E., Toronto, Canada

	
	  Canadian Mission
	

	BELL, Mr Chester S., Jr.
	USOM, PE-PL
	251 E. Wisconsin Ave, Neenah, Wis.

	BENEDICT, Mrs Edith M.
	 AG 7th Log Comd APO 612
	7825 Belfast St, New Orleans 18, La.
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	Name
	Korean Address
	Overseas Address

	BERRY, CWO Ena I.
	Aug. Hq 7th Log Ag. Sec. APO 612
	8324 2nd Ave, So. Birmingham 6, Ala.

	BERRYHILL，Mr & Mrs John H.
	USOM, TC-D
	c/o ICA, Wash., D C.

	BEVERIDGE, Mr & Mrs Wilson
	USOM, TC-AG-L
	329 West A. Ave Glendale, Ariz.

	BIGOS, Miss Elizabeth
	USOM, ED
	　

	BORIN, Mr Robert B.
	American Embassy
	625 So. 25th St Lincoln, Neb,

	BOUCHEZ, The Revd Daniel
	•
	62 Rue Sadi Carnot, Armentieres, France

	
	Holy Ghost College Hyehwa Dong 2-90 Seoul
	

	BOURNS, Miss Beulah
	Severance Hospital
	Box 123 Somerset, Manitoba, Canada

	BOWMAN, Mrs Betty
	Real Estate Div. Engrs EVSA APO 301
	2451 W. 256th St Lomita, Cal.

	BRAA, Mr & Mrs Ulrich
	PO Box 2, Naju Cholla Namdo
	Bad Hamburg V.D. Hoe Germany Mariannenweg 4

	BRADNER, Mr
	Kyongbuk University, Taegu
	12 Laurel Court Providece, R.I.

	Stephen
	
	

	BRALEY, Cdr & Mrs Gerald N.
	USN SUSLAK APO 301
	11206 Healy St Silver Spring, Md

	BRENNAN, Miss Dorothee
	Traymore Hotel, Seoul
	　

	BRIDGFORD, Prof. Roy
	USOM, TC-ED/SNU
	475 Parkside Elmhurst. Ill

	BROBST, Miss Jo Ann
	Army Svc Club CC #2, 5th Cav 1st Cav Div APO 24
	12 Pala Ave, Piedmont 11, Cal.

	BROOKS, Miss Loretta D.
	USOM, RD PD
	-

	BUDY, Mr & Mrs Joseph
	USOM, TC-AV
	1942 W. Adams St Phoenix, Ariz.

	BURGESS, Mr Robert S.
	USOM, Peabodyco
	c/o State Univ. College for Teachers

	
	
	Albany 3, N.Y.

	BURKHOLDER, Mr Olin
	Methodist Mission Seoul
	Nicholasville, Ky.

	BUSER, Miss Carolyn
	Hq EUSA Engrs APO 301
	611 Robinson Ave Webster Groves, Mo.

	CAGLE, Miss Bessie Alene
	J-3 Div Hq UNC APO 301
	325 Worth St

	
	
	Asheboro, N.C.
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Name	Korean Address	Overseas Address
CAMPBELL, Miss Cecelie Ann	Chogie Inn Svc Club CC #4 1st Cav Divarty APO 24	1202 Floral St N.W.
CARTMEL, Mrs Elizabeth B.	CPO Hq AAC APO 20	3 Cedar St Wallingford, Conn.
CHADWELL, The Rt
Revd Arthur	Nae Dong 3, Inchon	Korean Missien 55 Bedford Gardens London W. 8,England
CHAMBARD, M. Roger	French Embassy	4 Rue de Villersexel Paris VII, France
CHAMBERLIN. Mrs L.	USOM, TCCD-I	143 Willow St Brooklyn Hts, N.Y.
CHANG, 	Mr Ik-pong	128-4 Ke Dong Chongno Ku, Seoul	
CHO, Dr Yoon-je	Songgyungwan University Seoul	
CHOE,Mrs Byong-u	1-35 Kahoe Dong, Seoul	
CHRISTIAN, Miss Henrietta	USOM, CEB
Secretariat	Wash., D C.
CHUNG, 	Mr Tai-si	Korean Federation of Education Ass. 25 l- ka Simmunno, Seoul	
CLARK, 	Mr Allen D.	Presbyterian Mission	c/o Board of Miss. Presb. Church 476 Riverside Dr., N.Y., N. Y.
•
CLEMENS, Mr Clive C.	British Embassy	Foreign Office Whitehall, London S.W.I, England
COBB, Mrs Emma B.L.	56th Engr Bn Hq ASCOM City Engr APO 20	4411 South 4th St, Arlington 4, Va.
COLLIER, Norma J.	Miss
	USOM, TC-PA-ST	1813 No. Cedar, Yankton, S.D.
COMPTON, Pfc Beverley C., Jr	Hq PROVMAAG-K APO 301	1110 Rolandvue Ave Roxton 4, Md
CONFER,
Beulah A.	Miss	USOM, TC TT	Ardara, Pa.
CONNER, Louise	Miss	USOM, EO-P	3778 North Blvd Baton Rouge 6, La.
CONROW.
Marion L. 	 Miss
 	Methodist Mission Seoul	1155 N. River Blvd Wichita 3, Kans.
COOPER, Joyce	Miss	USOM, Peabody	Univ of Fla Gainesville, Fla
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Name	Korean Aadress	Overseas Address
CORREL, Mr Frank D.	USOM, PE-PL	Apt 3-k 102-18 64 Ave Forest Hills N.Y.
COX, Miss Helen Elizabeth	SAC Svc Club APO 301	
CURLL, Mr & Mrs Daniel B.	USOM, SH & G	20 Maher Ave Greenwich, Conn.
CUTTING, Miss Grace E.	UNC/USFK J3 Div Opns Branch APO 301	35 E. St. N.W. (Apt
DALY, The Rt Revd John C.S.	3 Chong Dong, Seoul	c/o Korean Mission 55 Bedtord Gardens London W, 8, Engdlan
DAMON, Mr G, Huntington	American Embassy	6200 Garnett Drive Chevy Chase 15, Md
DASKALOFF, Miss Elena A.	Hq 7th Log Comd Engr APO 612	971 Ploma Rd, Del Rey Oaks, Monterey, Cal.
DAVIS, Miss Marcia K.	Hq 7th Log Comd Civ Pers Sec S W Div APO 612	c/o R.L. Davis 124 Summit St, Tyhorsb Ala.
DAVIS, Mrs Margaret	Post Engrs 37th Engr Det. ASCOM APO 20	Elko, Nev.
DAVIS, Miss Mary S.	Hq EUSA Compt Sec APO 391	c/o Lefrancois 42 Pitas Ave So. Attleboro, Mass.
DAVISON, Miss Anne	Canadian Mission Seoul	RR #2 Upper Middle Rd. Burlington Ont” Canada
DE HAANf Mr & Mrs Norman	USOM, Smith- Scherr & McDermott	c/o Anderson 500 W. 118 St, Chicago
DE LONG, Mrs Hilda E.	Hq Det 13th QM Bn APO 301	Emmet Co. Levering Mich.
DENNING, Mrs Viola S.	EUSA G-l Sec APO 301	3394 Springhill Rd Lafayette, Cal.
DETLING, Miss Dorothy M.	Hq EUSA SAC APO 301	4131 Campbell Kansas City, Mo.
DEVINE, Miss ᅭ Dorothy	Aviation Sec Hq
EUSA APO 301	12465 E. Randall Pk Dr. Miami, Fla.
DICKEY, Miss Elizabeth	USO, Seoul	
DINGMAN, Miss Nancy	Rec Center #4 Lib 1st Cav Divarty APO 24	56 Davis Dr. Saginaw, Mich.
DIVINE, Miss Susan M.	Hq 55 QM Depot APO 20	1657-31 St N. W. Wash. 7. D.C.
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Name	Korean Apdress	Overseas Address
DONG, Dr Chon	Korean Research Centre	•
DOROW, The Revd Maynard W.	Korea Lutheran Mission Seoul	Bd for World Missions, 210 N. Broadway, S. Louis 2 Mo.
DOWN, Miss Margaret	Traymore Hotel	c/o Mr Thompson William, 13 Pickering PL Needham, Mass.
DRUMMOND, Mr William Henry	USOM, Peabody	223 N. 9th St Cheney, Wash,
DUSTIN, Mr Frederic H-	Bando 534	Mr Baker Highway Bellingham, Wash.
EARLY, Miss Bertha E.	55th QM Depot APO 20	Zanesfield, Ohio
ECKHARTf Mr Robert H.	American Red Cross Hq 1st Cav Div APO 24	2904 Adams St Alameda, Cal.
EELLS, Mrs Lyra T.	Dependent School
APO 301	Latour, Mo.
EG AN, Miss Elizabeth A.	G-3 EUSA APO 301	305 Ninth St Laurel, Md
ELLIS, Mrs Ruth J.	Dependent School Apo 301	Latour, Mo.
ESCHHOLZ, Maj JJ.	NAG APO 301	80 Overpeck Ave Ridgefield Park NJ.
FAIR, Mrs Jeanne P.	Off. C/S Hq EUSA APO 301	129 E. 36th St. N.Y.
FARLEY, Mr & Mrs Hugh IX	USOM, TC	4901 Dorset Ave Chev> Chase 15 Md.
FENNELL, Mr Chester M.	Civ Pers 7th Log Comd APO 612	21475 Hillsdale Ave, Fairview Park 26, Ohio
FIELD, Mr Philip	USOM, Controllers
Off.	Rt 1, Box 258 Marseilles, 111.
FOOSE, Miss Helen F.	American Embassy	1823 No. Vine St Hollywood, Cal.
FREI, The Revd Ernest J.	Presbyterian Mission Seoul	Commission on Ecumenical Mission 475 Riverside Dr. N.Y. 27, N.Y.
FRIEDMAN Mr John	USOM, PE-EF	2109 Glen wood Dr. Kalamazoo, Mich.
FULTON, Miss Frances	Methodist Misson Seoul	123 Wilson St Carlisle, Pa.
GABRIEL, Mr Karl F.W.	320 Bando	12 Esplanade Gmunden, Austria

[page131]
Name	Korean Address	Overseas Address
GALES, Mr Edwin A.	USOM, TC CD	c/o Reade, 4067 Park Blvd, Palo Alto.
GAULT, Dr & Mrs N.L. Jr	USOM, Minn.	5301 31st Ave St
Mpls, Minn.
GILL, Mr & Mrs John C.	Comptroller Hq EUSA APO 301	c/o Mrs Norton Fox City Park Dr. Groesbeck, Tex
GILMORE, Mr George	Hq PROVMAAG-K APO 301	
GODDARD, Miss Dorothy	Sp. Svcs 7th Log Comd APO 612	758 Racine Ave Columbus, Ohio
GOLDEN, Dr Archie S.	Seoul Military Hospital APO 301	Wellsville Ave. New Milford, Conn.
GOODWIN. The Revd Charles	3 Chong Dong, Seoul	c/o Goodwin Offices 15 Lewis St Hartford 3, Conn.
GRANDCHAMP Mme Jacqueline	French Embassy	20 bis Ave Foch-Saint- Cloud(Seine-et-Oise)t France
GREEN, Mrs Marshall	American Embassy	Dept. of State Wash.,
D.C.
GREINER, Mr Jerome	American Embassy	
GROSS, Miss Marie B	JA Office Hq EUSA APO 301	Kenosha, Wis.
HAGELEE, Mrs 
Elsie G.	USOM, Minn	3108 E. Hwy 1169 Grand Rapids, Mich
HALLADAY, Mr Jack T.	American Embassy	c/o Mrs Charles Byrd, Julia St. Bay S. Louis, Miss.
HAMILTON, Miss Durlene Mae	USOM, TC-AG	Box 161 Stanwood Wash.
HAN, Mr Kap-su	100-48 Hoehyon Dong	
HANLEY, Miss Dorothy	Traymore Hotel, Seoul	
HARRIS, Mr
Emanuel Richard	USAPAK, APO 301	1796 Sycamore St
N W. Wash., D.C.
HARVEY, Miss Barbara S.	American Embassy	520 Walker Ave Baltimore 12f Md
HARVEY, Mr John	Korea University 	Bumblebee Lane Duxbury, Mass.
HASKELL, Miss Grace	JA EUSA APO 301	
HEIKES, Mr & Mrs George C.	USOM, RD MD	PO Box 795 Los Gatos, Cal
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HENDERSHOT, Mr & Mrs Clarence	USOM, TC ED	532 Pine St. Alma Mich.
HENDERSON, Mr Gregory	American Embassy	19 Brewster St Cambridge 38, Mass
HENTHORN, Mr William	c/o Korean Research Centre	Cedar Bay Rd Jacksonville, Fla
HERBST, The Revd Clarence A., SJ	120-24 Sosomun Dong	3109 N. Lake Dr. Milwaukee 11, Wis
HERRING, Mr & Mrs Donald	Northwest Airlines Bando	
HEYMAN, Mr Alan C.	45 Sagan Dong Chongno Ku, Seoul	
HILL, Mr Daniel A.	USOM, RD-PD	1633 Compton Rd Cleveland Hghts 18, Ohio
HOBBES, Mrs y John C.	  USOM, TCAG 	
HODGSON, Miss Mary Alice	Sp. Svcs Sec 7th Log Comd APO 612 	403 Atlantic Ave York, Pa.
HOLDCROFT,
Mrs Lane	USOM, TC-CD	•
South Colby, Wash.
HOLMES, Miss Ruth S.	  USOM, TC-CD 
	R #lBox 794, Venice, Fla.
HOMOKAY, Sp/4 Duane L.	I
Seoul Military Hosp. APO 301	Buffalo St Silver Creek, N.Y.
HOSTETLER, Mr
James	Christian children’s Fund	Rt 1, Louisville Ohio
HOWARD, Miss Rosemary	SAC Svc Club APO 301	5604 Nevada Ave N.W. Wash. 15, D.C.
HOWES- Miss Mary Lou	American High School APO 301	R.R. 3, Bluffton, Ind.
HO YD, Mr John	2ᅳ19 Yechang Dong, Chung Ku, Seoul	Voorhis Point, Nyack N.Y.
HULEN, Mr Elmer	American Embassy	732 1st St. N, St. Petersburg, Fla.
HUNTER, Maj Dorothy Monro	548th Gen.Disp. APO 301	632 Jamaica Ave Tampa 6, Fla
HYMERS, Maj Charles S.	EUSA G-3 Sec War Games APO 301	4005 Beech Ave trie, Pa.
HYUN, Mr & Mrs Yong-won	35—3a fongui Dong Chongno Ku	
JABINSON, Mr L.R.	USOM, SH & G	
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JARMAN.Dr & Mrs Mrs Burnice H.	USOM, TC ED	4830 24th St, N. Arlington, Va.
JEAN, Mrs Thelma C.	USOM, TC-PA	111 Austin Place Glendale 23f, Mo.
JENSEN, Miss Gaud	National Medical Centre	Dobelnsgatan 13,11 Stockholm, Sweden
JENSEN, Miss Odeena M.	American Dependent School APO 301	2957 Shasta Rd Berkeley, Cal.
JERNIGAN, Miss Dorothy	Army Svc Club CC # 1 1st Cav Div APO 24	757 9th Ave Yuma Ariz, c/o Mrs Hazel Phillips
JONSON, Miss Barbara K.	US Army Sig Spt Det APO 301	3 Londergan Place East Longmeadow, Mass.
JOHNSON, Mrs Virginia C.	ASCOM Library Hq APO 20	622 Wash. Ave Wilmette, 111.
JULIAN, Miss Florence A.	USOM, Minn	1007 Kenwood Pkwy Minneapolis 5, Minn
KALBAK, rD Kaj	National Medical Centre	Osterbrogade #44 Copenhagen, Denmark
KAMP, Miss Elisabeth	German Embassy	Rheingasse 12 Bonn Germany
KARAYANIS,
Miss Adamantia	USOM, PE ED	2077 Center Ave. Ft. Lee, N.J.
KAYE, Mrs Merwin	USOM Leg	•
KEEN AN, Mr Edward A.	USOM, RD TD-H	39ᅳC Franklin Park Chew & Duval St. Philadelphia, Pa
KELLY, Miss Marilyn R.	American Embassy	2033 Valentine Ave Bronx 57,
    N.Y.
KIACHKO, Mr & Mrs Leo	320 Bando	CPO Box 572 Tokyo
KILDAL, Miss Aslavg	National Medical Centre	Kristiansands Norway
KILLOREN, The Revd Kenneth	120-24 Sosomun Dong Seoul	3109 N.Lake Park Milwaukee 11, Wis.
KIM, Mrs Anne W.	EUSA Eng Sec APO 301	1415 Montague St N.W. Wash., D C.
KIM, Dr Che-won	National Museum Seoul	
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KIM, Mr Chong-lim	Economic Development Council	
KIM, Mr Chin-man	Songgyungwan University	
KIM, Lt Ki-chan	46-1728 Hyonjo Dong, Sodaemun Ku, Seoul	
KIM, Mrs Naomi	American Dependent School APO 301	2379 E. Manoa Rd Honolulu 14, Hawaii
KIM, Mr Yong koo	Korea Times, Seoul	
KINNEY, Miss Helen J.	USOM, PE-PL	1430 Louisiana St Lawrence
KIRCHOFF, Mrs A.A.	KMAG-PE APO 102	2314 61st St Lubbock, Tex
KNEE, Miss Roma IX	USOM, EO-P	c/o Mrs M.H. Hamstead 8702 Gilbert Place Takoma Parkl2, Md
KOLL, Miss Gertrude	USOM, Minn.	3411 Pillsbury Ave Minneapolis, Miss.
Korean Research Centre	90 Tᅳka Chungjon- gno Sodaemun Ku, Seoul	
KRISTENSEN,
Miss Elna	National Medical Centre	Katrinedalsvej 3 A III t.h. Copenhagen, Denmark
LANE, Maj. Mary	J-5 Hq UNC/ USFK APO 301	17 Round Hill Rd Williamsport, Pa.
LARSEN, Miss Louise	Traymore Hotel	c/o M.E. Boles, 3426 Mentone Ave Los Angeles 34, Cal.
LARSEN, Prof William F.	USOM, Minn.	New York Univ. -Wash. Sq. N.Y. 3 N Y.
LAURSEN, Dr Lauritz	National Medical Centre	141 Gothersgade Copenhagen K, Denmark
LEE, Mr Arthur R.	American Embassy	c/o Idaho First National Bank, Idaho Falls, Idaho
LtijE, Dr Bom-sun	Yonhap Hospital Yongdungpo 93 4ᅳka Seoul	
LEE, Mr Chung-hak	Diplomats Club 2-26ᅳ2 Namsan Dong, Seoul	
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LEE, Mr Po-hyong	2-53 3ka Myong- nyun Dong,  Seoul	
LEE, Dr Sun-keun	89-14 Chongpa Dng	
LEE, Mr Won-sun 	Korean-American Trading Co. 611 Bando	475 2nd Ave N.Y. 16, N.Y.
LEE, Mr Youngbum	178-2 4ka Ulchiro Seoul	
LEE, Dr Young-ha	2-22 Tongsung Dong	
LEIDY, Miss Lucy	USOM, RD ID-P	130 North Lehigh Ave Cranford, N.J.
LEINWEBER, Mr J.W.	USOM, SH & G	696 Rivard Blvd Grosse Points, Mich.
LENSSEN, Mr J.J.	328 Bando	c/o Clothier, Harrison Rd, Ithan- Villanova, Pa
LEVINSEN, Miss Julie T.	 National Medical Centre	Birkholm Guldb- jerg St Nordfyn, Denmark
LEWIS, Miss
Jeanette	Hq PROVMAAGK APO 301	2395 Chaison St Beaumont, Tex.
LIM. Mr Keun-soo	 36—7 Nogosan Dong Sodaemun Ku, Seoul	
LITTLE, Mr & Mrs James G.	839 Bando	Worcester, Mass.
LOGAN, Miss Kathleen M.	USOM, TC-HS-N	28 Holly Lane . Bristol, Va.
LOWERY, Mr &
Mrs Bernard F.	USOM, KAG	670 Pearl St-Denver 3 Col. (4222 Tejon-St)
LUTZ, Mr & Mrs Dexter	USOM, TC-AG	18403 PlymouthDr. Castro Valley^ Cal.
MATTIELI, Mr & Mrs Robert E.	Traymore	7225 SE 32nd Mercer Island, Wash.
MATTSSON, Miss Ruth	Sp. Sve Hq I Corps APO 358	1164 Appleton St. Long Beach 2P CaL
MATTUSCH, Dr & Mrs Kurt	USOM, SM	Popes Head Clifton, Va.
MAUCK, Dr & Mrs Elwyn A.	USOM, Minn.	One Circle Ave. Potomac Hghts Indian Head, Md.
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MAURER, Mr Frederick	AC of SAdm Hq 7th Log Comd APO 612	Darrolltown, Pa
McBRIDE, Mr John Wesley	USOM, TC-PA-ST	
McCARRON, Mr & Mrs James W.	USOM, Syracuse	
McCONAUGHY, Amb & Mrs Walter P.	American Embassy
•	
McCUNE, Mr Paul	Ordnance Off. 7th Log Comd, APO 612	
McDONALD, Miss Jessie	Hq PROVMAAGK APO 301	1530 E. 59th St Chicago 37, 111.
McGILL, Miss Theodore	Sp. Svcs 1st Cav Div APO 24	3909 17th St N.E. Wash., D.C.
McGOVERN, Mr
Melvin	Hq I Corps APO 358	1167 Walnut Dubuque, Iowa
MCLAREN, Mr &
Mrs Douglas M.	Chungang
University	Bears, Chailey Green, Lewes, Sussex, England
McTAGGART. Mr Arthur J.	American Embassy	
MICKLAUTZ, Mr Ferdinand	300 Bando	c/o Robert Lau, 522 B. Halela St, Kailua Oahu, Hawaii
MILLER, Mr Albert	Sig Sec 7th Log Comd APO 612	30 Wash. Terrace Pittston, Fa.
MILLER, Mrs Edna	F & AO EUSA APO 301 (Traymore)	30 Wash. Terrace Pittston, Pa.
MILLER, Mrs Mary J.	USOM, EO C	3221 Vista St. N.E. Wash., D.C.
MIN, Mr Pyong-do	Bank of Korea	
MIN, Mr Yong-gyu	Yonsei University	
MOFFETT, Mr Samuel H.	Presbyterian Mission	Bd of Foreign Missions, 15b 5th Ave. N.Y., N.Y.
MORTSON, Mr William	208 Bando	1915 Filbert S.F., Cal.
MURPHY, Miss Mary Rita	USOM, TC-HS-N	5320 Lowell Ave. Indianapolis 19 Ind.
MURPHY, Miss Sunsnine	Sp. Svcs Hq EUSA APO 301	101 Hollingsworth St. Leaksville,
NASON, Miss Natalie E.	Laucation Center Camp Hovey APO 7	RFD #1, Stetson, Maine

[page137]
Name	Korean Address	Overseas Addess
NEWMAN, Miss Laura W.	Hq EUSA Provost Marshall Sec. APO 301	3310 Crane St. Lemon Grove, Cal.
OBERLE, Miss Jacqelyn	Am. Dependent School APO 301	Waterville, Minn.
O’BRIEN, Miss Olivia	Traymore	Jonesboro, Ark.
OWENS, Mr Walter	KMA, KMAG, Det 10 APO 102	63 Center St. West Haven, Conn.
PAI, Mrs Inez Kong	2-45-6 Namsan Dong	1852 Iwi Way Honolulu, Hawaii
PAIGE, Dr, Glenn	USOM, Minn.	
PAIK, Dr George	House of Councillors	
PARHAM, Miss Imogene	Sp. Svcs Hq EUSA APO 301	PO Box 555 Henderson, N.C.
PARK, Miss Esther	Nat’l YWCA 1-3 1st Ka. Myong Dong, Seoul	600 Lexington Ave. N.Y., N.Y.
PARK, Mr Jin nam	Bank of Korea	
PARKER, Miss Olive B.	Hq UNC J-2 Div. APO 301	Dover, New Jersey
PARRY, Mr A.J.	USOM, RD-TD
•	940 W. 42nd St. Indianapolis, Ind.
PASRICK, Mr Richard G.	USOM,SH & G	902 Halstead Jackson, Mich. 
PAYNE, Mr Donald T.	Methodist Mission	
PEPPIATT, Col. M.E.	British Embassy	
PERERA, Miss Olive	Office of the Prime Minister (Naeja Apts)	83 Oxford Rd. Denham Bucks, Eng-
PI, Prof.
Chyun-deuk	College of Education SNU	
PITT, Mrs Bernard	Vinnel Corp. 125 UN Village	1662 Waterloo St. Los Angeles, Cal.
PITTS, Dr Forrest Ralph ；	Economic Develo- ment Council	1993 Onyx, Eugene Ore.
POITRASf The Revd Edward W.	Methodist Mission	Methodist Bd. of Miss. 45 Riversiae Dr； N.Y. 27f N.Y
POPE, Miss M.	Canadian Mission	
PRESCOTT, Miss Margaret	USAED FE APO 301	5059 W. Wait St Seattle, Wash.
PRESSEYf Adm &
Mrs George W.	Com Nav For Korea APO 301	3406 Ala. Ave. Alexandria, Va
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PRESSLER, Mrs Lois
•	USOM, RD-MD	634 Calapooia St. Albany, Ore.
PRYOR, Mrs Helen	USOM, ED P	PO Box 14 Cranbury, NJ.
PUCHULU, The Revd F.	Holy Ghost College 2-90 Hyehwa Dong, Seoul	71 Rue Boissiere Paris 16
PURDY, Mr Stephen S.	S & M 7th Log Comd APO 612 (Vinnell)	480 W. Gonzalez St. Pensacola, Fla.
QUICK, Miss Elsie M.	American Embassy	c/o Mrs J.S. Garzick Box 114 Southern Pines, N.C.
QUINT, Miss Mary D.	Sp. Svcs Lib, Hq 2nd TTC APO 971	
RAINER, Dr George	Seoul National Univ.	2 Petersfield Crescents Coulsdon Surrey, England
RHEE, Mr Jihong	Cathay Pacific Airways 222-A
Bando	
RICH, Mrs Robert G., Jr.	American Embassy	1123 N.W, 14th Ave, Gaineville. Fla.
RICHARDS, Miss Florence	EUSA G-2 APO 301	Overseas Press Club
35 E. 39th St- N.Y., N.Y.
RIGLEY, Col Orin Henry, Jr	J-3 UNC APO 301	4052 Iowa St San Diego, Cal.
RING, Dr & Mrs Carlyle	USOM, FO CA	275 State St. Jamestown, N.Y.
RINGSTED, Dr Jorgen	National Medical Centre	Rymarksvej 66 Hellerup, Denmark
ROBB, The Revd Dale	Presbyterian Mission 136 Yonji Dong, Seoul	410 E. High St. Oxford, Ohio
ROBB, Dr. Ian S.	Canadian Mission	
ROLPH, Mrs Sylvia E.	EUSA Q.M. Div. APO 301	4325 N.E. Failing St Portland, Ore.
ROSE, Dr Hugh A.	Canadian Mission	
RUTH, Capt Fred	The Salvation Army	c/o 1517 East 7th St Shawnee, Okla.
RUTT, The Revd Richard	32 Yon-gon Dong, Seoul	Korean Miss. 55 Bedford Gardens London W. 8, Eng
SAUER, The Revd Charles A.	Methodist Mission	
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SAUER, Mr Robert G.	Methodist Mission IPO Box 1182, Seoul	233 E. Walnut St Painesville, Ohio
SCHARER, Capt & Mrs Lawrence	Seoul Military Hospital APO 301	63-89 Saunders St Rego Park 74, N.Y.
SHARP, Mrs Rose	Hq EUSA QM Sec APO 301	3021 Tunlaw RdN.W. Wash. 7f D.C.
SHAVER, Mr James T.	Compt off. USA Eng Dist F.E. APO 301	Mt Vista Rd Bradshaw, Md.
SHAVER, Miss Mildred A.	American Dependents School APO 301	68 Williamson Ave. Hillside, N.J.
SHAW, Dr Carroll K.	USOM, TC-PA	5917 Ramsgate Rd Wash. 16f D.C.
SHAW, Miss Marion A.	Presbyterian Mission	
SHELAMER, Dr & Mrs Arthur M.	USOM, TC-HS	Athens, Tenn.
SHIELS, Miss W.B.	British Embassy	
SHON, Miss Elizabeth	American Dependent School APO 301	1576 Penscola St.  Honolulu 14, Hawaii
SIMS, Miss Helen
Dorothy	USOM, TC-ED	1432 N. Victoria S. Paul, Minn.
SMART, Mr Alexander B.	British Embassy
•	Foreign Off. London SW 1, Eng.
SMITH, Mr James H.	Sig. Sec. EUSA APO 301	R.R. 1 Roodhouse, UL
SMITH, Dr Jessie May	USOM, TC-PA	Eugene, Ore.
SMITH, Mr Morris	Hq EUSA AG-AS APO 301	Willow Hill, 111.
SNYDER, Miss Alice	Ord. Sec. 7th Log APO 612	Charleston Village RDIf Malvern, Pa.
SOMERVILLE, Mr Peter Jaffray	American Trading Co. 178 1-Ka Euijoo- ro, Sodaemun-u	c/o Barclays Bank New Maiden, Surrey
SONG, Mr Keinam	PO Box 440, Seoul Central P.O.	
SRENSEN, Miss Karen Lykke	National Medical Centre	Vestre Landeve 18 Varde, Denmark
STEELE, Mr & Mrs ER.	USOM, TC-EDD	842 Orlando Blvd Winter Park, Fla.
STEELE, Miss Marion	Sp. Svs Lib. Camp Kaiser APO 7	23 Crooked Trail Rowayton, Conn.
STOCKTON, Miss Elsie	Methodist Mission	2211 Ash Ave, Las Vegas, Nev.
STONE, Miss Grace	SP. Svcs. 7th Log APO 612	Calder Place
Beaumont, rex.
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STOREY, Mrs John	Everett Steamship Co	c/o Dr. D.Robertson 3 Glenorchy rerrace Edinburgh, Scotland
STRAUSS, Mr Frederick G.	Bando 832	
		
STRUTHERS, Dr & Mrs E.B.	Canadian Mission	» • ♦
SULLIVAN, Mr & Mrs Eugene	USOM, RD-ID-F	301 Great Falls Rd Rockville, Md.
SUNDEAN, Miss Carol L.	Am. High School APO 301	11 Avalon Blvd W.E. Jamestown, N.Y.
SWANSON, Mr G. William	USOM, SH & G	c/o Commonwealth Associates Inc. 209 E. Wash. Jackson, Mich.
TAEUSCH, Mrs Frederich L.	PROVMAAG-K APO 301	c/o C-F. Taeusch 2415 Warring St. Berkeley 4f Cal.
THEIS, Mr & Mrs Jack	Methodist Mission	745 Commonwealth Ave. Boston, Mass-
THOMPSON. Miss Aleene C.	7th Log Comd Sig Sec APO 612	Tupelo, Miss.
“
TODD, Miss Viola	Traymore	c/o Col. C.P. West- pheling 15 Hunt St Ft. Bragg, N.C.
TOPP, Mr J. Laurence	Bando 642	21 Eulabah Ave Earlwood NSW Australia
TRAVER, Miss
Selma I.	Hq 7th Log Comd Opns & Scty Sec APO 612	Gould St, Raymond, N H.
TREMPER, Mrs Edith S.	Hq 55 QM Depot APO 20	
TURNER, Miss Evelyn	Traymore	41 Nichols St Norwood, Mass.
TURNER, Miss Patricia Ann	British Embassy	Foreign Office London S.W.L Eng.
TURVEY, The Revd	Australian Presby. Mission, Chwacfion Dong 471, Pusan	
UNDERWOOD, Prof. & Mrs HLG.	Yonsei University	
UNDERWOOD, Miss Ramona	Canadian Mission	299 Queens St. W. Toronto, Ont. Canada
UNDERWOOD, Mr
Richard	American Korean Foundation	James Underwood Pres. Church, Oakfield, N.Y., N.Y
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VAN ORSHOVEN, Miss Mary	UNC J-2 See APO 1 301	3545 Front St. San Diego 3. CaL
VAN WOERT, Mrs Kathleen |	USOM, PE	c/o Morse, 4035 Ithaca
St, N.Y. 73 N.Y.
VINCENT, Miss Vera L.	Sp. Svcs 7th Log 
Comd APO 612	5436 Granada Ave Riverside, Cal.
WADE, Mr, James	American Korean Foundation	2519 Madison Ave Granite City, III.
WALSH, Dr John E., Jr	USOM, TC-PA	8215 Balson Ave S. Louis 32, MO.
WEAVER, Mr Dale	Intermission Guest House 17 Chong Dong	J.N. Weaver, Kirk Lane Media, Pa.
WEEMS, Mr William	USOM, RD-ID I	4 Eustis St Lexington, Mass.
WHITAKER, Mr & Mrs Donald P.	Office of the Prime Minister	1018 High St Millville, N.J.
WHITE, Mrs F.A.	USOM, TC,AV	4238 Mohawk Dr. Madison, Wis.
WHITE, Miss Helen	Sp. Svcs Hq I Corps APO 358	c/o Mrs Albert Rucker, 200 Tustin St., Elberton, Ga.
WILLNER, Mr Robert	American Embassy	123 Pendleton St. New Haven, Conn.
WRIGHT, Miss Pauline	USOM, TC-PA S	886 Cleveland St. Oakland, Cal.
YI, Mr Nam-jik	Bank of Korea,	
YO, Mr Un-hong	140-8 Ke Dong, Seoul	
YUN, Mr Sae-taek	98-11 Uni Dong	
Overseas Members		
ANDERSON, Dr.Paul
S.		San Diego State College, San Diego 15. Cal.
ANDRUS, Mr. J. Russel		PO Box 304, Bostonia. Cal.
ARMSTRONG, Mrs Ruth		1106 N. 14th St. Fort Smith, Ark.
BACON, Mr. Wilbur	USOM, Khartoum, Sudan 	43 Wellsboro Rd. Valley Stream. N-Y.
BAIRD, The Revd Richard H.		6452 Hillesgass Ave. Oakland 9, CaL
BALDRIDGE, Mr. John D.		Mallory Lane, Rt. #5, Chariton, Iowa
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BALDUS, Lt. David C.		82 Mayfair Dr. Pittsburgh 28, Pa.
BASS, Mr. George F.		40 Foxhall Rd. Greenville, S.C.
BENNETT, Gp Capt H.T		Cox & Kings Bank 6 Pall Mall, London
BENNETT, Mrs. William T.		3204 18th St. NLW. Wash. 10, D.C.
BENNING, Mr Walter		Herbert Wescoe 34 NW St. Allentown Pa.
BERGLUND, DrEldon B.		
		3411 Longfellow Ave. S. Minneapolis, Minn.
BEWLEY, Miss Mary		
		38 East Circle Rd. Norris, Tenn-
BLACKWLL, Mr. Kenneth		
		c/o Foreign Office London, England
BLAIR, Miss Dorothy L.		c/o International House of Japan Inc. 2 Tornzaka-machi Azabu, Minato Ku Tokyo, Japan
BLUM, Mr Paul C.		22 Kamiyama-cho Shibuya-ko, Tokyo Japan
BRODSTEIN, Mrs. Geri		Ft. Steilacoom Box 1670 Wash.
BROWN, Mr Thatcher M, III		42 Forest Ave. Rye,
N.Y.
BUCK, Mrs Pearl		
CALLAHAN, Mr Paul E.	G-2 USAPAC Honolulu, Hawaii	1728 8th St. Greeley, Colo.
CAMPBELL, Mr Leland	213 Oomachi, Kama- kura Kanegawa, Japan	722 N- Vandeventer Fayetville, Ark.
CAMPBELL, Miss Mary E.		Fyffe, Ala.
CARR, Mr Harry L.		c/o ICA Dept of State Wash. D.C-
CARTER, Miss Dot		
CHANG, Mr John Whan		Box 1327 Honolulu 7 Hawaii
COMPTON, Mr Boyd		Rockefeller Founda - tion, 111 West 5th St , N.Y. 20 N.Y.
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CONANT, Mr & Mrs Ted		Randolph, N.R
COOLIDGE, Mr  Thomas, Jr.		35 Lapland St. Brooklyn, Mass (Coolidge Point, Magnola, Mass.)
CRANE, Dr & Mrs P.S.		Bd. of World Missions Box 330 Nashville, Tenn.
CULPEPPER, Miss Jane	American Embassy Karachi, Pakistan	c/o E.R. Cazedessus Rt. 2. Harreirs Ferry Rd.f Baton Rouge, La.
DAVIDSON, Mr Arthur M.		Rt. 2. Tippecanoe Harrison County Ohio
DEE, Mrs James	722 Washington Hts. APO 94, S.F., CaL	7421 1st Ave. N. c/o J.O. Johnson, St. Petersburg, Fla.
DELMARTER, Miss Jean		Presb. Bd. of Missions 156 5th Ave., N.Y.,N.Y.
DONOGHUE, Dr John D.		Box 34 APO 114 San F., Cal.
DOWLING, Mrs Walter	署	Sea Island, Ga.
DUNN, Mr Gerald A.		Organisation des Nations Unies Au Congo, B.P. 7248
Leopoldville, Congo.
ELROD, Mr J. McRee		 Rt. #1 Athens, Ga.
FAIRBANK, Dr John
K.		Harvard University Cambridge, Mass.
FAULKNER, Mr Maurice	■	Assoc. Prof, of Music Univ. of CaL Goleta, Cal.
FONTAINE, Mr C.L.		      1026-16th St. N.W.    
     Apt. 401, Wash. 
DC.
FRANCEL, Mr Edward		400 Ford Hall School of Social Work, Univ. of Minn., Minneapolis 14, Minn,
FROST, Dr Dorothy
M.		345 East 46th St. N.Y. 17, N.Y.
GALE. Dr Esson M,		1900 Center Ave. Bay City, Mich.
GALE, Mr William M.		522 E. Main St. Batavia, N.Y,
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GALLAGHER, Miss Elizabeth		423 W. Allegany Ave. Emporium, Pa.
GARD, Dr Richard A.		Dept. of Religion Yale Univ., New Haven, Conn.
GARFIAS, Mr Robert	3/220 Harajoku,
Shibuya-ku,ToKeyo	
GILLIAM, Mr Richard, Jr.		College of Law Univ. of Ky. Lexington, Ky.
GIM, Mr Weaver		j 1260 E. 5th St., Salt Lake City, Utah
GOMPERTZ, Mr G.M.		4 Points Cottage Aldworth, Reading England
GRUETTER, Mr
Werner		IBirkenweg Konolfingen, Berne Switzerland
HALL, Miss Ardelia
R-		Arts & Monu^ Advisor, Assistant Secretary for Cultural Relations Dept. of State Wash, 25, D.C.
HALL, Mr Walter Vance		Warsaw, Va.
HAN, Mrs Pyowook		8617 Springvale Rd
Silver Spring, Md.
HARRIS, Miss Susan
H.		215 Cherry Ave. Cooksville, Tenn.
HAZARD, Mr Benjamin H.f Jr.		1808 Chestnut St. Berkeley 2, CaL
HELMICK, Maj. Gen.
C.G.		4748 Old Dominion Dr., Arlington0. Va.
HEUSER. Dr & Mrs Henry K.		5607 Chester Brook Rd N-W. Wash. 16, D.C.
HIETALA, Mr Stanley		209 West Winona St. Duluth, Minn,
HIGGINS, Miss Evelyn M.		295 W. Upper Ferry Rd Trenton 8f N.J.
HIGGINS, Mr Ray W.		1714 Castro S.F. 14 Cal.
HOLDORF. Mr William I.		3326 W. Wilson Aue. Chicago 25, 111.
HOLLAND, Mr James E.		506 Capital Ave. N.E. Battle Creek Mich.
HOUK. Mr & Mrs Dale		Slippery Rock, Pa.
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HOYT. Mr. James	American Consular Service MCAF Navy 955 FPO.S.F.	American Cultural Center, Hirosnima, Japan
HUGHES, Mr Gwyn M.	American Int’ n sur ance Co. American lnt’l Ins. Bldg, Hong kong	c/o Mrs Hugh P. Hughes 67 Seaver St Stoughton, Mass.
HUNT, Mr Leigh W., Jr.		2001 E. 8th St.
Vancouver, Wash.
HWANG. Mr Sang-hak	c/o Carl Miller 46- 1728 Hyonjo Dong	290 Massachusetts Ave. Cambridge, Mass.
INSTITUTE for Far Eastern Studies		Yale University New Haven 11, Conn.
INTERNATIONAL
House Library		2 Toriizaka-machi Azabu, Minatoku, fokyo
IRWIN, Brigadier Miss A.J. (SA)		3070 W 12th Ave. Vancouver B.C. Canada
IRWIN,The Revd
M.M.	•	
JAMES, Mr John		18 Foss Ave. San Anselmo, Cal.
JENSEN, Mrs Maud		
JOHANNESSEN, Dr Aksel Wathne		Husebybakken 34 Smedstad, Oslo Norway
JOHNSON, Miss Dorothy A.	•	2505 A. Ave N.E. Cedar Rapids, Iowa
JONES, Mr William C.		8508 Pelham Rd Bethesda 14, Md.
JOSE, Miss Mary		c/o The Columbus Star, 34 S. 3rd St, Columbus 16 Ohio
JULIEN, Miss Janet		17596 Blanchard Dr. Los Gatas, Cal.
KEALOHA, Mrs Eunice		3900 Pili Place Honolulu, Hawaii
KILLIAN, M/Sgt Walter H.		112 Squire Hill Rd Upper Montclair N J.
KING, Col John P.		USCAR APO 331 S.F., CaL
KINNEY, Mr. & Mrs Robert A.		2251 North Vermont St Arlington, Va.
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KNEZ, Dr Eugene I.		Smithsonian Inst. Wash., D.C.
KNIGHT, Mr Foster		USOM to Bolivia c/o Dept of State Mail Room, Wash. 25, D.C.
KNORR, Lt Col Earnest A., Jr		9 Whitegate Rd Clarksville, Md.
KNOWLTON, Mr Edgar C.		George Hall 116 Univ. of Hawaii Honolulu 14, Hawaii
KOSS, Miss Ann		1706 South Post Oak Lane, Houston 27, Texas
LADY, Mr. Harold W.		4101 West Bradley Lane, Wash. 15, D.C.
LAWAETZ, Miss Ebba		Parkvej 19, Slagelse Denmark
LAWRENCE, Prof. & Mrs E.P.		429 E. Hillcrest Ave. E. Larsing, Mich.
LEAV1TT, Mr Richard		3575 Main Highway Coconut Grove, Fla.
LEDYARD, Mr Gari
K.	1914-B Francisco St Berkeley 9, Cal.	444 Lomita Ave Millbrae, Cal.
LEE, Mr Donald		c/o 1018 Woods Lake Dr. Madison, Tenn.
LEE, Mr Kee-hyung	Mt. 1-135 Pugahyon Dong Seoul	International House Riverside Drive,
N.Y., N,Y.
LEE, Mr Charles C.		99-100 Chester Way Aiea, Hawaii
LERUD, Miss Phyllis		Twin Valley, Minn.
LIBRARY, Univ. of Hawaii		Honolulu 14, Hawaii
LIMBACHER, Mr & Mrs Karl		Irving Place Menands,
N.Y.
LIPPMAN, Miss Ida		1856 National Bank Bldg Detroit 26, Mich.
McCAULEY, Mr & Mrs John		9943 14th Ave N. Seattle, Wash.
MACDONALD, Mr & Mrs Donald S.	S. 209 Oxford St Chevy Chase 15, Md.	Foreign Service Mail Rm. US. Dept of State, Wash. D.C.
MACDONALD, Mr
Ross		78 Queens Park Toronto 5, Ont. Canada
MacLAUGHLIN, Col Charles V.		Apts 5 G. Stanwix Carlisle, Pa.
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Name		Overseas Address
MCNELLY, Dr Theodore	Univ. of Md. 722 Wash. Hgtsf APO 94	1716 Jefferson St. Madison, Wis.
MALAKOFF, Mr A.L.	SEARO World Health Organization, Patiala House, Priocess Park New Delhi, India	Bender Hotel, Laredo, Tex,
MALCOLM, Mr Dugald ！		Foreign Office London
MALONE, Miss Alba 
R.	Iran	Capleville, Tenn.
A m •
MANN, Mr Everett J.
MAXWELL,Mr & Mrs
Lloyd W.	USOM(PA) APO 143 Box 32, S.F., Cal. 
4679 Homer Ave, S.E. Wash. 23, D.C.	247 Springfield Ave. Rochester, N.Y.
RFD #5 Danbury, Conn.
MEINECKE, Mrs Charlotte		Bangor, Maine
MERCER, Col A,E,E,	•	c/o Lloyds Bank Ltd 6 Pall Mall, London
S.W. 1
MONTGOMERY, Miss Lillian B.		c/o Col IXM. Gunn 4007-49th St NW Wash. 16, D.C.
•
MORRISON, Miss Dorothy
		Korean Mission 55 Bedford Gardens London W. 8, England
MUELLER, Mr Heinz :
E. j
•	146 Shimo-uma 1- chome Setagaya- ku. Tokyo	P.A. Hamburg-Altona Rolandsworth 34
		Apt. 308 1314 N. Court House Rd Arlington 1, Va.
MURPHY, Mr
Richard Watson		
NEIRBY, Miss Gladys NICHOLS Mrs Earle B		Hawley, Minn.
64 Woodmont Rd Alexandria, Va.
OLIVER, Dr Robert		c/o Korea Research Information Office  1828 Jefferson Plaace, N.W. Wash. D C.
PAETOW, Mr Wolfeang		Finkenau 16 Hamburg 21, Germany
PAK, Mr Tai-Jin		34 Walpole St. Chelsea London S.W. 3
PHILLIPS, Miss Edith		c/o Mr J.E, Phillips 12 Coronation Dr. Grosby Liverpool 23f England
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Name		Overseas Address
PIKE, Mr Michael		79 Ormond Drive Hampton, Middlesex England
FILTZ, Dr Arne		Tulevaden, 19 Djursholm Sweden
PRESTON, Mr Robert T.	！
••	26 Cardinal Lane Carpentersville, 111.
PRINGLE，Pfc Robert M.	•	103 Prince St. Alexandria, Va.
PRUEFFER, Mr F.J.		Commerce D’outremer S.A. Seegartenstrasse 2, Zurich Switzerland
RICE, Dr Stuart A.		307 Little Falls St. Falls Church, Va.
RICHMOND, Mr Alfred L.		4392 1/2 Point Comfort Dr. Akron 19, Ohio
RICHMOND, Miss Chalotte		Korean Research & Infmation Office 1828 Jefferson PI N.W. Wash., D.C.
RIMER, 1/Lt
Theodore J.		63 Andover St Peabody, Mass.
ROACH, Mr Jesse
•		1425 N. Longfellow St Arlington. Va.
ROEHM, Miss Carol M.	•	Straitsmouth Way Rockport, Mass.
ROGERS, Mr Donald John		30 Cromwell Rd. Yeovil, Somerset, England
ROGERS, Mr Herbert		California, Md.
RUNNALLS, Miss Donna		McGill Univ. 3625 Oxenden Ave. Montreal 18, Que Canada
SARGENT, Mr Galen	Dept of Chinese Univ of Hong Kong Hong Kong	3815 Nail Court South Bend 14, Ind
SCALAPINO, Mr Robert A.		Dept of Political Science, bniv. of Calif., Berkeley 4 CaL
SCHERBACHER, Mr Marcus	USIA 1778 Pa. Ave. N.W. Wash., D.C.	728 1/2 Brent Ave. South Pasadena, Cal.
SCHOLLES. Mr Hans		Schorlemer Strasse 11, Dusseldorf Germany
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•
Name		Overess Address
SEIDENSTICKER, Mr Edward	70 Hayashi Cho, Bunkvo Ku, ToKyo, Japan	Castle Rock, Col.
SHEEKS Mr Robert B.		328 San Rafael Ave. Belvedere, Cal,
SMITH, Dr Donald G.		Pilot Rock, Ore.
SOHN, Mr Powkey	San 48-99 Tonam Dong	2161 Shattuck Ave Berkeley 4f Cal.
SOLF, Col Waldemar		1308 Forest Drive Alexandria, Va.
SPARKS. Mr Kenneth		61 Garfield St. Cambridge 38, Mass.
SPOONER, The Revd Arthur B. j	•	624 Schaff Bldg Phila. 2. Pa.
STAGGERS, Mr J.W.   		609-12 Barrister Bldg 634 R St N.W. Wash. 4 D.C.
STIRNBERG, Dr
Joseph		Balindam 17, Hamburg, Germany
STIVLEN, Maj. 
Sylvia M. 		Brooke Army Hosp. Ft. Sam Houston, Tex.
SWALLEN, Miss Olivette		Ill 8th Ave N. St Petersburg, Fla.
TE SELLE, Mrs Mary Holden		2318 W. Misteetoe San Antonio, Tex.
THOMAS, Mr Fred C.		3728 Jocelyn St N.W. Wash,, D.C.
TIBBOT, Miss Gladys		1550 Sutter St. S.F., Cal.
TOPP, Mr Anthony Lee		c/o Elmhurst College Elmhurst, III
TRUELSON. Dr K. Elize		Mollegade, 33 Skanderborg, Denmark
VAN der VEEN, Miss Ann		Van Dam Van Brakel Syker, Brakel (Gld) Holland
VANDERVELD, Mr
Leonard, Jr.		230 Mabel Ann Ave Franklin Lakes, N.J.
VAN FLEET, Gen
James A.		Korea Society 420 Lexington Ave. N.Y.
17, N.Y.
VAN HOORN, Maj. Jacob		US Army Hospital Fort McClellan Anniston, Ala.
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Name		Overseas Address
VAN UEROP, The Revd Peter	1 1	Kennedy Apts 47 Claremont Ave.
N.Y. 27, N.Y.
VORAN, Mr Dallas		USOM/Laos c/o Am. Embassy, Vientiane Laos
WAGNER, Mr
Edward
4		Harvard-Yenching Institute, Divinity St Cambridge, Mass-
WEEMS, Mr Benjamin
B.		1031 N. Manchester St Arlington 5. Va.
WEEMSf Mr C.N.	1	198 Union Ave. Rutherford, N.J.
WERTH, Mr Richard
0		123 N. Fairfax St Falls Church. Va.
WHANG, Mr Harry		17083 Magnolia Parkway. Snuthfield Mich.
WHEALTON, Mr Daniel J.	§	PO Box 166 Saliburg. Md.
WHITCOMB, Mr & Mrs Robert		7116 River Rd Bathesda 14. Md.
WHITE, Pfc Herbert		3436 Corsa Ave. N.Y. 69, N.Y.
WIDDOWSON, Col C.W.	Salvation Army Bandung, Indonesia	S.A. Hq. Denmark Hill,. London, England
WILLIAMS, Mr David		3701 Taylor St. Chevy Chase 15, Md.
WILLIAMS, Mr F.E.C.		1406 N. Central Ave. Glendale 2, CaL
WILSON, Mr. Stanley
F.		3434 E. Clarendon Ave. Phoenix, Ariz,
WINTER, Mr Robert
L.		1945 Hibiscus St. Sarasota Fla.
Addenda		
DUDLEY, Miss Virginia	Hq I Corps Gp APO 358	Hampton, Va.
JEWISH National Library		Jerusalem POB 503 Israel
MENDELSON, Mr I.W.	USOM, RD PW-W	5430 30th St, N.W. Wash. 15, D.C.
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